
Medical Examiners Commission 
Meeting 

January 18, 2019 

Barbara C. Wolf, M.D.     •     Sheriff Harrell Reid     •     Kenneth T. Jones     •     Wesley H. Heidt, J.D. 

Jeffrey A. Siegmeister, J.D.     •     Charlie Cofer, J.D.    •    Robin Giddens Sheppard, L.F.D. 

Stephen J. Nelson, M.A., M.D., F.C.A.P.    •    Carol R. Whitmore, R.N. 



MEDICAL EXAMINERS COMMISSION MEETING 
Hilton Sandestin Beach Golf Resort and Spa 

4000 Sandestin Boulevard South 
Miramar Beach, Florida 

January 18, 2019, 10:00 AM CT 

Opening Remarks 

Introduction of Commission Members and Staff 

Approval of Meeting Agenda and Minutes from previous Commission Meeting of August 10, 2018 



 Election of Chairman

Discipline Agenda 

ISSUE NUMBER PRESENTER 

1. District 1 Probable Cause Barbara Wolf, M.D. 

2. District 4 Probable Cause Barbara Wolf, M.D. 

Business Agenda 

ISSUE NUMBER PRESENTER 

1. Informational Items:

 Status Report: MEC Appointments and Reappointments Vickie Koenig 

 Status Report: District 14 and 16 Appointment Vickie Koenig 

 Status Report: Reappointments for Districts 2, 5, 6, 8, 10, 12, and 18-23 Vickie Koenig 

 Status Report: District 24 Barbara Wolf, M.D. 

 Status Report: District 4 Stephen J. Nelson, M.D. 

 Status Report: District 7 Stephen J. Nelson, M.D. 

 2017 Annual MEC Reports Beth McNeil 

 2018 Interim Drugs Identified in Deceased Persons Report Beth McNeil 

 2018 Coverdell Grant Status Update Beth McNeil 

 2019 MEC Reappointments Vickie Koenig 

 2019 Reappointment/Assessments for Districts 8-14, and 25 Vickie Koenig 

 Bills Filed for the 2019 Legislative Session Jim Martin, J.D. 

 Pregnancy Associated Mortality Review Follow Up Chairman 

 Deceased Fingerprint Card Processing Chairman 

2. District 1 Reappointment Chairman 

3. Organ Procurement Organization Annual Report 2018 Larry Cochran, LifeQuest 

4. Department of Health Opioid Project Karen Card, DrPH  

5. Coverdell Grant – 2019 Proposals Beth McNeil 

6. Mortality Data Exchange Ken Jones 

7. Mass Fatality Plans Chairman 

8. Unidentified Deceased Initiative Vickie Koenig 

9. Emerging Drugs Bruce A. Goldberger, Ph.D. 

10. 2019 FAME Educational Conference Bruce A. Goldberger, Ph.D. 

11. Other Business

Resolution for James Purdy, J.D., 7
th

 Circuit Public Defender and Chairman 
MEC Staff Member Doug Culbertson



 
MEDICAL EXAMINERS COMMISSION MEETING 
Fairfield Inn and Suites by Marriott Daytona Beach 

1820 Checkered Flag Boulevard 
Daytona Beach, Florida 

August 10, 2018 10:00 AM 
 
 
Chairman Stephen J. Nelson, M.D. called the meeting of the Medical Examiners Commission to order 
at 10:00 AM. He advised those in the audience that the meetings of the Medical Examiners 
Commission are open to the public and that members of the public will be allowed five minutes to 
speak.  He then welcomed everyone to the meeting and asked Commission members, staff, and 
audience members to introduce themselves. 
 
Commission members present (100%): 

Stephen J. Nelson, M.A., M.D., F.C.A.P., District 10 Medical Examiner 
Barbara C. Wolf, M.D., District 5 Medical Examiner 
Wesley H. Heidt, J.D., Office of the Attorney General  
Robin Giddens Sheppard, L.F.D., Funeral Director 
Kenneth T. Jones, State Registrar, Department of Health 
Hon. James S. Purdy, J.D., Public Defender, 7th Judicial Circuit 
Hon. Jeffrey Siegmeister, State Attorney, 3rd Judicial Circuit 
Hon. J. Harrell Reid, Hamilton County Sheriff  
Hon. Carol R. Whitmore, R.N., Manatee County Commissioner (via Teleconference)  
 

Commission staff present: 
Vickie Koenig Doug Culbertson 
Beth McNeil James D. Martin, J.D. 

 
District Medical Examiners present: 

Jon R. Thogmartin, M.D. (District 6/7) Joshua Stephany, M.D. (District 9/25) 
Riazul H. Imami, M.D. (District 22) Russell S. Vega, M.D. (District 12) 
 

Other District personnel present: 
Jeff Martin (District 1) Bill Pellan (District 6/7)  
Lindsey Bayer (District 5) Aurelian Nicolaescu, M.D. (District 4) 
Gregory Scharf (District 22) Sheri Blanton (District 9/25) 
Keara Dotson (District 13) Koni Rogers (District 23) 
Cathy Weldon (District 8) Krystal Locklear (District 5) 
Jeffrey Brokaw (District 4) Karla Orozco (District 7) 

 
Guests present: 

Karen Card, DrPH (DOH) Ken Fitzgerald (LifeNet) 
Brendie Hawkins (FDLE) James Rosa (Lions Eye Institute) 
Ricardo Camacho (UF) Rebecca Sayer (LifeLink) 
Heather Hoog (RTIDS) DiAnn McCormack (KevaLink) 
Jason Lewis, J.D. (7th Circuit SAO) Hon. Heather Post (Volusia County Council) 
Joshua Sturms (DOH) Randolph Schilke (DOH) 
George Recktenwald (Volusia Co. Manager) Hon. Mike Chitwood (Volusia County Sheriff) 
Hon. Billie Wheeler (Volusia County Council) 
 
 
 



MEC Meeting Minutes 
August 10, 2018 
Page 2 
 
 
A MOTION WAS MADE, SECONDED, AND PASSED UNANIMOUSLY FOR THE COMMISSION TO 
APPROVE THE AGENDA AS AMENDED ON AUGUST 3, 2018. 
 
Dr. Nelson requested that the May meeting minutes be amended to add “Ph.D.” to Kathryn Minor’s 
name on page 1 of the minutes, and to correct Dr. Card’s title to “DrPH” on pages 1 and 15.  A 
MOTION WAS MADE, SECONDED, AND PASSED UNANIMOUSLY FOR THE COMMISSION TO 
APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE MAY 4, 2018 MEDICAL EXAMINERS COMMISSION MEETING 
AS AMENDED. 
 
ISSUE NUMBER 1: INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 
 
• Ms. Vickie Koenig informed the Commission that the District Medical Examiner, the Licensed 
Funeral Director (LFD), and the County Commissioner positions on the Medical Examiners 
Commission are pending reappointment by the Governor.  The Public Defender position on the 
Commission is also pending the Governor’s appointment, and Mr. Purdy will continue to serve as the 
Public Defender representative until that appointment is made. 
 
• Dr. Nelson informed the Commission that the District 13 Medical Examiner Mary K. Mainland, 
M.D., stepped down to the deputy chief medical examiner position and Kelly Devers, M.D. was named 
the District 13 Medical Examiner effective August 1, 2018. 

 
• Dr. Nelson announced that the District 4 Search Committee will meet on August 13th, and that Dr. 
Rao will continue to serve as District 4 Interim Medical Examiner until her replacement is hired.  

 
• The recommendations of Jay M. Radtke, M.D., as District Medical Examiner in District 14 (Bay, 
Calhoun, Gulf, Holmes, Jackson, and Washington counties), and Michael R. Steckbauer, M.D., as 
District Medical Examiner in District 16 (Monroe county) are both pending appointment by the 
Governor. 
 
• The District Medical Examiners in District 2 (Franklin, Gadsden, Leon, Liberty, Jefferson, Taylor, 
and Wakulla counties), District 5 (Citrus, Hernando, Lake, Marion, and Sumter counties), District 6 
(Pasco and Pinellas counties), District 8 (Alachua, Baker, Bradford, Gilchrist, Levy, and Union 
counties), District 10 (Hardee, Highlands, and Polk counties), District 12 (DeSoto, Manatee, and 
Sarasota counties), District 18 (Brevard county), District 19 (Indian River, Martin, Okeechobee, and St. 
Lucie counties), District 20 (Collier county), District 21 (Glades, Hendry, and Lee counties), and 
District 23 (Flagler, Putnam, and St. Johns counties) are pending reappointment by the Governor.  
The remaining incumbent District Medical Examiners continue to serve until reappointed or replaced 
by the Governor.   

 
• District 22 Medical Examiner Riazul H. Imami, M.D., Ph.D., was reappointed by the Governor on 
July 27, 2018 for a term ending July 1, 2020.  
 
• 2017 Drugs in Deceased Persons Report: Ms. Beth McNeil announced that all of the data has 
been received and is currently being reviewed by the Quality Assurance Committee. 
 
• 2017 Annual Workload Report: Ms. McNeil informed the Commission that she has received the 
data from all districts, and that it is currently under review. She stated that the report should be 
released in late September.  
 



MEC Meeting Minutes 
August 10, 2018 
Page 3 
 
 
• 2017 The Paul Coverdell Forensic Science Improvement Grants Program Status Update: Ms. 
McNeil advised the Commission funding was provided to 17 districts, and that she has received 15 
reimbursement requests and 2 budget amendments.   
 
• E-FORSCE Registration for Medical Examiners: Dr. Nelson informed everyone that all medical 
examiners now have indirect access to the Prescription Drug Monitoring Program.  Information on how 
to register for the program was emailed to all district medical examiner offices, is included in the MEC 
meeting packet, and is published on the MEC website. 
 
ISSUE NUMBER 2: DISTRICT 7/24 MEDICAL EXAMINER UPDATE 
 
District 7/24 Interim Medical Examiner, Jon R. Thogmartin, M.D. provided an update to the 
Commission regarding conditions at the District 7/24 office.  Generally whenever he has reviewed an 
office, the office was not doing what should be done.  In the case of District 7, the office was doing 
everything that should be done, just very slowly due to a number of redundancies.  Dr. Thogmartin 
stated that all pending cases were now complete, and medical examiners are now working on the 
weekends to avoid another backlog situation.  
 
Dr. Nelson asked if all of the concerns outlined by former District Medical Examiner Sarah H. 
Zydowicz, D.O. had been addressed.  Dr. Thogmartin stated that the staffing she indicated as being 
needed was not realistic, and that the refrigerator space issue had been addressed by requiring the 
pathologists to work weekends.  Dr. Thogmartin also indicated that the previous office policy of having 
the support staff proofread autopsy reports also contributed to the backlog because it would take the 
support staff a long time to complete the reviews.  This has been corrected with the pathologists 
reviewing their own autopsy reports. 
 
Mr. Purdy asked what the average staffing of a medical examiner office should be.  Dr. Thogmartin 
indicated that the District 7 office should have adequate staffing with the reallocation of existing 
position(s).  Dr. Thogmartin advised the Commission that District 24 (Seminole County) cases would 
no longer be handled by the District 7 (Volusia County) office.  District 24 will contract with District 5 
for medical examiner services beginning October 1, 2018.  This will help keep Volusia County’s case 
load appropriate for the staffing provided.  
 
Dr. Thogmartin also informed the Commission that former Operations Director Lindsey Crim had 
accepted another position out of state, and Karla Orozco is the new interim Operations Director. 
 
ISSUE NUMBER 3: PREGNANCY ASSOCIATED MORTALITY REVIEW COMMITTEE (PAMRC) 
 
Dr. Nelson informed the Commission that it had been reported at the FAME Educational Conference 
business meeting that many district medical examiners were not reporting data to the PAMRC as 
required. He said that he had instructed staff to find out which districts were not in compliance, but 
were informed by the Florida Department of Health that such Pregnancy Associated Mortality Review 
Committee information is confidential.  Dr. Nelson reminded the districts to cooperate and provide the 
requested information when contacted. 
 
ISSUE NUMBER 4: DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH STRATEGIC PLANNING OVERSIGHT TEAM  
 
Mr. Jim Martin informed the Commission that he attended a meeting of the Department of Health 
Strategic Planning Oversight Team in June.  He said that the only item of interest to the medical 
examiner community is that funding for FEMORS that was renewed for $3.5 million.  
 



MEC Meeting Minutes 
August 10, 2018 
Page 4 
 
 
ISSUE NUMBER 5: FLORIDA COLD CASE ADVISORY COMMISSION  
 
Alachua County Sheriff Sadie Darnell provided an update to the Florida Cold Case Advisory 
Commission.  Sheriff Darnell reported that funds from the Florida Sheriffs Association had been 
allotted for the cold case initiative.  Various methods were now being employed to solve cold cases, 
including genealogical DNA testing since the FDLE crime labs no longer offer mitochondrial DNA 
analysis.  Barbara C. Wolf, M.D. is the Medical Examiner representative on that commission. 
 
ISSUE NUMBER 6: DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH OPIOID PROJECT 
 
Karen Card, DrPH, with the Department of Health (DOH), again appeared before the Commission to 
clarify the information that they are requesting from the medical examiners in opioid deaths.  Dr. Card 
stated that a request for information was mistakenly sent out to District 17.  This correspondence was 
targeted to those districts that were receiving supplemental funding only.  She said that District 17 
data would now be obtained via public records request. 
 
Dr. Card reported that supplemental funds were being successfully spent and that the deadline for the 
third and fourth quarters 2017 data was August 31, 2018.  She hoped to have a new project manager 
on board soon, and they still have one abstractor position that is vacant. 
 
Dr. Card reported that DOH had received a second year of funding for the supplemental grant 
($192,000) and that they had successfully received funding for the University of Florida’s Forensic 
Toxicology Lab (Bruce A. Goldberger, Ph.D.) to assist with the purchase a time-of-flight mass 
spectrometer for toxicology analyses.   
 
Dr. Nelson inquired about medical examiner offices being approved for equipment purchases because 
it did not seem to comply with the reported scope of the supplemental funds.  Mr. Purdy asked Dr. 
Card to provide the list of equipment to staff for dissemination to the Commission. 
 
ISSUE NUMBER 7: UNIDENTIFIED DECEASED INITIATIVE 
 
Brendie Hawkins, FDLE Missing Persons and Offender Registration Section, provided four success 
stories that were solved along with district medical examiners in whose districts the deaths occurred. 
 

Success Story 18 – District 10 Medical Examiner (Hardee County) 
This case involved a 30-50 year old white Hispanic male who died after being struck by a vehicle.  
CJIS Biometric Services identified the man via his fingerprints as Favel Avalos, born in Mexico. 
Further inquiries yielded a criminal history in Texas and Florida which provided the name Fabian 
Sanchez Avalos. No booking photos could be located by Texas law enforcement agencies, but the 
Miami-Dade Police Department located two photos of Mr. Sanchez. Despite a nearly ten year 
difference between the booking photos and a post-mortem photo provided by the medical 
examiner’s office, Mr. Sanchez’s appearance was virtually unchanged. On booking paperwork, law 
enforcement indicated that Mr. Sanchez stated his occupation as “roofer.”  No next of kin could be 
located for Mr. Sanchez.  The medical examiner’s office will be contacting the Consulate of Mexico 
for assistance in identifying possible relatives. 

 
Success Story 19 – District 16 Medical Examiner (Monroe County) 
On May 24, 2018, the Monroe County Medical Examiner’s Office contacted the initiative for 
assistance with determining the identity of a deceased subject found in September 2017. The 
deceased is a 67 year old white male who was initially identified as Dennis Lee Green. The 
Monroe County Sheriff’s Office matched the subject’s fingerprints to Florida arrest records for 



MEC Meeting Minutes 
August 10, 2018 
Page 5 
 
 

Dennis Green, but queries of criminal history records indicated that the subject was also known as 
David Eugene Speraw. In addition, a series of tips received from a citizen indicated that the 
deceased’s true name was David Speraw, a man from Pennsylvania. With the subject’s identity in 
doubt, the medical examiner’s office requested assistance in verifying the subject’s true identity. 
 
Queries of court and criminal history records for both identities returned results in Maryland and 
Florida using both names. Possible driver’s license photos were obtained from Pennsylvania and 
Alabama. A booking photo from Baltimore, Maryland matched the decedent to the name David 
Speraw.  Open source searches located archival newspaper articles from 1990 which referenced 
Speraw in Pennsylvania as a person of interest in an FBI narcotics investigation.  
 
Based on this research, the subject’s birth name was determined to be David Eugene Speraw. 
The identity of David Lee Green appears to be either an alias adopted by the deceased or a stolen 
identity. No next of kin information could be located for David Speraw, but based on information 
provided in the citizen’s tip, a possible next of kin living in Pennsylvania was identified. The 
medical examiner’s office is currently working with the Monroe County Sheriff’s Office to contact 
this possible relative. 
 
Success Story 20 – District 23 Medical Examiner (Putnam County) 
This case referred to an unidentified white male between 40-65 years of age who died after being 
struck by a motor vehicle on December 22, 1991.  Despite relatively poor quality fingerprints, CJIS 
Biometric Services identified the subject as Hugh Daniel Dolman.  Contact with Immigration and 
Customs Enforcement officials confirmed that the subject was a Canadian citizen who had been 
previously deported on two occasions: once after being charged with auto theft and driving without 
a license in 1971 in Florida, and again in 1989 after serving two years in a federal detention facility 
for illegal re-entry.  Mr. Dolman was known by numerous aliases and appears to have resided in 
Portland, Oregon during much of his time in the United States.  
 
The age of the records in question proved to be an impediment to locating more precise 
information, and Immigration and Customs Enforcement authorities indicated that Dolman’s 
original alien file was declared lost in 2010.  Mr. Dolman does not appear to have obtained any 
form of picture ID during his time in the United States.  No driver’s license records could be 
associated with him in either the United States or Canada.  Attempts to obtain his photo from the 
federal Bureau of Prisons were unsuccessful. No next of kin could be identified. 
 
Success Story 21 – District 23 Medical Examiner (Saint Johns County) 
This case referred to a black male who died on May 11, 1991 after jumping in front of a tractor 
trailer. No age estimate was available. CJIS Biometric Services identified the subject as Arthur 
Walter Shannon, born in Georgia in 1937.   
 
Mr. Shannon had a history of misdemeanor crimes from 1960-1986, with most charges related to 
homelessness, vagrancy, public drunkenness, and disorderly conduct. Due to the age of his 
arrests, most records and photographs of Mr. Shannon had been purged, but a search of the Palm 
Beach County archives located two sets of booking photographs from the 1980s.  No next of kin 
could be identified for Mr. Shannon. 
 

ISSUE NUMBER 8: DOE NETWORK 
 
Ms. Holly Haines, with the DOE Network, provided a brief overview the DOE Network, to include 
assistance with the identification of unidentified deceased persons as well as those who are missing 
but believed to still be living.  



MEC Meeting Minutes 
August 10, 2018 
Page 6 
 
 
 
ISSUE NUMBER 9: EMERGING DRUGS 
 
Ms. Koenig provided the Commission with an update on new drug trends.  Fentanyl and its analogs 
continue to be prevalent in Florida decedents. While the incidence of carfentanil has diminished, non-
pharmaceutical fentanyl, methoxyacetylfentanyl, acetylfentanyl, cyclopropylfentanyl and 
fluoroisobutyrylfentanyl are common. 
 
Ms. Koenig said that 5F-ADB, a synthetic cannabinoid, is becoming more common within the Florida 
prison and jail systems.  
 
ISSUE NUMBER 10: 2018 FAME EDUCATIONAL CONFERENCE 
 
Ms. Koenig reported that the 2018 FAME Educational Conference, held July 18-20, 2018, at The 
Mission Inn Resort & Club in Howey-in-the-Hills, was a success with around 100 attendees.  The 
program content was excellent with positive feedback from attendees.  Dr. Goldberger sent his thanks 
to District 14 Medical Examiner Jay Radtke, M.D., and Whit Majors.  
 
ISSUE NUMBER 11: SOLICITATION FOR 2019 FAME EDUCATIONAL CONFERENCE 
 
Ms. Koenig information the Commission that District 15 Medical Examiner Michael D. Bell, M.D., had 
agreed to host the 2019 FAME Educational Conference.  A venue in Palm Beach County for July or 
August 2019 is being sought.  A Save-the-Date announcement will be sent once the venue and dates 
are finalized. 
 
ISSUE NUMBER 12: OTHER BUSINESS 
 
Ms. Koenig announced that the change to Florida Administrative Code recognizing District 25 
becomes effective August 15, 2018.  
 
With no further business to come before the Commission, the meeting was adjourned at 11:45 
A.M. 



November 27, 2018 

MEMORANDUM 

To: Stephen J. Nelson, M.A., M.D., F.C.A.P. 
Chairman 
Medical Examiners Commission 

From: PROBABLE CAUSE PANEL 
Barbara C. Wolf, M.D., District 5 Medical Examiner, Chair 
Honorable J. Harrell Reid, Hamilton County Sheriff 
Mr. Wesley Heidt, J.D., Office of the Attorney General  

Subject: Report of the Panel – Complaint against Andrea N. Minyard, M.D. (District 1) 

 

In May 2018, Okaloosa County Sheriff Larry Ashley and Walton County Sheriff Michael 
Adkinson filed formal complaints against District 1 Medical Examiner Andrea N. Minyard, M.D. 
The complaints allege that over the past few years several cases in their respective counties did 
not have an adequate death investigation performed as required pursuant to Chapter 406, F.S. 
The complaints further allege that Dr. Minyard was negligent in her duties as a medical 
examiner. 

Staff thoroughly reviewed the information in the complaint, as well as all case documents 
provided by the District 1 Medical Examiner’s Office. Lacking in depth medical knowledge for 
the variety of cases in question, staff requested that a probable cause panel be convened to 
determine if Dr. Minyard’s decisions in the cases were sound and well-founded. 

In response to your memorandum of July 13, 2018, the Probable Cause Panel convened on 
July 30, 2018, at 10:30 a.m. at the Hamilton County Sheriff’s Office in Jasper, Florida. Panel 
members District 5 Medical Examiner Barbara C. Wolf, M.D., Sheriff Harrell Reid, and Mr. 
James Purdy, J.D., were all present.  Also present were Commission staff members Vickie 
Koenig, Doug Culbertson, Beth McNeil, and FDLE Assistant General Counsel Chris Bufano. 
Staff had already mailed the Panel members a notebook and an Ironkey flash drive containing 
all documents and reference materials upon which the Panel would base their opinions. 

The first order of business was the election of a chair, which Dr. Wolf accepted. Next, the Panel 
reviewed the statutory reference that established the Panel as well as the procedures that the 
Panel and the Commission will use in these proceedings. The authority of the Probable Cause 
Panel is established by section 406.075(3), F.S., and is limited to a determination of whether the 
facts establish a violation of Chapter 406, Florida Statutes, Florida Administrative Code Chapter 
11G, or the Practice Guidelines.  



Probable Cause Panel Report 
District 1 
November 27, 2018 
Page 2 
 
 

 

Dr. Wolf discussed the allegations submitted by the complainants and potential violations of 
Chapter 406, Florida Statute, Rule 11G, Florida Administrative Code, and the Practice 
Guidelines for Florida Medical Examiners. The Panel agreed that scene response by the 
medical examiner’s office is not statutorily required.  

The Panel discussed each of the 27 cases outlined in the complaints. The case files were 
lacking in supporting documentation, especially medical records for the jurisdiction declined 
cases and photographs for accepted cases. The Panel requested staff to obtain law 
enforcement reports and EMS reports for several cases that would assist them in their findings. 
The Panel also directed staff to inquire of the District 1 Medical Examiner’s Office whether any 
medical records or photographs exist for some of the cases. The Panel would reconvene upon 
obtaining the requested information. 

On August 29, 2018, Governor Scott appointed Honorable Charlie Cofer, J.D. to replace the 
completed term of Mr. Purdy. As a result, Mr. Wesley Heidt, J.D. was named to the Panel. Mr. 
Purdy provided Mr. Heidt with the documents and reference materials to review prior to the next 
Panel meeting. 

The Probable Cause Panel was delayed due to Hurricane Michael. The Panel reconvened on 
November 14, 2018, at 10:00 a.m. at the Hamilton County Sheriff’s Office in Jasper, Florida, to 
discuss the cases and additional documents staff obtained. Panel members Dr. Wolf, Sheriff 
Reid, and Mr. Heidt were all present. Also present were Commission staff members Vickie 
Koenig, Beth McNeil, Chad Lucas, and FDLE Assistant General Counsel Chris Bufano. 

Dr. Wolf reviewed the general discussion from the last meeting in which a number of the cases 
were questioned due to apparent lack of medical records to support determinations and findings 
in the cases. The additional law enforcement and EMS reports had been provided to the Panel 
members prior to the meeting. The District 1 Medical Examiner’s Office advised staff that there 
were no medical records for the requested cases as the district considers them obsolete once 
the physician signs off on a case or jurisdiction is declined.  The office also advised that no 
photographs are taken for any case that is an investigation only. Thus the Panel had all 
documents from the District 1 Medical Examiner’s Office. 

After extensive discussion of the cases, the Panel made the following determinations: 

• Butler, Date of Death 8/15/2017: A 46 year old male with a history of alcohol and drug 
abuse. Case was initially declined, but later accepted because the decedent had no 
primary care physician. Medical records were requested, but none were received. No 
autopsy was performed and with no medical records there is nothing to support the 
opinion of cause and/or manner of death. With a history of substance abuse, no 
toxicology was performed, therefore drug toxicity as a cause of death could not be ruled 
out. (11G-2.003(5)(b), F.A.C.) 
 

• Booker (aka Brunson), Date of Death 12/7/2015: A 50 year old female found collapsed in 
her kitchen with a history of alcohol and drug abuse. Two prescription bottles of 
hydrocodone belonging to the decedent along with other prescriptions were found on 
scene. One of the hydrocodone prescription bottles, filled seven days prior with a 15-day 
supply, was empty. No medical records were in the file. Jurisdiction was declined. The 
death certificate signed by the decedent’s primary physician lists cause of death as 
aspiration. No toxicology was performed, therefore drug toxicity as a cause of death 
could not be ruled out. Cremation was approved. (11G-2.003(5)(b), F.A.C.) 



Probable Cause Panel Report 
District 1 
November 27, 2018 
Page 3 
 
 

 

 
• Taylor, Date of Death 5/30/2017: A 70 year old female found unresponsive on kitchen 

floor was reported as a possible choking incident. EMS reports indicate that two 
attempts at intubation were unsuccessful due to the amount of vomit in airway. Airway 
was suctioned with approximately 200 cc of thick vomitus removed. No medical records 
in file. Jurisdiction declined. (11G-2.003(5)(b), F.A.C.) 
 

• Heasley, Date of Death 1/5/2017: A 62 year old female who was oxygen dependent died 
at home. While the decedent had been hospitalized 2 months prior with chronic 
obstructive pulmonary disease, there was a 2 hour delay in the family reporting the 
death. The decedent’s body had been cleaned and removed from the house by the 
husband when the death was reported. The Panel felt that these factors make the death 
reasonably suspicious. No medical records in file. Jurisdiction declined. (11G-2.003(3)(b) 
and 11G-2.003(5)(a), F.A.C.) 
 

• Johnson, Date of Death 6/24/2016: A 47 year old female found deceased at home. The 
family reported history of abuse of alcohol and pills and no pill counts were provided for 
a hydrocodone prescription on scene. Decedent had no medical history of any 
potentially fatal disease. No medical records in file or indications they were requested. 
No toxicology was performed, therefore, drug toxicity as a cause of death could not be 
ruled out. Jurisdiction declined. (11G-2.003(5)(b), F.A.C.) 
 

• Trickett, Date of Death 10/28/2016: A 74 year old male with cardiac history was found at 
the bottom of stairs. While no reported trauma, there is a possibility of head trauma. No 
medical records in file. No autopsy was performed, therefore, trauma as a cause of 
death could not be ruled out. Jurisdiction declined. (11G-2.003(5)(b), F.A.C.) 
 

• Stuart, Date of Death 1/26/2017: A 35 year old male was found unresponsive in bed. 
Family reported that he had been in a recent altercation and had a black eye. He had 
arrived in town the evening prior to being found deceased. Jurisdiction was accepted 
because he had no in-state primary physician and the decedent was transported to the 
medical examiner’s office. No autopsy was performed, no body diagram was made, and 
no photographs or medical records were in the file. (11G-2.002(2), 11G-2.003(1)(e), and 
11G-2.003(5)(a), F.A.C.) 
 

• Beitler, Date of Death 10/5/2017: A 55 year old female with a history of ethanol abuse 
and binge drinking. Four empty 1.5 liter wine bottles were found in the trash. Medical 
records requested but none received. Jurisdiction accepted. No autopsy or toxicology 
was performed, therefore, acute alcohol toxicity as a cause of death could not be ruled 
out. (11G-2.003(5)(b), F.A.C.) 
 

• Bruhn, Date of Death 11/5/2017: A 50 year old female with a reported 10-year pill 
problem. Prescriptions for decedent on scene include alprazolam and oxycodone. No pill 
counts provided. No medical records in file. Jurisdiction declined. No toxicology was 
performed, therefore, drug toxicity as a cause of death count not be ruled out. (11G-
2.003(5)(b), F.A.C.) 
 



Probable Cause Panel Report 
District 1 
November 27, 2018 
Page 4 
 
 

 

• Teves, Date of Death 3/20/2018: A 58 year old male with medical history of epilepsy, 
dementia, and Parkinson's disease was deceased amid suspicions of neglect. There 
were inappropriate pill counts for the decedent’s prescriptions, including alprazolam and 
hydrocodone. No medical records in file. Jurisdiction declined. No toxicology was 
performed, therefore, drug toxicity as a cause of death could not be ruled out. (11G-
2.003(5)(a), F.A.C.) 
 

• Christian, Date of Death 3/23/2018: A 62 year old male found deceased in his residence. 
Family reported that decedent would drink when taking alprazolam. Unknown pills were 
also found in a metal tin the deceased’s dresser. No medical records in file. Jurisdiction 
declined. No toxicology was performed, therefore, drug toxicity as a cause of death 
could not be ruled out. (Rule 11G-2.003(5)(b), F.A.C.) 
 

• Klang, Date of Death 3/28/2018: A 47 year old male with a history of depression and 
alcohol abuse found deceased at his home. No medical records in file to support a 
natural death. Death certificate signed by the decedent’s primary physician lists cause of 
death as unknown. Cremation was approved. (11G-2.003(5)(b), F.A.C.) 
 

Conclusions 

The Panel found that there was probable cause for disciplinary action regarding the complaints 
lodged against Dr. Andrea Minyard. The Panel felt that there was a general lack of 
documentation of medical histories and records reviewed prior to making a determination. It was 
noted that the further from Escambia county a death occurred, the less likely it was that the 
District 1 Medical Examiner’s Office would assume jurisdiction. There was also a general 
tendency to decline a case if the primary physician was willing to sign the death certificate even 
if circumstances surrounding the death or reports of drug/alcohol abuse indicated that the case 
should become a medical examiner’s case. The Panel finds that all the cases identified above 
violated s. 406.075(1)(i), F.S., and Rule 11G-2.001(1)(b), F.A.C. Additional violations for 
subsections of Rule 11G-2.003, F.A.C., are noted for each of the cases cited above. 

The Panel recommends that Dr. Minyard be placed on a period of supervised probation for one 
year. The supervised probation would be under the direction of a medical examiner of Dr. 
Minyard’s choosing as approved by the Commission. Dr. Minyard would be required to provide 
initially 100% of all jurisdiction declined and any case without an autopsy to the supervising 
medical examiner every two weeks. The supervising medical examiner would report his/her 
observations to the Commission at every quarterly meeting, and would determine a graduated 
reduction in case reviews based on his/her observations. 

The Panel is prepared to discuss this matter and the reasoning behind their conclusions at a 
future Commission meeting. In the meantime, please contact staff if you have any questions or 
if the panel can be of further assistance. 

BCW/vgk 



August 27, 2018 

MEMORANDUM 

To: Stephen J. Nelson, M.A., M.D., F.C.A.P. 
Chairman 
Medical Examiners Commission 

From: PROBABLE CAUSE PANEL 
Barbara C. Wolf, M.D., District 5 Medical Examiner, Chair 
Mr. Wesley Heidt, J.D., Office of the Attorney General  
Mr. Ken Jones, State Registrar 

Subject: Report of the Panel – Complaint against Valerie J. Rao, M.D. (District 4) 
 

In response to your memorandum of July 13, 2018, the Probable Cause Panel convened on 
August 21, 2018 at 1:00 p.m. at the District 5 Medical Examiner’s Office in Leesburg, Florida.  
Panel members District 5 Medical Examiner Barbara C. Wolf, M.D., Wesley Heidt, J.D., and Ken 
Jones were all present.  Also present were Commission staff members Vickie Koenig and Doug 
Culbertson. Staff had already mailed the Panel members an Ironkey flash drive containing their 
findings and the reference materials upon which they would base their opinions. 

The first order of business was the election of a chair, which Dr. Wolf accepted.  Next, the Panel 
reviewed the statutory reference that established the Panel as well as the procedures that the 
Panel and the Commission will use in these proceedings.  The authority of the Probable Cause 
Panel is established by section 406.075(3), F.S., and is limited to a determination of whether the 
facts establish a violation of Chapter 406, Florida Statutes, Florida Administrative Code Chapter 
11G, or the Practice Guidelines.  Dr. Wolf then reviewed the reference material previously 
forwarded to the Panel members. 

Dr. Wolf discussed the allegations submitted by the complainant and any potential violations of 
Chapter 406, Florida Statute, Rule 11G, Florida Administrative Code, and the Practice 
Guidelines for Florida Medical Examiners.  The major complaint was the ruling of the death as a 
suicide.  Dr. Wolf stated that Dr. Rao performed an autopsy and sent specimens for toxicology 
testing prior to ruling the death a suicide.  Dr. Wolf reiterated that the Medical Examiners 
Commission does not have the statutory authority to compel a District Medical Examiner to 
change a cause or manner of death.  This has been explained in previous correspondence to 
the complainant. 



Probable Cause Panel Report 
District 4 
August 27, 2018 
Page 2 
 
 

 

Dr. Wolf stated that since the deceased was found with her jeans undone and underwear on 
inside out, she would have performed a sexual assault examination on the deceased.  However, 
this is a best practice and not a violation of statute, rule or practice guidelines. 

The complainant also made allegations relating to violation of s. 406.135, F.S., with the release 
of the deceased’s autopsy photos to Jacksonville Beach Police Department and an individual 
from the State Attorney’s Office.  The Panel agreed that release of photos to these entities is not 
a violation; however, the Panel requested that staff attempt to verify that the individual who 
claimed the photos for the State Attorney’s Office was in fact an employee at that time.  On 
August 23, 2018, staff confirmed that the individual who claimed the photographs on behalf of 
the State Attorney’s Office was employed as a process server in 2009, and became an 
investigator in 2014.  Staff explained that this portion of the complaint had been referred to the 
FDLE Office of Executive Investigations.  If that office found a violation, then staff would bring a 
separate complaint for consideration. 

Dr. Wolf stated that the report provided by Arden Forensics noted that “proper forensic autopsy 
practice also includes examination and description of the clothing (when present) to correlate 
clothing damage with penetrating injuries, but the clothing was only listed in the report, without 
any description of bullet defects, gunshot residue depositions or blood staining.”  The Panel 
noted the first page of the autopsy report stated “Clothing consisted of a pair of blue jeans, a 
blue/black tee shirt, black brassiere, and a pair of black lace panties.” 

After extensive discussion, the Panel made the following determination: 

The Panel determined that Dr. Rao intentionally or unintentionally violated Article 14(1)(c) of 
the Practice Guidelines for Florida Medical Examiners and Rule 11G-2.006, F.A.C. that 
incorporates the Practice Guidelines into Rule 11G, by failing to describe the decedent’s 
clothing in detail sufficient to correlate with wounds and provide evidence for identification 
when necessary.  There was no mention of the holes in the top of the decedent, nor any 
description.  

Conclusions 

The Panel found that there was probable cause for disciplinary action regarding the complaint 
lodged against Dr. Valerie Rao.  The Panel felt that neglecting to describe the clothing in a 
manner consistent with Practice Guidelines Article 14(1)(c), was a direct violation of Practice 
Guidelines and Rule 11G-2.006,F.A.C.  

The Panel recommends an oral reprimand as disciplinary action.  

The Panel is prepared to discuss this matter and the reasoning behind their conclusions at a 
future Commission meeting.  In the meantime, please contact staff if you have any questions or 
if the panel can be of further assistance. 

BCW/dc 



 
 
FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 

August 29, 2018 

CONTACT: GOVERNOR’S PRESS OFFICE  

(850) 717-9282 

media@eog.myflorida.com 

 

Gov. Scott Appoints Four to Medical Examiners Commission  

 
TALLAHASSEE, Fla. – Today, Governor Rick Scott announced the reappointment of three 
and the appointment of one to the Medical Examiners Commission. 

Dr. Stephen Nelson, 60, of Lakeland, is the chief medical examiner of District 10. He is 
reappointed for a term beginning August 29, 2018, and ending July 1, 2020. 

Robin Giddens Sheppard, 59, of Ponte Vedra Beach, is a funeral director for Hardage 
Giddens Funeral Home. She is reappointed for a term beginning August 29, 2018, and 
ending July 1, 2020. 

Carol Whitmore, 63, of Holmes Beach, is a county commissioner of Manatee County. 
She is reappointed for a term beginning August 29, 2018, and ending July 1, 2021. 

Charlie Cofer, 66, of Jacksonville, is a public defender for the Fourth Judicial Circuit of 
Florida. He succeeds James Purdy and is appointed for a term beginning August 29, 
2018, and ending July 1, 2021. 
 

### 

 

mailto:media@eog.myflorida.com


 
 
FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 

August 29, 2018 

CONTACT: GOVERNOR’S PRESS OFFICE  

(850) 717-9282 

media@eog.myflorida.com 

 

Gov. Scott Appoints Nine to District Medical Examiners 

  
TALLAHASSEE, Fla. – Today, Governor Rick Scott announced the reappointment of eight 
and the appointment of one to the District Medical Examiners. 

Dr. Barbara Wolf, 61, of Lake County, is the chief medical examiner of District 5. She is 
reappointed for a term beginning August 29, 2018, and ending July 1, 2021. 

Dr. Jon Thogmartin, 54, of Burlington, is the chief medical examiner of District 6. He is 
reappointed for a term beginning August 29, 2018, and ending July 1, 2021. 

Dr. William Hamilton, 73, of Gainesville, is the chief medical examiner of District 8. He is 
reappointed for a term beginning August 29, 2018, and ending July 1, 2019. 

Dr. Stephen Nelson, 60, of Lakeland, is the chief medical examiner of District 10. He is 
reappointed for a term beginning August 29, 2018, and ending July 1, 2019. 

Dr. Russell Vega, 56, of Sarasota, is the chief medical examiner of District 12. He is 
reappointed for a term beginning August 29, 2018, and ending July 1, 2019. 

Dr. Jay Radtke, 40, of Panama City, is the interim medical examiner for District 14. He is 
appointed for a term beginning August 29, 2018, and ending July 1, 2019. 

Dr. Roger Mittleman, 70, of Palm City, is the chief medical examiner of District 19. He is 
reappointed for a term beginning August 29, 2018, and ending July 1, 2020. 

Dr. Marta Coburn, of Naples, is the chief medical examiner of District 20. She is 
reappointed for a term beginning August 29, 2018, and ending July 1, 2020. 

mailto:media@eog.myflorida.com


Dr. Predrag Bulic, 59, of Saint Augustine, is the chief medical examiner of District 23. He 
is reappointed for a term beginning August 29, 2018, and ending July 1, 2020. 

### 



 
 
 
FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 

September 27, 2018 

CONTACT: GOVERNOR’S PRESS OFFICE 

(850) 717-9282 

media@eog.myflorida.com 

 

Gov. Scott Reappoints Two to District Medical Examiners 

  
TALLAHASSEE, Fla. – Today, Governor Rick Scott announced the reappointment of two 
to the District Medical Examiners. 

  

Dr. David Stewart, 60, of Tallahassee, is the chief medical examiner of District 2. He is 
reappointed for a term beginning September 27, 2018, and ending July 1, 2021. 

  

Dr. Rebecca Hamilton, 53, of Alva, is the chief medical examiner of District 21. She is 
reappointed for a term beginning September 27, 2018, and ending July 1, 2020. 

  

### 

 

mailto:media@eog.myflorida.com












From: Nelson, Stephen
To: Koenig, Vickie; Culbertson, Doug; McNeil, Beth; Martin, James
Subject: Fwd: [EXTERNAL]: Follow up to PAMR Letter
Date: Friday, August 31, 2018 8:18:04 AM
Attachments: PAMR Medical Examiner Letter.pdf

ATT00001.htm

Begin forwarded message:

From: "Thompson, Angela" <Angela.Thompson@flhealth.gov>
Date: August 31, 2018 at 8:04:19 AM EDT
To: "Nelson, Stephen" <stephennelson@polk-county.net>
Cc: "Clark, Anthony J." <docdissection1@gmail.com>
Subject: [EXTERNAL]: Follow up to PAMR Letter

Dear Dr. Nelson,
 
Please find attached a corrected version of the PAMR cover letter along with
the signed letter from Dr. Yelverton. My apologies for the error.
 
As you requested, in 2016, 8% of the maternal death certificates selected for
PAMR were referred to the medical examiner but no autopsy was performed.
That number is 9.2% for 2017.
 
Thank you,
 
Angela Thompson, RN, BSN
Community Health Nurse Consultant
Maternal and Child Health
Florida Department of Health
Division of Community Health Promotion
Bureau of Family Health Services
4052 Bald Cypress Way, Bin A-13
Tallahassee, FL 32399-1723
850-558-9686
850-245-4465
Angela.Thompson@flhealth.gov
 
 
The Mission of the Florida Department of Health: To protect, promote & improve the health
of all people in Florida through integrated state, county & community efforts.
***********************************
Please note: Florida has a very broad public records law. Most written communications to
or from state officials regarding state business are public records available to the public and
media upon request. Your e-mail communications may, therefore, be subject to public
disclosure.
**************************************
Please consider the environment before printing this e-mail
 
 

mailto:VickieKoenig@fdle.state.fl.us
mailto:DougCulbertson@fdle.state.fl.us
mailto:BethMcNeil@fdle.state.fl.us
mailto:JamesMartin@fdle.state.fl.us
mailto:Angela.Thompson@flhealth.gov
mailto:stephennelson@polk-county.net
mailto:docdissection1@gmail.com
file:////c/Angela.Thompson@flhealth.gov



Mission:
To protect, promote & improve the health
of all people in Florida through integrated
state, county & community efforts.


Vision: To be the Healthiest State in the Nation


Rick Scott
Governor


Celeste Philip, MD, MPH
Surgeon General and Secretary


August23, 2018


Stephen Nelson, MD
Chief Medical Examiner, District 10
1021 Jim Keene Boulevard
Winter Haven, FL 33880


Re: Pregnancy-Associated Mortality Review (PAM R)
Medical Examiner Letter


Dear Dr. Nelson:


Enclosed is the letter addressing the vital role of medical examiners in the Florida Pregnancy-


Associated Mortality Review (PAMR) project. The letter, signed by PAMR Co-Chair, Dr. Robert
Yelverton, explains how important medical examiners are during the PAMR case identification
process as well as the case abstraction process. I thank you for your patience and sincerely
apologize for the delay in getting this letter to you.


Please feel free to contact me if you have any questions or need further information. I can be
reached by telephone at (850) 558-9686, or by email at Angela.Thompsonc~flhealth.qov.
Last Line


Sincerely,


Angela Thompson
PAMR Coordinator
Maternal and Child Health Program


AT
Enclosure


Florida Department of Health
Division of Community Health Promotion Accredited Health Department
4052 Bald Cypress Way, Bin A-13 Tallahassee, FL 32399 : Public Health Accreditation BoardPHONE: 8501245-4465 ¯ FAX: 850/245-4047
FlorldaHeaIthgov







August 1,2018


Stephen Nelson, MD
Chief Medical Examiner, District 10
1021 Jim Keene Boulevard
Winter Haven, FL 33880


Dear Dr. Nelson:


Reducing the number of maternal deaths is a public health priority, not only for the nation, but also for the state
of Florida. Maternal and Child Health was chosen as one of the priority areas of the Florida Department of Health
(Department) 2017-2021 State Health Improvement Plan (SHIP). Several strategies have been developed,
including promoting quality of care for maternal hypertension and hemorrhage among pregnant women, to reach the
goal of preventing pregnancy-related mortality and maternal morbidity. In 1996, the Florida Department of Health
(Department) established the Pregnancy-Associated Mortality Review (PAMR), to understand and address the
factors and issues related to maternal mortality, and to reduce the number of pregnancy -associated deaths in
the state.


The PAMR process involves identifying all pregnancy-associated deaths by utilizing linked data files from
sources associated with the mother. One source of identification is the assigned cause of death using the
International Classification of Diseases (lCD) code, in the category of Pregnancy, Childbirth and the
Puerperium, on the death certificate. Another source used for identification is a checked box on the death
certificate identifying the woman as either pregnant at time of death, pregnant within 42 days of death, or
pregnant between 43 days to one year before death. It is vitally important that the pregnancy check box and
cause(s) of death be completed accurately, as PAMR relies heavily on the information collected from the death
certificate. Deaths that are marked as unknown if pregnant within the past year, or not pregnant within the past
year, do not contribute to the PAMR case identification process.


PAMR abstractors have recently begun to report difficulty in fully accessing records from some medical
examiner offices. Medical examiners play an important role in obtaining critical medical and historical
information regarding the woman's life course issues that may not be obtained from other sources such as
medical records or prenatal records. Having complete medical examiners investigative information, notes, and
hospital or provider records regarding the pregnancy or postpartum history and events prior to death, helps the
PAMR team to better understand the relationship of the death to the pregnancy and make accurate
recommendations for actions to decrease preventable maternal deaths. Please allow PAMR abstractors full
access to medical examiner notes and medical records, during the case abstraction process.


As a result of efforts to move recommendations into action, quality improvement initiatives have been
implemented in over 30 hospitals statewide including the Obstetric Hemorrhage Initiative which focused on
improving recognition and management of hemorrhage.


During the PAMR abstraction process, trained professionals operate under strict confidentiality rules to
abstract PAM R-identified cases. The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) privacy
regulations allow release of protected health information without specific client consent for public health
investigations ( 164.512(b)). In addition to HIPAA, the Department is afforded review authority under sections
395.3025(5), 405.01, and 405.02, of the Florida Statutes. All cases are de -identified for presentation so that
connection cannot be made to the region, provider, hospital, medical examiner office or law enforcement
agency.







Stephen Nelson, MD
August 1, 2018
Page Two


Thank you for your diligence and partnership in the efforts to reduce maternal mortality in Florida. For more
information, or if you have any questions, please contact Ms. Angela Thompson, PAMR Coordinator, at (850)
558-9686, or send an email to: AnqelaThompson(flhealth.qov.


Sincerely,


Robert Yelverton, MD
PAMR Co-Chair











Mission:
To protect, promote & improve the health
of all people in Florida through integrated
state, county & community efforts.

Vision: To be the Healthiest State in the Nation

Rick Scott
Governor

Celeste Philip, MD, MPH
Surgeon General and Secretary

August23, 2018

Stephen Nelson, MD
Chief Medical Examiner, District 10
1021 Jim Keene Boulevard
Winter Haven, FL 33880

Re: Pregnancy-Associated Mortality Review (PAM R)
Medical Examiner Letter

Dear Dr. Nelson:

Enclosed is the letter addressing the vital role of medical examiners in the Florida Pregnancy-

Associated Mortality Review (PAMR) project. The letter, signed by PAMR Co-Chair, Dr. Robert
Yelverton, explains how important medical examiners are during the PAMR case identification
process as well as the case abstraction process. I thank you for your patience and sincerely
apologize for the delay in getting this letter to you.

Please feel free to contact me if you have any questions or need further information. I can be
reached by telephone at (850) 558-9686, or by email at Angela.Thompsonc~flhealth.qov.
Last Line

Sincerely,

Angela Thompson
PAMR Coordinator
Maternal and Child Health Program

AT
Enclosure

Florida Department of Health
Division of Community Health Promotion Accredited Health Department
4052 Bald Cypress Way, Bin A-13 Tallahassee, FL 32399 : Public Health Accreditation BoardPHONE: 8501245-4465 ¯ FAX: 850/245-4047
FlorldaHeaIthgov



August 1,2018

Stephen Nelson, MD
Chief Medical Examiner, District 10
1021 Jim Keene Boulevard
Winter Haven, FL 33880

Dear Dr. Nelson:

Reducing the number of maternal deaths is a public health priority, not only for the nation, but also for the state
of Florida. Maternal and Child Health was chosen as one of the priority areas of the Florida Department of Health
(Department) 2017-2021 State Health Improvement Plan (SHIP). Several strategies have been developed,
including promoting quality of care for maternal hypertension and hemorrhage among pregnant women, to reach the
goal of preventing pregnancy-related mortality and maternal morbidity. In 1996, the Florida Department of Health
(Department) established the Pregnancy-Associated Mortality Review (PAMR), to understand and address the
factors and issues related to maternal mortality, and to reduce the number of pregnancy -associated deaths in
the state.

The PAMR process involves identifying all pregnancy-associated deaths by utilizing linked data files from
sources associated with the mother. One source of identification is the assigned cause of death using the
International Classification of Diseases (lCD) code, in the category of Pregnancy, Childbirth and the
Puerperium, on the death certificate. Another source used for identification is a checked box on the death
certificate identifying the woman as either pregnant at time of death, pregnant within 42 days of death, or
pregnant between 43 days to one year before death. It is vitally important that the pregnancy check box and
cause(s) of death be completed accurately, as PAMR relies heavily on the information collected from the death
certificate. Deaths that are marked as unknown if pregnant within the past year, or not pregnant within the past
year, do not contribute to the PAMR case identification process.

PAMR abstractors have recently begun to report difficulty in fully accessing records from some medical
examiner offices. Medical examiners play an important role in obtaining critical medical and historical
information regarding the woman's life course issues that may not be obtained from other sources such as
medical records or prenatal records. Having complete medical examiners investigative information, notes, and
hospital or provider records regarding the pregnancy or postpartum history and events prior to death, helps the
PAMR team to better understand the relationship of the death to the pregnancy and make accurate
recommendations for actions to decrease preventable maternal deaths. Please allow PAMR abstractors full
access to medical examiner notes and medical records, during the case abstraction process.

As a result of efforts to move recommendations into action, quality improvement initiatives have been
implemented in over 30 hospitals statewide including the Obstetric Hemorrhage Initiative which focused on
improving recognition and management of hemorrhage.

During the PAMR abstraction process, trained professionals operate under strict confidentiality rules to
abstract PAM R-identified cases. The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) privacy
regulations allow release of protected health information without specific client consent for public health
investigations ( 164.512(b)). In addition to HIPAA, the Department is afforded review authority under sections
395.3025(5), 405.01, and 405.02, of the Florida Statutes. All cases are de -identified for presentation so that
connection cannot be made to the region, provider, hospital, medical examiner office or law enforcement
agency.



Stephen Nelson, MD
August 1, 2018
Page Two

Thank you for your diligence and partnership in the efforts to reduce maternal mortality in Florida. For more
information, or if you have any questions, please contact Ms. Angela Thompson, PAMR Coordinator, at (850)
558-9686, or send an email to: AnqelaThompson(flhealth.qov.

Sincerely,

Robert Yelverton, MD
PAMR Co-Chair



Favorable Non-Favorable No Opinion No Response
Public Defender's Office 1st Judicial Circuit X
State Attorney's Office 1st Judicial Circuit X

Escambia Board of County Commissioners X
Okaloosa Board of County Commissioners X
Santa Rosa Board of County Commissioners X
Walton Board of County Commissioners X

Escambia County Sheriff's Office X
Okaloosa County Sheriff's Office X
Santa Rosa County Sheriff's Office X
Walton County Sheriff's Office X

Crestview Police Department X
DeFuniak Springs Police Department X
Fort Walton Beach Police Department X
Gulf Breeze Police Department X
Milton Police Department X
Niceville Police Department X
Okaloose County Airport Police Department X
Pensacola Police Department X
Shalimar Police Department X
Valparaiso Police Department X

Bayview Fisher-Pou Chapel X
Benboe Funeral Home  X
Brackney Funeral Service X
Clary-Glenn Funeral Home - DeFuniak Springs X
Clary-Glenn Freeport Chapel Funeral Home X
Davis Watkins Funeral Home - Fort Walton X
Davis Watkins Funeral Home & Crematory - DeFuniak Springs X
Davis Watkins Crestview Memorial X
Dignity Memorial Funeral & Cremation X
Eastern Gate Memorial Funeral Home X
Emerald Coast Funeral Home X
Faith Chapel Funeral Home - Cantonment X
Faith Chapel Funeral Home - Pensacola X
Family Funeral & Cremation X
Harper-Morris Memorial Chapel X
Heritage Gardens Funeral Home & Cemetery X
Jackson-McMurray Funeral Services X
Jerry Evans Funeral Home X
Joe Morris & Son Funeral Home X
Lewis Funeral Home - Milton X
Lewis Funeral Home - Navarre X
Lewis Funeral Home Pace Chapel X
McKinnie Funeral Home X
McLaughlin Twin Cities Funeral Home X
National Cremation & Burial Services X
Northwest Florida Mortuary Services X
Oak Lawn Funeral Home X
Park Funeral Home X
Pensacola Memorial Gardens & Funeral Home X
Reed's Funeral Home X
Rose Lawn Funeral Home of Gulf Breeze X
Tracy Morton Memorial Chapel X
Trahan Family Funeral Home - Milton X
Trahan Mortuary Services - Pensacola X
Waters & Hibbert Funeral Home X

DISTRICT 1 REAPPOINTMENT - DR. MINYARD



Favorable Non-Favorable No Opinion No Response
Whitehurst-Powell Funeral Home X

Escambia and Santa Rosa County Medical Society X
Okaloosa County Medical Society X
Walton County Medical Society X

LifeQuest X

DISTRICT 1 CONTINUED























From: Massey, Jack
To: Koenig, Vickie
Subject: FW: Reappointment of Dr. Minyard
Date: Monday, April 09, 2018 3:20:22 PM
Attachments: image001.jpg

image002.jpg
image003.jpg
image004.png
image005.png
District One Medical Examiner Contract Review_.pdf
FW Budget.msg
image006.png

Vickie,
 
I just spoke with Sheriff Ashley and received permission to send this email to you. He
would like the email and attached documents to be part of the record. Thanks
 
From: Larry Ashley [mailto:lrashley@sheriff-okaloosa.org] 
Sent: Tuesday, April 03, 2018 12:55 PM
To: John Hofstad (jhofstad@co.okaloosa.fl.us); gfountain@co.okaloosa.fl.us; Nathan Boyles;
kwindes@co.okaloosa.fl.us; cketchel@co.okaloosa.fl.us; tgoodwin@co.okaloosa.fl.us
Cc: Steven C. Harker; JD Peacock (jdpeacock@clerkofcourts.cc); Mike Adkinson
(sheriffadkinson@waltonso.org); Johnson, Bob (RJOHNSON@srso.net); Sheriff@escambiaso.com;
Massey, Jack
Subject: FW: Reappointment of Dr. Minyard
 
To All,
 
Just wanted you all to be aware that many of us in the 1st judicial circuit have expressed a lack
of confidence in our current Medical Examiner, Dr. Andrea Minyard and the lack of services
her office provides. The biggest of these, is that she has no presence or office in Okaloosa or
Walton Counties.
In addition our office also discovered that Dr. Minyard is receiving exorbitant personal pay
while services, in at least the eastern portion of our district, (Okaloosa/Walton Counties) are
sub-standard.  As such, we referred our finding to the Okaloosa County Clerk of Court and
Comptroller for review. Attached is the Clerk’s findings and contract recommendations. The
Clerk has made further inquiries of the other counties in this district and his findings regarding
the Medical Examiners budget are attached.  We believe that additional financial investigation
is warranted. We also believe that this matter must be concluded and come before the Medical
Examiners’ Commission before any renewal appointment is made sometime this summer. This
matter is of the utmost import to our office and we are requesting a timely and just resolution.
 
If you should be in need of additional information regarding this matter please do not hesitate
to call on me.
 
With Kind Regards,
 
LA
 
 

mailto:JackMassey@fdle.state.fl.us
mailto:VickieKoenig@fdle.state.fl.us








DEPARTMENT OF INSPECTOR GENERAL 
OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA 


JD PEACOCK II, CLERK OF CIRCUIT COURT AND COMPTROLLER 


601B N PEARL STREET  ●  CRESTVIEW, FLORIDA  32536  ● (850) 689-5000 Extension 3421 


Date: March 26, 2018


To: J.D. Peacock II, Clerk of Courts


From: Brad Embry, Inspector General


Subject: Review of District One Medical Examiner Contract


We conducted a review of Okaloosa County’s contract with the District One Medical 


Examiner.  The purpose of this review was to evaluate contract terms and conditions, 


payment compliance as well as supporting documentation submitted to the county for cost 


reimbursements.  This review does not constitute a complete audit of the District One 


Medical Examiner’s Office or their existing contract with Okaloosa County.  Such would be 


the subject of a separate engagement.   


We compared billing details submitted to the County by the District One Medical 


Examiner’s Office to actual expenses submitted for reimbursement during FY 2018. 


Employee costs, salaries and operating expenses reimbursed by Okaloosa County appear to 


be in compliance with the contract and sufficient detail was provided to support the related 


expenditures. As part of the review we examined documentation submitted to other 


counties in the district by the District One Medical Examiner. During our review we made 


notes of a few areas of the contact where improvements can be made.  


If you have any questions or wish to discuss this further, please let us know.  


____________________________________ 
Brad E. Embry, CFE, CIGI
Inspector General
Okaloosa County Clerk of Circuit Court
 







DEPARTMENT OF INSPECTOR GENERAL 
OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA 


JD PEACOCK II, CLERK OF CIRCUIT COURT AND COMPTROLLER 


Introduction and Scope 


On March 02, 2018 our office began a review of Okaloosa County’s contract with the District 
One Medical Examiner. The District One Medical Examiner serves a four-county area; 
Escambia, Santa Rosa, Okaloosa and Walton counties. Costs are divided among each of the 
four counties based on the number of calls for service, full time employees and associated 
reimbursable costs. We conducted analysis of detailed billings submitted to Okaloosa County 
and subsequent payments made to District One Medical Examiner doing business as Gulf 
Coast Autopsy Physicians. As part of the review we examined documentation submitted to 
other counties in the district by the District One Medical Examiner.       


Background 


The original contract with Okaloosa County was executed on August 17, 2004 and extended 
every year since. Contract payments are made to Gulf Coast Autopsy Physicians, a for profit 
agency, owned by Dr. Andrea Minyard, Medical Examiner for District One. We conducted an 
analysis of the Medical Examiner’s annual budget as well as detailed billings and compared 
subsequent payments made to Gulf Coast Autopsy Physicians. As part of the review we also 
examined documentation submitted to other counties in the district.   We were unable to 
obtain contracts for two of the four counties (Santa Rosa and Walton).  However, we obtained 
and reviewed invoices submitted to Santa Rosa and Walton counties by the District One 
Medical Examiner.  


Each month the Medical Examiner bills Okaloosa County two invoices.  One invoice includes 
professional fees, salary costs and employee costs which consists of 401K, insurance, taxes 
and workers’ compensation.  The second invoice contains operating expenses such as 
utilities, supplies, etc. 


 Observations 


All expenses except “professional fees” are paid by the County on a reimbursement basis. 
Detailed invoices and proof of payment are provided as support for reimbursement each 
month.  Unlike the other budget items which are truly an estimate of anticipated costs,  
professional fees are a fixed cost that are billed in twelve equal payments, as is the case 
across all four counties.  The only supporting documentation provided for professional fees 
is a list of cases and case types for the month.  The professional fee is a contractually set 
amount each month regardless of the number of cases.  The total district wide professional 
fees collected by the District One Medical Examiner for fiscal year 2018 is $824,842.   


1







All other costs are directly reimbursed by each of the counties except the salary for the Chief 
Medical Examiner (CME) and the salary for the Associate Medical Examiner (AME) which is 
currently vacant. The salaries for the CME and AME are derived from the professional fees.  
All other employment related expenses / costs (taxes, 401K and insurance) for the CME and 
AME are reimbursed monthly as a part of the employee costs and are not subject to 
professional fees.  After reviewing payments, the last pay period that costs were reimbursed 
for the AME was November 17, 2017.  As of January 26, 2018, per payroll information, the 
Medical Examiner’s Office employs twelve people excluding the CME. 


Reimbursable Costs 


Reimbursable costs include the salaries for 12 employees, excluding the CME, 401K match 
of 9% for 10 employees including the CME, health insurance for 7 employees including the 
CME, and LandrumHR costs for all 13 employees including the CME.  LandrumHR costs 
include paid time off, FICA, FUTA, and SUTA taxes, worker’s compensation and a 
management fee.   All employee costs except the salary of the CME are directly reimbursed 
monthly by all four counties based on detailed documentation provided by the Medical 
Examiner’s Office.   


All operating costs are also reimbursed by the counties each month based on detailed 
documentation provided by the Medical Examiner’s Office.  These costs include but are not 
limited to rent, utilities, cellular phones, office supplies, software, all medical equipment and 
supplies, mileage, tolls, membership dues, professional services (CPA) and postage.  
Employee costs, salaries and operating expenses reimbursed by Okaloosa County appear to 
be in compliance with the contract. 


Professional Services Fees 


The fixed amount paid monthly by each county for professional fees includes the salary for 
the CME and AME which is currently vacant. 


The Professional fees for FY 2018 totaled $824,842, across the entire District.  Okaloosa 
County will pay a total of $214,459 for professional fees in FY 2018. 


According to Florida Statute 406.06(3), district medical examiners and associate medical 
examiners shall be entitled to compensation and such reasonable salary and fees as are 
established by the board of county commissioners in the respective districts. In our review 
of the contracts and financial documentation, we were unable to readily determine the salary 
amount of the Chief Medical Examiner.  


Recommendations 


We recommend that the Okaloosa County Board of County Commissioners and other 
interested parties amend the contract for the Medical Examiner to include a right to audit 
clause and require the Medical Examiner to provide audited financial statements annually. 


2







Exhibits 


Exhibit A: Okaloosa County FY 2018 Contract 
Exhibit B: Okaloosa County January 2018 Monthly Invoices with Employee Costs 


3







EXHIBIT A







EXHIBIT A







EXHIBIT A







EXHIBIT A







EXHIBIT A







EXHIBIT A







EXHIBIT A







EXHIBIT B 







EXHIBIT B 







EXHIBIT B 







EXHIBIT B 







EXHIBIT B 







EXHIBIT B 





		Cover Letter

		Medical Examiner Contract Compliance  Review

		(Exhibit A)

		(Exhibit B)



				2018-03-26T13:20:27-0500

		Brad Embry










FW: Budget

		From

		Steven C. Harker

		To

		Larry Ashley

		Recipients

		lrashley@sheriff-okaloosa.org



 





 





Steven C. Harker





Undersheriff





Okaloosa County Sheriff’s Office





50 2nd Street





Shalimar, Florida 32579





Office : 850-651-7762





Cell      : 850-974-2553





Okaloosa star#2 facebook button twitter button Youtube-icon nixle_sm





 





From: Steven C. Harker 
Sent: Friday, March 2, 2018 5:29 PM
To: 'J. D. Peacock (jdpeacock@clerkofcourts.cc)' <jdpeacock@clerkofcourts.cc>
Cc: Arnold L. Brown (abrown@sheriff-okaloosa.org) <abrown@sheriff-okaloosa.org>; Larry Ashley <lrashley@sheriff-okaloosa.org>; 'Graham Fountain' <gfountain@co.okaloosa.fl.us>; 'bryjerry@waltonso.org' <bryjerry@waltonso.org>
Subject: FW: Budget
Importance: High





 





                                                      CONFIDENTIAL ** DO NOT DISSIMINATE ***





 





JD, 





 





Re our telephone call today.





 





Attached is the Budget I received from Jeff, via Arnold. 





 





A few points:





 





1-      What I received (attached) is the budget, not the books and records. In other words, it’s their wish list, not their actual expenditures. 





a.       Graham, Arnold, and I met with the Dr. Minyard’s assistant, Jeff, on 2/15, and I asked him for their proposed budget. Only today we got it after Arnold reached out and asked again. 





2-      The budget is very inconsistent listing some costs for some counties, but not for others; and making no mention of the LLC I am told she is operating in support of her work. 





3-      I cannot determine whether every county pays Dr. Minyard a portion of the salary she draws, but based on the records I do have, and assuming that her salaries are prorated based on the number of cases, all four counties are likely paying her as much as $1,319,403.57 annually for net payroll alone (Derived by dividing Okaloosa’s net payroll costs by its percentage of bodies handled (26-percent)). It appears this is the case since all other costs listed reflect this same proration. 





a.       If correct, Dr. Minyard’s individual salary for the year would be $824,842.31 ($214,459/.26; Minyard’s salary on page 8 divided by Okaloosa’s bodies processed of 26-percent)). This is the net salary, and exclusive of all benefits such as retirement, insurance, and Workers’ Compensation, etc). 





 





This is potentially very concerning. While the information does not necessarily suggest any fraudulent activity, our four counties must determine whether this information is accurate, and whether the salary shown above is reasonable for the services provided. Additionally, if there are payments being made to both she and her employees, but also her LLC, these numbers could be significantly higher.  At this writing, I do not have the records to make such a determination.





 





Consequently, I am referring this matter to your office for review, and recommend an audit encompassing the last three years’ expenditures for Dr. Minyard’s complete operation (i.e. expenditures and receipts for all four counties).  Some assessment should be made to determine whether the costs contained in the budget do indeed represent a collective net salary of $824,842, and whether that is a reasonable net salary for the services she provides. I am not qualified to make that determination, but it appears very high to me. 





 





Please let me know if I can be of further assistance. 





 





     





 





Steven C. Harker





Undersheriff





Okaloosa County Sheriff’s Office





50 2nd Street





Shalimar, Florida 32579





Office : 850-651-7762





Cell      : 850-974-2553





Okaloosa star#2 facebook button twitter button Youtube-icon nixle_sm





 





From: Arnold Brown 
Sent: Friday, March 2, 2018 2:40 PM
To: Steven C. Harker <sharker@sheriff-okaloosa.org>
Subject: FW: Budget





 





 





 





From: Jeff Martin - Director [mailto:jmartin@fldme.com] 
Sent: Friday, March 02, 2018 1:53 PM
To: Arnold Brown <abrown@sheriff-okaloosa.org>
Subject: re: Budget





 





Absolutely!  Attached is the budget that was submitted for this past physical year.  Keep in mind, this is a very unique budget as the dollars, depending on what it is, has a percentage split with other counties.  I would be more than happy to sit down and discuss the budget with the Undersheriff if he has any specific questions.





Jeffrey B. Martin, D-ABMDI
Director / Chief of Forensic Investigations
(850) 865-2178 - Cellular

Office of the District Medical Examiner
District One - Florida
Central Office
5151 N. 9th Ave. 
Pensacola, FL 32504
(850) 416-7210 - Office
(850) 416-6475 - Fax

Annex Office
206 Staff Drive N.E.
Ft. Walton Beach, FL 32548
(850) 651-7771 - Office
(850) 651-7775 - Fax





 





  _____  



From: "Arnold Brown" <abrown@sheriff-okaloosa.org>
Sent: Friday, March 02, 2018 1:08 PM
To: "jmartin@fldme.com" <jmartin@fldme.com>
Subject: Budget





Jeff, I was speaking to the Undersheriff this morning about the reappointment ballot and he mentioned that you were going to email him a copy of your budget.  If it’s not too much trouble could you please send the budget us?  Thanks in advance.





 





Major Arnold L. Brown





Investigations Bureau Chief





Okaloosa County Sheriff’s Office





50 2nd Street





Shalimar, Florida  32579





Office: 850-609-3032





 





cid:image003.png@01D3B227.8D3EAD00    





  _____  



The Mission of the Okaloosa County Sheriff’s Office: “Ensuring fair and equal administration of the law, safeguarding civil liberties and preserving public safety; doing so with professionalism and unity of purpose, while being good stewards of the public’s trust.”





 





PLEASE NOTE: 





This email may contain Law Enforcement Sensitive or Privileged Information, which is intended only for use by the individual or entity to which the email is addressed. If you have received this email in error, please delete it immediately





 





 





 





  _____  



Please note that Florida has a broad public records law. All work-related correspondence sent to or from this email address may be subject to public disclosure.








  _____  



Please note that Florida has a broad public records law. All work-related correspondence sent to or from this email address may be subject to public disclosure.








image001.jpg

image001.jpg





image002.jpg

image002.jpg





image004.jpg

image004.jpg





image005.png

image005.png





image006.png

image006.png





image003.png

image003.png








Larry Ashley
 
Larry R. Ashley, Sheriff
Okaloosa County Sheriff's Office, HQ
50 Second Street
Shalimar, FL 32579
 
Office:      850-651-7410
Fax:          850-609-3048
E-mail:    sheriff@sheriff-okaloosa.org
 

       

    

From: Knight, Quenitra [mailto:QuenitraKnight@fdle.state.fl.us] 
Sent: Thursday, January 25, 2018 12:44 PM
To: Carolyn Johnson - Okaloosa Med Soc <carolynr.johnson@hcahealthcare.com>; Chairman Carolyn
Ketchel <cketchel@co.okaloosa.fl.us>; Chairman Jeff Bergosh <district1@myescambia.com>;
Chairman William "Bill" Chapman <chabill@co.walton.fl.us>; Chief Andrew Johnson - Airport PD
<ajohnson@co.okaloosa.fl.us>; Erica Huffman - Medical Society (Escambia, Santa Rosa)
<director@escambiacms.org>; Marcene Kreifels, M.D. - Walton Med Soc <fm@1orion.com>; Police
Chief Tony Tindell <ttindell@miltonfl.org>; Police Chief David Popwell <Pdadmin@niceville.org>;
Police Chief Edward Ryan -Ft. Walton Bch <eryan@fwb.org>; Police Chief John Cash
<Jcash@shalimarflorida.org>; Police Chief Joseph Hart - Valparaiso PD <Vpd@valp.org>; Police Chief
Mark Weeks <Weeksma@defuniakspringspolice.net>; Police Chief Richard Hawthorne
<rhawthorne@gulfbreeze.fl.gov>; Police Chief Tommi Lyter <Tlyter@cityofpensacola.com>; Police
Chief Tony Taylor <Taylort@crestviewpd.org>; Public Defender Bruce Miller
<bruce_miller@pd1.fl.gov>; SA Bill Eddins - Escambia, Okaloosa, Santa Rosa, Walton
<beddins@sa01.org>; Sheriff Bob Johnson- Santa Rosa <RJohnson@srso.net>; Sheriff David Morgan
<Sheriff@escambiaso.com>; Larry Ashley <lrashley@sheriff-okaloosa.org>; Sheriff Michael Adkinson,
Jr. <SheriffAdkinson@waltonso.org>; Vice Chairman Sam Parker <samparker@santarosa.fl.gov>
Subject: Reappointment of Dr. Minyard
 
Dear Sir or Madam,
 
The gubernatorial appointment term of the district medical examiner in District 1 (Escambia,
Okaloosa, Santa Rosa and Walton counties) will expire on July 1, 2018.  Pursuant to Florida
Administrative Code, the Medical Examiners Commission will consider recommending to the
Governor the incumbent, Andrea N. Minyard, M.D., or other qualified candidates for this
appointment.  We are asking for your input so the Commission can make an informed decision.
 
This topic will be scheduled for discussion at the 2018 Spring Commission Meeting.  Please complete
the attached Reappointment Ballot Form and return it by March 30, 2018 to staff member Doug
Culbertson at dougculbertson@fdle.state.fl.us or at the address above.  Please provide a favorable
or unfavorable response to the recommendation for Dr. Minyard’s reappointment.  The Commission

mailto:%20sheriff@sheriff-okaloosa.org
http://www.sheriff-okaloosa.org/
http://www.facebook.com/pages/Okaloosa-County-Sheriffs-Office/281642818653
http://twitter.com/#!/OCSOALERTS
http://www.youtube.com/user/OkaloosaSheriff
http://local.nixle.com/okaloosa-county-sheriffs-office/
mailto:QuenitraKnight@fdle.state.fl.us
mailto:carolynr.johnson@hcahealthcare.com
mailto:cketchel@co.okaloosa.fl.us
mailto:district1@myescambia.com
mailto:chabill@co.walton.fl.us
mailto:ajohnson@co.okaloosa.fl.us
mailto:director@escambiacms.org
mailto:fm@1orion.com
mailto:ttindell@miltonfl.org
mailto:Pdadmin@niceville.org
mailto:eryan@fwb.org
mailto:Jcash@shalimarflorida.org
mailto:Vpd@valp.org
mailto:Weeksma@defuniakspringspolice.net
mailto:rhawthorne@gulfbreeze.fl.gov
mailto:Tlyter@cityofpensacola.com
mailto:Taylort@crestviewpd.org
mailto:bruce_miller@pd1.fl.gov
mailto:beddins@sa01.org
mailto:RJohnson@srso.net
mailto:Sheriff@escambiaso.com
mailto:lrashley@sheriff-okaloosa.org
mailto:SheriffAdkinson@waltonso.org
mailto:samparker@santarosa.fl.gov
mailto:dougculbertson@fdle.state.fl.us


will also consider nominations of other qualified candidates, if submitted.
 
If you have any questions or wish to discuss your input, please contact Commission staff at (850)
410-8600.
 
Sincerely,
Medical Examiner Commission Staff
 

Quenitra Knight
Administrative Assistant I
Planning & Support
Florida Department of Law Enforcement
850-410-8614
 
 

The Mission of the Okaloosa County Sheriff’s Office: “Ensuring fair and equal
administration of the law, safeguarding civil liberties and preserving public safety;
Doing so with professionalism and unity of purpose, while being good stewards of the
public’s trust."

PLEASE NOTE:

This email may contain Law Enforcement Sensitive or Privileged Information, which is intended only for use by the individual or entity to
which the email is addressed. If you have received this email in error, please delete it immediately. E-mail communications to or from
Okaloosa County Sheriff’s Office employees are considered public records and are available to the public and media upon request. Your
e-mail communications with attachments, including your email address, are subject to public disclosure.



DEPARTMENT OF INSPECTOR GENERAL 
OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA 

JD PEACOCK II, CLERK OF CIRCUIT COURT AND COMPTROLLER 

601B N PEARL STREET  ●  CRESTVIEW, FLORIDA  32536  ● (850) 689-5000 Extension 3421 

Date: March 26, 2018

To: J.D. Peacock II, Clerk of Courts

From: Brad Embry, Inspector General

Subject: Review of District One Medical Examiner Contract

We conducted a review of Okaloosa County’s contract with the District One Medical 

Examiner.  The purpose of this review was to evaluate contract terms and conditions, 

payment compliance as well as supporting documentation submitted to the county for cost 

reimbursements.  This review does not constitute a complete audit of the District One 

Medical Examiner’s Office or their existing contract with Okaloosa County.  Such would be 

the subject of a separate engagement.   

We compared billing details submitted to the County by the District One Medical 

Examiner’s Office to actual expenses submitted for reimbursement during FY 2018. 

Employee costs, salaries and operating expenses reimbursed by Okaloosa County appear to 

be in compliance with the contract and sufficient detail was provided to support the related 

expenditures. As part of the review we examined documentation submitted to other 

counties in the district by the District One Medical Examiner. During our review we made 

notes of a few areas of the contact where improvements can be made.  

If you have any questions or wish to discuss this further, please let us know.  

____________________________________ 
Brad E. Embry, CFE, CIGI
Inspector General
Okaloosa County Clerk of Circuit Court
 

Please note this is part of Sheriff Ashley's ballot



DEPARTMENT OF INSPECTOR GENERAL 
OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA 

JD PEACOCK II, CLERK OF CIRCUIT COURT AND COMPTROLLER 

Introduction and Scope 

On March 02, 2018 our office began a review of Okaloosa County’s contract with the District 
One Medical Examiner. The District One Medical Examiner serves a four-county area; 
Escambia, Santa Rosa, Okaloosa and Walton counties. Costs are divided among each of the 
four counties based on the number of calls for service, full time employees and associated 
reimbursable costs. We conducted analysis of detailed billings submitted to Okaloosa County 
and subsequent payments made to District One Medical Examiner doing business as Gulf 
Coast Autopsy Physicians. As part of the review we examined documentation submitted to 
other counties in the district by the District One Medical Examiner.       

Background 

The original contract with Okaloosa County was executed on August 17, 2004 and extended 
every year since. Contract payments are made to Gulf Coast Autopsy Physicians, a for profit 
agency, owned by Dr. Andrea Minyard, Medical Examiner for District One. We conducted an 
analysis of the Medical Examiner’s annual budget as well as detailed billings and compared 
subsequent payments made to Gulf Coast Autopsy Physicians. As part of the review we also 
examined documentation submitted to other counties in the district.   We were unable to 
obtain contracts for two of the four counties (Santa Rosa and Walton).  However, we obtained 
and reviewed invoices submitted to Santa Rosa and Walton counties by the District One 
Medical Examiner.  

Each month the Medical Examiner bills Okaloosa County two invoices.  One invoice includes 
professional fees, salary costs and employee costs which consists of 401K, insurance, taxes 
and workers’ compensation.  The second invoice contains operating expenses such as 
utilities, supplies, etc. 

 Observations 

All expenses except “professional fees” are paid by the County on a reimbursement basis. 
Detailed invoices and proof of payment are provided as support for reimbursement each 
month.  Unlike the other budget items which are truly an estimate of anticipated costs,  
professional fees are a fixed cost that are billed in twelve equal payments, as is the case 
across all four counties.  The only supporting documentation provided for professional fees 
is a list of cases and case types for the month.  The professional fee is a contractually set 
amount each month regardless of the number of cases.  The total district wide professional 
fees collected by the District One Medical Examiner for fiscal year 2018 is $824,842.   

1



All other costs are directly reimbursed by each of the counties except the salary for the Chief 
Medical Examiner (CME) and the salary for the Associate Medical Examiner (AME) which is 
currently vacant. The salaries for the CME and AME are derived from the professional fees.  
All other employment related expenses / costs (taxes, 401K and insurance) for the CME and 
AME are reimbursed monthly as a part of the employee costs and are not subject to 
professional fees.  After reviewing payments, the last pay period that costs were reimbursed 
for the AME was November 17, 2017.  As of January 26, 2018, per payroll information, the 
Medical Examiner’s Office employs twelve people excluding the CME. 

Reimbursable Costs 

Reimbursable costs include the salaries for 12 employees, excluding the CME, 401K match 
of 9% for 10 employees including the CME, health insurance for 7 employees including the 
CME, and LandrumHR costs for all 13 employees including the CME.  LandrumHR costs 
include paid time off, FICA, FUTA, and SUTA taxes, worker’s compensation and a 
management fee.   All employee costs except the salary of the CME are directly reimbursed 
monthly by all four counties based on detailed documentation provided by the Medical 
Examiner’s Office.   

All operating costs are also reimbursed by the counties each month based on detailed 
documentation provided by the Medical Examiner’s Office.  These costs include but are not 
limited to rent, utilities, cellular phones, office supplies, software, all medical equipment and 
supplies, mileage, tolls, membership dues, professional services (CPA) and postage.  
Employee costs, salaries and operating expenses reimbursed by Okaloosa County appear to 
be in compliance with the contract. 

Professional Services Fees 

The fixed amount paid monthly by each county for professional fees includes the salary for 
the CME and AME which is currently vacant. 

The Professional fees for FY 2018 totaled $824,842, across the entire District.  Okaloosa 
County will pay a total of $214,459 for professional fees in FY 2018. 

According to Florida Statute 406.06(3), district medical examiners and associate medical 
examiners shall be entitled to compensation and such reasonable salary and fees as are 
established by the board of county commissioners in the respective districts. In our review 
of the contracts and financial documentation, we were unable to readily determine the salary 
amount of the Chief Medical Examiner.  

Recommendations 

We recommend that the Okaloosa County Board of County Commissioners and other 
interested parties amend the contract for the Medical Examiner to include a right to audit 
clause and require the Medical Examiner to provide audited financial statements annually. 

2



Exhibits 

Exhibit A: Okaloosa County FY 2018 Contract 
Exhibit B: Okaloosa County January 2018 Monthly Invoices with Employee Costs 

3



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT B 



EXHIBIT B 



EXHIBIT B 



EXHIBIT B 



EXHIBIT B 



EXHIBIT B 







From: Michael Adkinson
To: Culbertson, Doug; sheriff@sheriff-okaloosa.org
Cc: Jerry Bryan
Subject: RE: Reappointment of District 1 Medical Examiner
Date: Thursday, April 05, 2018 1:18:49 PM
Attachments: image001.png

Mr. Culbertson,
 
The attached PDF is being returned by my assistant. To make sure there is not a misunderstanding I
do NOT recommend Dr. Minyard be re-appointed. Our citizens would be better served with a change
in administration more conducive to assiting them as opposed to an 800K + salary. We could hire to
two more assistant medical examiners to be located in Okaloosa Co.
 

From: Culbertson, Doug [mailto:DougCulbertson@fdle.state.fl.us] 
Sent: Wednesday, April 4, 2018 1:27 PM
To: Michael Adkinson <madkinson@waltonso.org>
Subject: Reappointment of District 1 Medical Examiner
 
Good Afternoon,
 
The gubernatorial appointment term of the district medical examiner in District 1 (Escambia,
Okaloosa, Santa Rosa and Walton counties) will expire on July 1, 2018.  Pursuant to
Florida Administrative Code, the Medical Examiners Commission will consider
recommending to the Governor the incumbent, Andrea N. Minyard, M.D., or other qualified
candidates for this appointment.  We are asking for your input so the Commission can
make an informed decision.
 
This topic will be scheduled for discussion at the 2018 Spring Commission Meeting.  Please
complete the attached Reappointment Ballot Form and return it by March 30, 2018 to staff
member Doug Culbertson at dougculbertson@fdle.state.fl.us or at the address above. 
Please provide a favorable or unfavorable response to the recommendation for Dr.
Minyard’s reappointment.  The Commission will also consider nominations of other qualified
candidates, if submitted.
 
We would appreciate a response by Tuesday, April 10, 2018.
 
If you have any questions or wish to discuss your input, please contact Commission staff at
(850) 410-8600.
 
Sincerely,
 
Doug Culbertson
FDLE

mailto:DougCulbertson@fdle.state.fl.us
mailto:lashley@sheriff-okaloosa.org
mailto:bryjerry@waltonso.org
mailto:dougculbertson@fdle.state.fl.us





































How do you rate the quality of medical examiner services provided in your district? Please select one 
option  below and provide comments regarding your selection. 

Favorable  /0  
Please give suggestions for improvement. 

Unfavorable ❑ 

Please give reasons for negative response 

on now taite.5 	rcceiqc 	i nctj ea-456 c 
to 	

The 3avic0, 	it-Y) It)-91 eCilterttle 

nwlek a clea-tii eel+ icoit l  
iwci 	Tarnitto.mci ,Atirle(a. 

MEDICAL EXAMINERS COMMISSION 

Recommendation for Reappointment 

District 1 Medical Examiner 

Andrea N. Minyard, M.D. 

No Opinion ❑ 

Please explain your response. 

Completed by: 

Signature: 

Name: 

foe ■-.) r---)c)(10  Date: 	•  62 

Agency Name: 

Agency Address: 

Tracy Morton Mem. Chapel 
55 Coast Rd 

Pensacola, 032507 
Return Completed Form to: 

Doug Culbertson via Email: dougculbertson@fdle.state.fl.us  

Or mail to: 

Medical Examiners Commission 
Florida Department of Law Enforcement 

Post Office Box 1489 
Tallahassee, Florida 32302-1489 

Service Integrity • Respect • Quality 





MEC Meeting Minutes 
May 4, 2018 
Page 3 
 
 
Because of the length of time for quality checks, she requested that the districts provide their data as 
soon as it was complete and not wait until the submission deadline. 
 
• 2018 Legislative Session – Mr. Jim Martin informed the Commission the following bills of interest 
passed during the 2018 Legislative Session:  
 

Controlled Substance Prescribing – PDMP – This provides medical examiners with indirect access 
to the Prescription Drug Monitoring Program.  Medical examiners conducting an authorized 
investigation pursuant to s. 406.11, F.S., may request information from the PDMP through a 
program manager within the Department of Health.  It was signed by the Governor on March 19th, 
becoming Chapter 2018-013, Laws of Florida, with an effective date of July 1, 2018.  

 
Varnadoe Forensic Research Center – This project establishes a forensic anthropology research 
facility in Pasco County.  It was included in the final budget approved by the Governor. 
 

 
ISSUE NUMBER 2: REAPPOINTMENT NOMINATIONS FOR DISTRICTS 1, 2, 5 and 6, AND 
ASSESSMENT FOR DISTRICT 3 
 
The Commission reviewed the constituent surveys for the reappointments of district medical 
examiners in District 1 (Escambia, Okaloosa, Santa Rosa, and Walton counties), District 2 (Franklin, 
Gadsden, Jefferson, Leon, Liberty, Taylor, and Wakulla counties), District 5 (Citrus, Hernando, Lake, 
Marion, and Sumter counties), and District 6 (Pasco and Pinellas counties).   
 
District 3 (Columbia, Hamilton, Lafayette, Madison, and Suwannee counties) is serviced by Districts 2 
and 4 and the constituents of these counties received assessments for the services provided.  District 
4 Medical Examiner Valerie J. Rao, M.D., is retiring in early July 2018, and was not considered for 
reappointment.  Additionally, District 7 is Home Rule and appointed a new medical examiner (Sara H. 
Zydowicz, D.O.) effective April 2, 2018, so assessments were not provided to that district. 
 
Several Commission members expressed concerns with the survey results received in District 1; 
especially that three of the four sheriffs had provided unfavorable recommendations.  The 
Commission opened the floor for discussion regarding the reappointment of District 1 Medical 
Examiner, Andrea N. Minyard, M.D.  
 
Okaloosa County Sheriff Larry Ashley addressed the Commission and provided a brief historical 
overview from his perspective relating to the medical examiner services provided.  Between 2011 and 
2012, all four sheriffs and the State Attorney met to discuss concerns with slow response times from 
the medical examiner’s office, delays in body recoveries, and autopsies not being performed.  Based 
on discussions with Dr. Minyard, all four sheriffs lobbied their respective county commissions to 
increase the medical examiner’s budget in an effort to address these concerns. 
 
In 2015, when the Commission again was soliciting feedback for reappointment of Dr. Minyard, Sheriff 
Ashley stated he initial provided an unfavorable recommendation as the issues identified in 2011-2012 
had not been addressed.  He met with Dr. Minyard to express his concerns, and she stated that she 
would look into centralizing the medical examiner’s office in the circuit.  As the Fort Walton Beach 
medical examiner facility in Okaloosa County was unusable, Dr. Minyard would hire more staff to 
include an Associate Medical Examiner, but she would need additional funding.  Sheriff Ashley stated 
that he again lobbied the County Commission to again increase the medical examiner’s budget.   
 



MEC Meeting Minutes 
May 4, 2018 
Page 4 
 
 
Sheriff Ashley went on to say that 3 years later in 2018, nothing has changed.  The issues and 
concerns expressed in 2011-2012 and 2015 are still present.  Despite more funding, there is no 
Associate Medical Examiner, the office is still located in the most Western part of the Circuit 
(Pensacola) with no indication of relocation or opening a satellite office in the Eastern part of the 
Circuit, response times to scenes are slow or no response at all, and cases are being declined that 
are suspicious or drug overdoses.  Sheriff Ashley stated that Dr. Minyard told the Okaloosa Board of 
County Commissioners that she was not a public official.  In summary, Sheriff Ashley stated that while 
Dr. Minyard is a competent pathologist, he has lost trust in her.  Dr. Nelson stated for the record that 
Dr. Minyard and all District Medical Examiners are public officials.  Dr. Nelson asked Sheriff Ashley to 
provide Commission staff with the Sheriff’s Office case numbers of those calls-for-service where 
medical examiner jurisdiction was declined in suspicious deaths. 
 
Okaloosa County Comptroller and Clerk of Courts J.D. Peacock stated the he is working with the other 
three counties (Escambia, Santa Rosa, and Walton) to conduct an internal audit of the funding of the 
medical examiner’s office.  Each county has been paying for services without knowledge of the other 
counties funding.  However, he has had issues in obtaining the documents necessary to conduct the 
audit.  Once those documents are received, the audit should conclude within a couple of months. 
 
Okaloosa County Board of County Commissioners Chairman Hon. Graham Fountain said that this is 
not a good situation.  He stated that the counties are partially to blame in that they have not been 
watchful of the funds they appropriated to the District Medical Examiner.  Mr. Fountain stated that 
funds are in the current budget to lease space for a centralized or satellite facility.  He is willing to work 
with Dr. Minyard to find space.  Mr. Fountain also stated that future contracts would be handled 
differently and would hopefully have a single managing county to coordinate between the four 
counties in the circuit. 
 
Dr. Minyard’s attorney, T.A. “Ted” Borows,ki Jr., stated that Dr. Minyard never told the county they 
cannot have the documents they have requested to support the contract.  The contract is composed 
of 3-4 categories that are actual reimbursement of expenditures and professional fees.  The 
professional fees are a flat rate charged for autopsies and other work performed by the pathologists.  
This will be the same fee regardless of the number of autopsies, external examinations, or case 
investigations performed, so in the event of a hurricane, the fees paid by the counties will not 
increase.  Mr. Borowski stated that how Dr. Minyard spends the money she receives through the 
professional fees is her business, just as salary received by any other employee.  He stated the issue 
of contention with the counties is how much Dr. Minyard is compensated. 
 
Walton County Sheriff’s Office Major Donald Clark was present on behalf of Sheriff Michael Adkinson.  
He stated the Walton County SO has the same basic concerns outlined by Sheriff Ashley.  He would 
also provide staff with the case numbers for jurisdiction declined suspicious deaths. 
 
Santa Rosa County Sheriff’s Office Captain Doug Brugmans was present on behalf of Sheriff Robert 
Johnson.  He stated that Sheriff Johnson is also concerned with the monetary and transparency 
issues of the medical examiner’s office. 
 
Dr. Minyard stated that misinformation regarding her fees is rampant.  She has offered to renegotiate 
her contract with the counties.  The current contract includes pass-through costs that are line item 
reimbursements.  The professional fees cover the cost for the pathologists.  She had an Associate 
Medical Examiner from 2015 through late 2017.  She hopes to have new Associate Medical Examiner 
in July.  Dr. Minyard stated she is good with either a single medical examiner facility located centrally 
in Santa Rosa County, or another satellite facility in Okaloosa County.  She further stated that she 
was planning on taking Dr. Nelson’s advice to increase communication with the district constituents. 



MEC Meeting Minutes 
May 4, 2018 
Page 5 
 
 
Dr. Minyard indicated that 77% of Okaloosa County Sheriff’s Office cases are accepted.  Additionally 
her policy is that the office will accept all cases without an established medical history.  Dr. Nelson 
asked if all jurisdiction declined cases were reviewed by a medical examiner.  Dr. Minyard indicated 
that all but the hospice cases were reviewed by a medical examiner.  Dr. Nelson stated that all 
jurisdiction declined cases (including hospice cases) should be reviewed by the District or Associate 
Medical Examiner and not only an investigator or office personnel. 
 
Dr. Minyard concluded by stating that she was willing to continue to serve as District Medical 
Examiner so that there would be no interruption of services regardless of the outcome today, and that 
she welcomed the audits and would provide the financial documents as requested. 
 
Dr. Wolf commented that the sheriffs had several cases that the Commission needs to review prior to 
making any decision. 
 
Mr. Wesley H. Heidt stated that in addition to those cases, the audit being conducted by the counties 
needs to be completed, provided they are given the necessary documents.  Dr. Nelson asked Dr. 
Minyard if everything was run through her Professional Association (P.A.) and she indicated it was.  
Dr. Nelson requested that she provide those requested P.A. tax returns to the counties by the end of 
the next week (May 11, 2018). 
 
A MOTION WAS MADE, SECONDED AND PASSED UNANIMOUSLY TO TABLE DR. MINYARD’S 
REAPPOINTMENT DECISION UNTIL THE NEXT COMMISSION MEETING.  
 
This would allow the Commission an opportunity to review information relating to cases where 
jurisdiction was declined, allow the counties to complete their audit, and allow the Commission to 
review those findings.  Additionally, Dr. Nelson agreed to participate in a committee made up of the 
First Circuit State Attorney, the four Sheriffs, and representatives from the four county commissions to 
discuss possible resolutions of their concerns with the District 1 Medical Examiner before the Medical 
Examiners Commission will make a decision on reappointment. 
 
The Commission reviewed the reappointment surveys for Districts 2, 5, and 6, and voted separately 
on each district.  Mr. Siegmeister indicated that he was in favor of the reappointment of Dr. Stewart in 
District 2, and apologized for not returning his ballot prior to the meeting. 
 
WITH NO FURTHER DISCUSSION, A MOTION WAS MADE, SECONDED AND PASSED 
UNANIMOUSLY TO RECOMMEND THE GOVERNOR REAPPOINT DAVID T. STEWART, M.D., AS 
THE DISTRICT 2 MEDICAL EXAMINER.  NO OTHER NAMES WERE SUBMITTED FOR 
CONSIDERATION IN THIS DISTRICT. 
  
WITH NO FURTHER DISCUSSION, A MOTION WAS MADE, SECONDED AND PASSED TO 
RECOMMEND THE GOVERNOR REAPPOINT BARBARA C. WOLF, M.D., AS THE DISTRICT 5 
MEDICAL EXAMINER.  NO OTHER NAMES WERE SUBMITTED FOR CONSIDERATION IN THIS 
DISTRICT.  Dr. Wolf recused herself from this vote. 
 
WITH NO FURTHER DISCUSSION, A MOTION WAS MADE, SECONDED AND PASSED 
UNANIMOUSLY TO RECOMMEND THE GOVERNOR REAPPOINT JON R. THOGMARTIN, M.D., 
AS THE DISTRICT 6 MEDICAL EXAMINER.  NO OTHER NAMES WERE SUBMITTED FOR 
CONSIDERATION IN THIS DISTRICT. 
 
The Commission also reviewed the survey assessments for District 3 (Columbia, Hamilton, Lafayette, 
Madison, and Suwannee counties).   







DEPARTMENT OF INSPECTOR GENERAL 
OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA 

JD PEACOCK II, CLERK OF CIRCUIT COURT AND COMPTROLLER 
 

 
601B N PEARL STREET  ●  CRESTVIEW, FLORIDA  32536  ● (850) 689-5000 Extension 3421 

 

 

 
 
 
 

July 03, 2018 
 
To:  Chairman, Board of County Commissioners 
 Escambia, Santa Rosa, Okaloosa, and Walton Counties  
 
Honorable Chairmen,  
 
Please find attached our report on the audit of the District One Medical Examiner’s Office. 
The goal of our work was to assist the counties and public to fully understand the financial 
operations of the District One Medical Examiner’s Office, identify areas for improvement, and 
make meaningful recommendations to improve fiscal accountability.  
 
Our work was a cooperative effort of all four Clerk’s offices within the District. Our audit 
resulted in six findings with correlated recommendations for improvement. We noted 
opportunities for budgetary, contractual, and workload improvements.   
 
Should you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact our office.  
 
 
Respectfully, 
 
 
 
Brad E. Embry, Inspector General 
  
 
 
 
CC: Dr. Andrea Minyard, District Medical Examiner 

Jeffrey B. Martin, Director of Operations, D 1 ME 
County Clerk of Courts, Escambia, Santa Rosa, Okaloosa, and Walton Counties 
County Administrators, Escambia, Santa Rosa, Okaloosa, and Walton Counties 
Sam Scallan, Internal Auditor, Santa Rosa County Clerk of Court 
Johnny Street, Internal Auditor, Walton County Clerk of Court 
 



OKALOOSA COUNTY 

CLERK OF THE CIRCUIT COURT 

AND COMPTROLLER 

 

Department of INSPECTOR GENERAL 

 

 

 

REPORT ON AUDIT OF DISTRICT ONE MEDICAL 

EXAMINER  

 

 

REPORT NO. BCC-18-01 

REPORT ISSUED JULY 3, 2018 

 

 

REPORT ISSUED BY: BRAD E. EMBRY, INSPECTOR GENERAL 

AUDITORS: JAMIE WOLFE, CPA AND ANDREW THURMAN  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Table of Contents 
Executive Summary ................................................................................................................................... 2 

Background .............................................................................................................................................. 3 

Scope and Methodology .......................................................................................................................... 4 

Scope Limitations .................................................................................................................................... 4 

Objectives ................................................................................................................................................. 5 

Revenue .................................................................................................................................................... 6 

Cost Reimbursements (Salary and Employee Costs)........................................................................ 6 

Cremation Authorization Fees ........................................................................................................... 7 

Revenue from Other Government Agencies ...................................................................................... 9 

District Medical Examiner Compensation ........................................................................................... 11 

Annual Workload Report Comparison ................................................................................................ 12 

2016 Annual Workload Report Comparison ................................................................................... 12 

2015 Annual Workload Report Comparison ................................................................................... 13 

Workload ................................................................................................................................................ 14 

Use of District Resources .................................................................................................................. 16 

Expenditures .......................................................................................................................................... 16 

Reimbursed Expenses ....................................................................................................................... 17 

Unreimbursed Expenses ................................................................................................................... 19 

Contract and Budget Compliance ......................................................................................................... 20 

Contract Compliance ......................................................................................................................... 20 

Budget Compliance............................................................................................................................ 21 

Findings and Recommendations .......................................................................................................... 23 

Management Response ………………………………………………………………………………………………………(Attached)  

Inspector General Response……………………………………………………………………………………………….(Attached)  

Exhibits………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..(Attached) 

 

  



Audit of District One Medical Examiner   Date: July 03, 2018 

2 
 

Executive Summary 

 We have conducted a financial and operational audit of the District One Medical Examiner’s 

Office (DMEO). Much of our work covered an eighteen-month span (October 01, 2016 

through March 31, 2018) with some noted exceptions. The goal of our work was to assist the 

counties and public to fully understand the financial operations of the DMEO, identify areas 

for improvement, and make meaningful recommendations to improve fiscal accountability.   

Our work resulted in six findings with correlated recommendations for improvement. We 

noted opportunities for budgetary, contractual, and workload improvements.   

The DMEO, in accordance with Florida Statute, provides an annual budget to each of the 

counties in the district. We believe the budget is not comprehensive, as it fails to provide 

anticipated revenue generated as part of the District Medical Examiner’s (DME) position as 

a public officer. The fees for services include report and photograph reproduction fees, 

cremation authorization fees as well as fees being charges to other state agencies for medical 

examiner services.  

The DMEO has statutory authority to bill Florida Department of Corrections for cases 

involving in-custody deaths. The medical examiner charges a flat rate professional fee for 

these services, billed to FDOC’s private health services contractor. The counties in the district 

are not receiving financial credit for DMEO resources being utilized to fulfill contractual 

services to FDOC.  

In Florida, a person’s remains cannot be cremated until a legally authorized person gives 

written authorization. The DMEO charges and collects a $40 fee for cremation 

authorizations, generating $197,840.00 in revenue during the eighteen-month audit period. 

Counties should ensure the cremation fees are being utilized for their intended purpose, not 

personal compensation for the DME.   

We noted instances where DMEO costs are being reimbursed by the counties without 

sufficient supporting documentation. We noted several instances of professional fees being 

utilized for expenses which do not appear to serve a public purpose. The DME workload, 

when no associate medical examiner is employed, appears excessive.  



Audit of District One Medical Examiner   Date: July 03, 2018 

3 
 

Background 

Chapter 406 of Florida Statutes, also known as the Medical Examiners Act, establishes the 

Medical Examiners Commission (MEC) within the Florida Department of Law Enforcement 

(FDLE). The MEC is made up of nine total members (seven members appointed by the 

Governor, one member appointed by the Attorney General, and one member appointed by 

the State Surgeon General). The MEC is responsible for initiating cooperative policies with 

any agency or political subdivision of the state, removal and or suspension of district medical 

examiners, investigating allegations of violations of the Medical Examiners Act and 

overseeing the distribution of state funds and state contracts for the medical examiner 

districts. The State of Florida is currently divided into 25 medical examiner districts. The 

MEC is tasked with ensuring minimal and uniform standards of excellence, performance of 

duties, and maintenance of records regarding causative factors of deaths investigated by the 

medical examiner districts in the state. In addition, the MEC provides recommendations for 

appointment of district medical examiners to the Governor. The Medical Examiners Act 

establishes that district medical examiners are appointed by the Governor to three-year 

terms. Fees, salaries and expenses related to the district medical examiner may be paid from 

the general funds or any other funds under the control of the board of county commissioners. 

Furthermore, the district medical examiner is required to submit an annual budget to the 

board of county commissioners. 

In accordance with Section 406.06(5), Fla. Stat., district medical examiners and associate 

medical examiners are public officers as defined in Section 112.3145, Fla. Stat. District 

Medical Examiners are regulated by Florida Statutes, Florida Administrative Code, Practice 

Guidelines for Florida Medical Examiners, and individual office policies and procedures.   

District One is made up of four counties: Escambia, Santa Rosa, Okaloosa and Walton. A 

preliminary review of the contracts with the District One Medical Examiner’s Office (DMEO) 

conducted by our office in March of 2018, revealed that Dr. Andrea Minyard, District Medical 

Examiner (DME) is the director and sole shareholder of Gulf Coast Autopsy Physicians, P.A. 

(GCAP), a for profit corporation. The DME is a public officer contracted to provide medical 

examiner services to the various counties in the district. Presently, each county in the district 

has an independent contractual / business relationship with the DME. Payments from all 



Audit of District One Medical Examiner   Date: July 03, 2018 

4 
 

four counties in the district related to cost reimbursements and professional fees associated 

with the DMEO are made payable to GCAP. The DME is statutorily required to provide the 

Board of County Commissioners with an annual budget. Costs associated with the operation 

of the DMEO are divided among the counties based on caseload from the previous year.       

Scope and Methodology 

This audit was conducted by the Okaloosa County Clerk of Circuit Court, Department of 

Inspector General (IG) which serves as an independent function within the Okaloosa County 

Clerk of Circuit Court. The audit of the District One Medical Examiner’s Office (DMEO) was 

conducted in accordance with a uniform effort from all four Clerk’s offices in the district. 

Following a cursory review of the Medical Examiner’s contracts and yearly budget, questions 

were raised concerning the use of professional fees paid by each of the counties in the 

district. The audit period covered an 18-month period (October 01, 2016 to March 31, 2018) 

with some noted exceptions in the report. This audit was conducted in accordance with 

Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing promulgated by the Institute of 

Internal Auditors, general accepted principles and quality standards approved by the 

Association of Inspectors General. 

During the course of the audit we reviewed: Florida Statutes; Florida Administrative Codes; 

Medical Examiners Commission Annual Reports for 2015 and 2016; The Florida Association 

of Medical Examiners, Practice Guidelines for Florida Medical Examiners; Contracts for 

Medical Examiner Services for Okaloosa, Santa Rosa and Escambia Counties; and District One 

Medical Examiner Policies and Procedures.  

We received, reviewed and analyzed a copy of the District One Medical Examiner’s 

QuickBooks files.  

We also reviewed proposed budgets from Okaloosa, Santa Rosa and Escambia Counties.  As 

well as monthly billings from all four counties. 

Scope Limitations 

As stated earlier, the District Medical Examiner (DME) is a public officer, contracted to 

provide medical examiner services to Escambia, Santa Rosa, Okaloosa, and Walton counties. 



Audit of District One Medical Examiner   Date: July 03, 2018 

5 
 

The DME is operating as Gulf Coast Autopsy Physicians, P.A., a for profit corporation. Upon 

receipt of our letter of intent to audit, dated April 10, 2018, the DME engaged legal counsel. 

The DME, through her legal counsel, refused to provide certain records and disputed the 

Counties’ right to audit, despite contractual language allowing for such. The initial request 

for records was made during an April 17, 2018 audit entrance meeting. During this meeting 

we requested several items, to include: two years’ worth of year-end financial statements 

(2016 and 2017), a copy of the Intuit QuickBooks files, business tax filings (2016 and 2017) 

and a copy of DMEO policies and procedures. The DME, through legal counsel, initially 

refused to provide any of the requested documentation. The meeting was followed up with 

a written public records request. The DME eventually relinquished a digital copy of their 

Intuit QuickBooks files, a portion of their 2017 tax statement and a copy of DMEO policies 

and procedures as well as a portion of the requested information.  

Objectives 

The objectives of this audit were to:  

1. Ensure openness and transparency in all aspects of financial operations associated 

with the District One Medical Examiner’s Office.  

2. Identify all sources of income and revenue obtained and utilized by the District One 

Medical Examiner’s Office. 

3. Determine the total amount and sources of compensation being received by the 

District Medical Examiner.  

4. Evaluate the annual workload of the District One Medical Examiner’s Office as it 

relates to other districts in the state.   

5. Evaluate expenditures, operating costs and reimbursable costs submitted by the 

District One Medical Examiner’s Office for reasonableness.     

6. Determine if the District One Medical Examiner’s Office’s financial operations and 

activities were in accordance with the terms and conditions of existing contracts, 

applicable Florida statutes and existing county ordinances. 

7. Evaluate the current contracts and agreements with the District One Medical 

Examiner’s Office to ensure proper and adequate terms and conditions exist. In areas 



Audit of District One Medical Examiner   Date: July 03, 2018 

6 
 

where deficiencies may exist, provide suitable recommendations to counties in the 

district.     

Revenue  

During the audit period, approximately $2.48 million in revenue entered the District One 

Medical Examiner’s Office (DMEO). This amount includes all payments made to the DME for 

Professional Fees, Employee Salaries, Employee / Reimbursable Costs, Cremation Fees, 

Report Fees, Expert Witness Fees and Florida Department of Corrections Fees. Detailed 

information is outlined in Exhibit A.   

Figure 1: The table below depicts DME income by type.  

 

Cost Reimbursements (Salary and Employee Costs) 

The four counties have entered into separate contractual / financial agreements with the 

DMEO. The DMEO submits an annual budget to each Board of County Commissioners which 

includes the professional fees and expense reimbursements for that specific county, plus that 

county’s portion of costs that are split across multiple counties.   



Audit of District One Medical Examiner   Date: July 03, 2018 

7 
 

Professional fees, in part, make up the salary of the DME and any Associate Medical Examiner 

(AME). These fees are a fixed amount that is paid to the DMEO monthly. Expense 

reimbursements are charged as they are incurred and constitute 100% of the DMEO’s 

operating expenses. Invoices for reimbursements are sent to the counties along with copies 

of the original vendor invoices paid by the ME.  

During our examination period, the DME collected Professional Fees totaling $1,143,242.03. 

Expense reimbursements related to employee salaries and benefits for the same period 

totaled $1,026,205.43. 

Cremation Authorization Fees 

The DMEO currently charges a $40 fee for each non-indigent cremation authorization. 

During the examination period, the DME collected $197,840 for cremation authorizations. 

Those fees are passed on to customers. No unreimbursed expenses directly relate to the 

production of this income. All employee costs and employee salaries are directly reimbursed 

by counties in the district. Additionally, the counties in the district reimburse all operating 

costs, to include office supplies.  

Section 497.607(1), Fla. Stat., states in part: “… A cremation may not be performed until a 

legally authorized person gives written authorization, which may include the declaration of 

intent to dispose of the cremated remains, for such cremation.” The statute does not 

authorize a collection of fees for such services.  

Florida Attorney General Advisory Legal Opinion (AGO) 2003-57, (Exhibit B) issued on 

December 15, 2003 addresses the issues of District Medical Examiners charging cremation 

authorization fees.  AGO 2003-57 states: 

 
You ask whether the medical examiner's office is authorized to charge the public a 
cremation authorization fee. 

  
Medical examiners, like other public officers, have no legal claim for official services 
rendered, except when, and to the extent that, compensation is provided by law, and 
when no compensation is so provided rendition of such services is deemed to be 
gratuitous. 
 



Audit of District One Medical Examiner   Date: July 03, 2018 

8 
 

I am aware of no authority in Chapter 406, or elsewhere in the statutes, for the medical 
examiner to charge a cremation authorization fee. In the absence of any such statutory 
authorization, it is my opinion that this service is to be provided without charge to the 
public as a service of the office. 

 Some Medical Examiner Districts in Florida have local ordinances authorizing the collection 

of cremation authorization fees. Typically, income from the cremation authorization fees is 

used to offset operational and salary expenses of the medical examiner’s office thus reducing 

the total amount paid by the counties or municipalities in their district.  

Our office verified the adoption of resolutions in all four counties in the district in 2012: 

Escambia County Resolution 2012-000422 (adopted May 03, 2012), Santa Rosa Resolution 

2012 -22 (adopted April 26, 2011), Okaloosa County Resolution 12-60 (adopted April 17, 

2012), Walton Resolution 2012-17 (adopted April 24, 2012).  

All four resolutions state: “…WHEREAS, establishing a cremation authorization fee will serve 

to offset expenses of the Medical Examiner and reduce the County’s annual budget allocation 

necessary to maintain such services…” 

The annual budgets provided to the counties in the district by the DMEO in no way reflect 

this revenue source or how the funds are expensed. The DMEO maintains a separate 

“cremation fee” account from which periodic transfers are made into the GCAP checking 

account.   

Figure 2: Total Cremation Fees Collected by County during Audit Period.  

 



Audit of District One Medical Examiner   Date: July 03, 2018 

9 
 

Revenue from Other Government Agencies 

As indicated earlier in the report, we identified several sources of revenue being obtained by 

the DMEO. In some instances, the services being rendered place a burden on the DMEO 

resources to include staff and supplies. It does not appear the revenue being generated from 

these services is being utilized to offset to overall cost of operating the DMEO.  

Expert Witness Fees 

Per Section 406.09 Fla. Stat., District medical examiners or associate medical examiners shall 

be entitled to expert witness fees as provided by law. DMEO records indicate funds received 

were for court testimony, depositions, mileage reimbursement, and preparation time. 

During the examination period, the DMEO received: 

$19,377.15 from the State Attorney’s office.  

$2,385.60 from the Public Defender offices across the four counties. 

$1,795.85 from the Attorney General 

$1,291.20 from Regional Conflict Counsel of Escambia and Walton counties. 

Florida Department of Corrections 

During the examination period, the ME received $89,277.37 from the Florida Department of 

Corrections (FDOC). These funds were billed to, and paid by, Centurion of Florida LLC. FDOC 

has an active contract with Centurion to provide medical services in certain FDOC facilities 

throughout the state. All FDOC facilities within District One Medical Examiner fall under this 

contract. The flat rate fees charged to FDOC are entered into the DMEO’s accounting system 

as Professional Fees.  

Per Section 406.08(4) Fla. Stat., “if an examination, investigation, or autopsy is performed by 

the district medical examiner or his or her associate upon the body of a person who died 

while in the custody of a facility or institution operated by a state agency, that state agency 

shall pay for such services and for any costs of transporting the body to the district medical 

examiner.”   

The DMEO charges Centurion a flat rate of $2,200 for all autopsies, investigations, and 

observations. This amount includes “Medical Examiner, Morgue Personnel salaries, Body 



Audit of District One Medical Examiner   Date: July 03, 2018 

10 
 

Removal Fees, Toxicology/Histology Fees.” The salaries of all DMEO employees, all supplies, 

and all morgue expenses are fully reimbursed by the four counties. The counties do not 

receive a credit or deduction for the expenses related to FDOC cases. 

Private Report/Reproduction Fees 

The DMEO charges $5 for the reproduction of autopsy records on CD and a $10 “service fee” 

for all such requests. During the examination period, The DMEO received a total of $210 for 

private record reproduction and service fees.  

Florida Statute 406.135 states that certain relatives of a deceased person, and anyone 

authorized by a court order, shall be permitted to view and make copies of photographs or 

video/audio recordings of an autopsy. Attorney General Opinion 2003-57 advises that when 

an individual is authorized to view or makes copies of an autopsy recording, “copies of 

autopsy photographs should be provided at the cost authorized in Section 119.07(1)(a), 

Florida Statutes, whether that is the "actual cost of duplication" or, under appropriate 

circumstances, the special service charge for the use of information technology resources.” 

Section 119.07 Fla. Stat. does not specify an authorized charge for digital copies of public 

records, so they should be charged at the actual cost of reproduction.  

Blank CDs cost approximately 60 cents each, and the DMEO charges $5 for this reproduction. 

The ME also charges $10 for a “service fee”. Section 119.07 Fla. Stat. authorizes a special 

service charge in addition to the cost of reproduction when “the nature or volume of public 

records requested to be inspected or copied pursuant to this subsection is such as to require 

extensive use of information technology resources or extensive clerical or supervisory 

assistance by personnel of the agency involved.”  

Fees charged for copies of public records are intended for reimbursing the cost of producing 

these records. Because all employee salaries, office supplies (blank CDs), and the cost of 

computer equipment are fully reimbursed by the counties, the DMEO is reimbursed twice by 

charging these fees. 



Audit of District One Medical Examiner   Date: July 03, 2018 

11 
 

Other – Private Attorneys 

During the examination period, the DMEO collected $10,375 for services provided to private 

attorneys in the four counties. This income was for depositions, testimony, travel time, 

mileage and preparation. Per Section 406.09 Fla. Stat., District medical examiners or 

associate medical examiners shall be entitled to expert witness fees as provided by law.  

District Medical Examiner Compensation 

Section 406.06(3), Fla. Stat., states “district medical examiners and associate medical 

examiners shall be entitled to compensation and such reasonable salary and fees as are 

established by the board of county commissioners in the respective districts.”  

The current contracts in the district do not clearly define the salary or fees of either the 

district medical examiner or associate medical examiner(s). The DMEO suggests that 

“professional fees” are to be utilized for the salaries of the district medical examiner and 

associate medical examiner. The total compensation is not readily available and required a 

great deal of research. The information listed below does not include Dr. Minyard’s claim on 

the cash assets held by GCAP at the end of the audit period (March 31,2018), which totaled 

$459,706.60. Dr. Minyard is the sole shareholder and owner of GCAP.  

During the audit period (October 01, 2016 to March 31, 2018) Dr. Minyard received personal 

compensation as listed below:  

 

Salary Draw (Landrum) $ 300,000.17  
GCAP Shareholder Distributions  $ 601,572.95  
Bonuses  $ 56,084.79  
County / District Paid Benefits  $ 29,477.65  
County / District Paid Ancillary  $ 22,558.34 
Total Compensation  $1,009,693.90 
  

During the audit period, Dr. Minyard’s average annual compensation totaled $673,129.26 

which includes a yearly average of $19,661.76 in county / district paid 401k contributions 

and health insurance premiums as well as $15,038.89 in county / district paid ancillary costs. 

Ancillary costs include federal taxes and Landrum fees.  During the audit period (18 Months) 

counties in the district paid a total of $1,143,242.03 in professional fees.  



Audit of District One Medical Examiner   Date: July 03, 2018 

12 
 

Annual Workload Report Comparison 

As part of our audit we collected and compared data from the 2015 and 2016 Florida Medical 

Examiners Commission’s Annual Reports. Medical Examiners in each district are responsible 

for providing workload data to the commission in accordance with Rule 11G-2.001(5)(d), 

Florida Administrative Code. The Annual Reports are typically published in October for the 

preceding year. At the time of our comparison we utilized the two most recent years 

available, 2015 and 2016. We conducted comparisons utilizing the information published in 

the reports. The number of Medical Examiner districts increased from 24 in 2015 to 25 in 

2016. We make no determination as to whether or not the DMEO declined cases which 

should have been accepted.    

2016 Annual Workload Report Comparison 

According to the 2016 Annual Report, the District One Medical Examiner’s Office (DMEO) 

was referred 3,066 cases (excluding cremation authorizations) which represents the 4th 

largest referral rating in the state. The statewide average case referral across all 25 districts 

was 1,894 (excluding cremation authorizations). The DMEO declined jurisdiction on a total 

of 2,216 or 72.28% of the cases referred to their office. The statewide average for the number 

of cases in which jurisdiction was declined was 41.17% in 2016. The DMEO had the highest 

rate of declined jurisdiction across all 25 medical examiner districts in the State. Likewise, 

the 2016 case acceptance rate for the DMEO was determined to be the lowest in the state. 

The DMEO accepted 27.72% or 850 of the total cases referred to their office (excluding 

cremation authorizations). The statewide average for the number of accepted cases was 

58.83%.  

There were 629 violent deaths reported to the DMEO in 2016. The DMEO performed a total 

of 463 autopsies or 54.47% of the 850 accepted cases. The remaining 45.53% of accepted 

cases resulted 81 observations and 306 investigations being conducted by the DMEO.  

 

 

 



Audit of District One Medical Examiner   Date: July 03, 2018 

13 
 

Figure 3: 2016 Florida Medical Examiner Commission workload data from all 25 districts in Florida.  

 

2015 Annual Workload Report Comparison 

According to the 2015 Annual Report, the District One Medical Examiner’s Office (DMEO) 

was referred 3,415 cases (excluding cremation authorizations) which represents the 5th 

highest referral rating in the state. The statewide average case referral across all 24 districts 

was 1,872 (excluding cremation authorizations). The DMEO declined jurisdiction on a total 

of 2,585 or 75.70% of the cases referred to their office. The statewide average for the number 

of cases in which jurisdiction was declined was 42.31%. The DMEO had the highest rate of 

declined jurisdiction across all 24 medical examiner districts in the state in 2015. Likewise, 

the 2015 case acceptance rate for the DMEO was determined to be the lowest in the state. 

The DMEO accepted 24.30% or 830 of the total cases referred to their office (excluding 

cremation authorizations) in 2015. The statewide average for the number of accepted case 

was 57.69%   

There were 623 violent deaths reported to the DMEO in 2015. The DMEO performed a total 

of 439 autopsies in 2015 or 52.89% of the 830 cases accepted. The remaining 47.10% of 

accepted cases resulted in 79 observations and 312 investigations being conducted by the 

DMEO.  

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

70.00%

80.00%

90.00%

100.00%

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25

2016 Florida Medical Examiner's Commission 
Data by District

% of cases accepted % of cases Declined % of accepted cases Autopsied



Audit of District One Medical Examiner   Date: July 03, 2018 

14 
 

Figure 4: 2015 Florida Medical Examiner Commission workload data from all 24 districts in Florida. 

The information presented above was derived from the Florida Department of Law 

Enforcement’s website (http://www.fdle.state.fl.us/MEC/Publications-and-Forms.aspx) 

under the 2015 and 2016 Annual Workload Report tabs.   

Workload 

We compared the DME’s autopsy workload to recommended guidelines published in the 

Practice Guidelines for Florida Medical Examiners (PGFME) (Exhibit C). The publication is 

sponsored by the Florida Association of Medical Examiners and was adopted on July 28, 

2010. According to the PGFME, Florida Medical Examiners have a four-tier system of 

statutes, rules, guidelines and office policies that govern their practices. Article 27, 

paragraph (2) of the PGFME states: 

“The average yearly autopsy workload for each full-time associate medical examiner 

should fall in the range of 225 plus or minus 50. The lower limit of this range may be 

adjusted downward if the number of associate medical examiners is only one. The upper 

limit of the may be temporarily raised in the circumstance of a mass fatality incident or 

a vacant medical examiner position that is under active recruitment.” 

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

70.00%

80.00%

90.00%

100.00%

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24

2015 Florida Medical Examiner's Annual Data by 
District

% of cases accepted % of cases Declined % of accepted cases Autopsied

http://www.fdle.state.fl.us/MEC/Publications-and-Forms.aspx


Audit of District One Medical Examiner   Date: July 03, 2018 

15 
 

We requested a list of employment dates for “Associate Medical Examiners” from the DMEO 

and received a list of both Associate Medical Examiners and locum tenens. We reviewed the 

District One Medical Examiners payment and employment history of associate medical 

examiners and locum tenens from February 1, 2004 to March 31, 2018. Locum tenens is a 

Latin phrase that means “to hold the place of, to substitute for.” Locum tenens are considered 

temporary help typically hired to fill-in during times of absence of the District Medical 

Examiner and/or Associate Medical Examiner.  

The analysis period for the employment of associate medical examiners and locum tenens 

covered a total of 737 weeks (February 1, 2004 to March 31, 2018). Information provided 

by the DMEO as well as payment history shows that a full-time associate medical examiner 

was employed 36.7% of the time, a total of 271 weeks.  

Locum tenens were employed a total of 37 weeks during the analysis period however, 12 of 

the 37 weeks occurred during times when an associate medical examiner was employed. 

Furthermore, an additional 8 weeks of locum tenens employment occurred during known 

absences of the District Medical Examiner. Because the District Medical Examiner’s leave is 

not tracked in QuickBooks, we were unable to verify if the District Medical Examiner was on 

paid leave during the remaining 17 weeks of locum tenens employment.     

As indicated above, The Florida Department of Law Enforcement collects and publishes 

annual workload reports related to district medical examiners. At the time of our 

comparison, reports were available for years 2012 through 2016.  The DMEO’s total yearly 

autopsy average between 2012 and 2016 was 395 autopsies per year. The low end of the 

range was 336 autopsies in 2013 and the high end of the range was 463 autopsies in 2016.   

During our audit entrance meeting we specifically asked the DME about the recruitment 

process and where job vacancies are posted. We were informed that the DMEO uses “word 

of mouth” advertisement to fill job vacancies. We are unable to locate any documentation to 

support the “active recruitment” of an associate medical examiner in District One. We noted 

the Florida Association of Medical Examiners website (http://www.fameonline.org) 

contains multiple announcements for job vacancies in medical examiner offices across the 

State. There are no job vacancy listings for District One posted on the website.  

http://www.fameonline.org/


Audit of District One Medical Examiner   Date: July 03, 2018 

16 
 

Use of District Resources  

During our research of associate medical examiner (AME) employment and compensation, 

we discovered approximately $62,000 in payments to the AME with a note of “Professional 

Services for Bay County.”  We deviated from our initial scope to research these payments.  

We found the DME filled in as the medical examiner for Bay County for approximately six 

months in early 2008.  The DME received total compensation of $338,000 which includes 

professional fees of $50,000 per month as well as expert witness fees and travel time 

reimbursement for District One staff at a rate of $100 per hour.   Three staff members from 

District One travelled to Bay County throughout this time period: the District Medical 

Examiner, the Associate Medical Examiner and the Director of Operations. 

During the months in which the DME covered services in Bay County, professional staff (DME 

and AME) spent approximately 42% of business days in Bay County.  The Director of 

Operations spent over 50% of his time in Bay County between January 2008 and the first 

week of July 2008.  The Director’s salary is reimbursed 100% by the counties in District One.    

We could not find where this was disclosed to the Counties. We also could not find where the 

Counties received a credit for time spent working for another district. 

Expenditures 

During the audit period, approximately $1.7 million in expenses were reimbursed to the 

District One Medical Examiner’s Office (DMEO). This amount includes all reimbursements 

made to the DME for Employee Costs (includes District Medical Examiner and Associate 

Medical Examiner), Employee Salaries (does not include District Medical Examiner and 

Associate Medical Examiner) and Operating Expenses. Employee Costs include payroll taxes, 

medical insurance and 401K contributions.   Operating expenses include but are not limited 

to utilities, business and professional licenses, office supplies, office equipment, morgue 

supplies, professional liability insurance, property and general liability insurance, travel 

expenses, mileage, postage, accounting services, and continuing education for all employees.  

We reviewed all 18 months of invoices for Okaloosa County and we sampled four months of 

invoices for all four counties in the District to verify consistency in billing and verify the 

business purpose and validity of charges billed.  The months sampled were February 2017, 



Audit of District One Medical Examiner   Date: July 03, 2018 

17 
 

August 2017, September 2017 and January 2018.  We found the Counties were billed 

consistently for the sampled months.  Outlined below are the inconsistencies we found in 

billing correctness and validity. 

Reimbursed Expenses 

The Counties are billed monthly for operating and personnel costs incurred in the month 

prior by the DMEO.  Although the DMEO performs medico-legal autopsies (MLA), medico-

legal observations (MLO) and medico-legal investigations (MLI) for other agencies, the 

Counties are charged and pay 100% of DMEO operating and personnel expenses.   

Walton and Okaloosa Counties also pay for an office in Fort Walton Beach to be maintained 

even though no autopsies have been performed there since 2014.  All four counties pay 

approximately $100 per week for the Director of Operations to drive back and forth between 

the Fort Walton Beach and Pensacola offices.  We are not certain the purpose of having the 

Fort Walton Beach location since the DME works exclusively in the Pensacola office.  

Travel 

The Counties are billed for all travel related expenses including hotel reimbursement, 

mileage, tolls and parking charges.  During our review, we found the Counties are charged a 

mileage rate of $0.50 per mile.  The currently approved State rate is $0.445 per mile.  State 

agencies for which the DMEO provides services are charged at $0.445 per mile.  The DMEO 

is not charging mileage reimbursement rates consistently.   

During the audit period, the Counties were charged an average of $100 per month for 

SunPass toll replenishments.  We requested detailed reports to verify the business purpose 

of these charges.  To date we have not received these reports and are unable to verify if this 

is a valid business charge or if it includes personal travel.   

We also found instances where the Counties were charged multiple times in one day for one 

employee to go to the same location from the office.  We also found occasions were the DMEO 

was reimbursed for an employee to drive from home to the office and back home on a 

weekday. Although the amounts are nominal, County and Clerk finance departments should 



Audit of District One Medical Examiner   Date: July 03, 2018 

18 
 

require detailed supporting documentation to support all reimbursed costs to ensure the 

funds are being utilized to fulfill a public purpose.   

Employee Costs 

The Counties reimburse all employee costs for the District Medical Examiner (DME) and 

Associate Medical Examiner (AME).  Employee costs include all payroll taxes, medical 

insurance, a 9% 401K contribution, and Landrum costs.  The DME uses Landrum 

Professional Employer Service to handle human resource and payroll functions.  The 

counties reimburse the DMEO for the costs associated with outsourcing these functions.   

We found large fluctuations in the employee costs paid for the DME.  The first pay period of 

the year is the highest at $1,186.65.  January through July of 2017 employee costs average 

$762.15 per pay period and then August through December averaged $285.23.  We looked 

back to 2014 and this same pattern has occurred every year.  We requested Landrum reports 

for all 18 months of the audit period but only received one month, March 2018.  We are 

unable to verify amounts paid to Landrum and what caused the fluctuations. The AME had 

fluctuations in January of 2016 and 2017, costs were close to double the monthly cost for the 

rest of the year.  Again, no supporting documentation was provided so we are unable to 

verify these amounts.  

Contract Services 

The DMEO contracts for body removal/transport and pathology services.  Each county is 

billed monthly for the cost of these services. Charges are incurred in association with the 

individual deaths that occur in that county.  The DMEO generates a list of cases (decedents) 

worked for each county included with monthly billings. Pathology services are delayed and 

are not billed in the month in which the death occurs.  We reviewed all of Okaloosa’s cases 

during the 18-month audit period.  We compared the case list for Okaloosa County to the 

body removal and pathology invoices.  We found Okaloosa was billed for body removal and 

pathology cases that were not listed on their case list. 

We reviewed all four counties’ body removal invoices for the sampled months.  We found 

instances in all four counties in which the county was billed twice for removal services for 

the same body.  The county was billed once to pick up the body from a funeral home and take 



Audit of District One Medical Examiner   Date: July 03, 2018 

19 
 

to the DMEO.  Then billed again to take the body from the DMEO back to the funeral home.  

The Director of Operations stated the DMEO will occasionally have the funeral home pick the 

body up from the scene and “hold” it until the DMEO is able to determine jurisdiction.  In 

January 2018, the Counties were billed twice for five bodies to be moved from a funeral home 

to the DMEO and back.  We also found where Okaloosa County was billed to move bodies 

from the Fort Walton Beach morgue to the Pensacola morgue and back. 

Unreimbursed Expenses 

During our review of Landrum reports, credit card bills and the DMEO QuickBooks files, we 

found expenses paid out of the DMEO business account that the counties did not reimburse.   

Although the counties are not directly reimbursing these costs, the DME is using the 

professional fees paid by the counties to cover these expenses. 

We discovered the DME has been employing her daughters during the summer for many 

years.  According to Florida Administrative Code 11G-1.002(4)(b), Medical examiners are 

subject to the provisions of the Code of Ethics for Public Officers and Employees, Chapter 

112, Part III of Florida Statute, Medical examiners shall become familiar with the Code of 

Ethics and ensure that they are in compliance with the requirements stated therein.  

Section 112.3135(2)(a), Fla. Stat, states in part “A public official may not appoint, 

employ, promote, or advance, or advocate for appointment, employment, promotion, or 

advancement, in or to a position in the agency in which the official is serving or over 

which the official exercises jurisdiction or control any individual who is a relative of the 

public official.” 

We also found where the DMEO is paying for bonuses, regular luncheons and birthday 

celebrations for employees. She also pays for personal accounting fees and her Federal taxes 

from these funds. The State of Florida Attorney General’s Advisory Legal Opinion (#AGO 

2003-57) states: 

“Clearly, the medical examiner may be receiving income from a number of sources: the 

county, other counties in the medical examiner district, the state, or another 

governmental body.  These funds are public funds and the governmental entities paying 



Audit of District One Medical Examiner   Date: July 03, 2018 

20 
 

these funds are responsible for making sure they are utilized for the purpose for which 

they were appropriated and paid. 

In the case of the county, the medical examiner submits his or her annual budget and 

the county appropriates to pay funds to meet the budget requests of the medical 

examiner.  It is the responsibility of the county to ensure that county funds are used to 

meet county purposes.  Thus, the county must satisfy itself that the medical examiner is 

using those funds paid by the county to do the county’s business.” 

 It does not appear that all the professional fees paid by the counties are being used to do the 

counties’ business.  

Contract and Budget Compliance 

Two out of the four counties in District One have current contracts with the District One 

Medical Examiner’s Office (DMEO).  Both the Escambia and Okaloosa contracts expire 

September 30, 2018.  Santa Rosa County did have a contract during the audit period but it 

expired September 30, 2017.  The DME submits an annual budget to all four counties.  

Contract Compliance  

The Escambia County contract states: 

“Compensation: The County agrees to pay the Medical Examiner, as compensation for 

her professional services. As consideration for the services to be provided for herein, the 

County’s compensation shall not exceed the County’s approved annual budget for 

Medical Examiner services and all amendments thereto for Fiscal year 2017/ 2018.” 

The Escambia County contract “Exhibit A” (Exhibit D) states:  

“The professional services provided to Escambia County by the Medical Examiner shall 

include, but are not limited to the following: …4. Approving all cremation/burial-at-

sea/scientific donation requests.”   

During the audit period, the DMEO collected $114,000 in cremation fees in Escambia County. 

This is in addition to the professional fees paid by Escambia County. Although the contract 

specifically states cremation requests are included in professional services, the DMEO 



Audit of District One Medical Examiner   Date: July 03, 2018 

21 
 

collects $40 for every non-indigent cremation request in Escambia County.  It appears the 

Escambia County contract conflicts with Escambia County resolution 2012-000422. 

Budget Compliance 

Each year the DMEO presents an annual budget to each county. The budget breaks 

expenditures down into five categories: Salaries/Professional Fees, Employee Costs, 

Contracted Fees, Other Operating Expenses and Capital Outlay. All categories are charged to 

the counties based on a caseload percentage except for Contracted Fees.  Costs are allocated 

among four different splits: Escambia/Santa Rosa (2-way), Escambia/Okaloosa/Santa 

Rosa/Walton (4-way), Okaloosa/Santa Rosa/Walton (3-way) and Okaloosa/Walton (2-

way).  In FY 2017 and FY 2018, these split rates were determined based on caseload.   The 

DMEO has not disclosed all income sources during the budget process with any of the 

counties.  

Budget Adjustments 

The DMEO presents each county with a proposed budget.  The county can adopt the full 

proposed amount or a different amount.   For fiscal year 2018, both Escambia and Santa Rosa 

Counties approved an amount less than the proposed budget.  The DMEO proposed a total 

budget of $950,976 for Escambia County this included $379,427 for professional fees 

($31,619.94 per month).  Escambia County approved $889.817.  From October 2017 through 

March 2018, Escambia was billed $31,619.94 per month for professional fees even though 

the approved budget was reduced more than $61,000.   This also occurred in Santa Rosa, 

where the proposed budget was $335,381, the County only approved $260,000.  Again, the 

professional fees originally proposed are being billed at the full amount even though the 

overall budget was reduced by $75,381.  Although the professional fees for FY 2018 were 

decreased by 10.1% for Escambia County, the professional fees for Okaloosa County were 

increased 7.7%, they were increased 12.9% in Walton and were increased 44.6% for Santa 

Rosa County. The DME stated in the letter submitted with the budget that “we respectfully 

ask you to consider funding our office with the proposed amount.  The traditional Adopted 

Amount set by the County simply does not meet the current funding needs of the Medical 

Examiner.”   



Audit of District One Medical Examiner   Date: July 03, 2018 

22 
 

We also observed that the DMEO budgets for every employee to receive health insurance 

with a total cost to the Counties of $4,749.22 per pay period.  During the audit period 

approximately one half of the employees participate in the DMEO insurance program, 

despite a budget allotment for all employees.  During Fiscal Year 2017, the average cost per 

pay period for insurance was $1,826.45 and $1,850.54 in Fiscal Year 2018, far below the 

budgeted amount. The same is also true of the 401K reimbursements.   

Split Rate Variances 

The DMEO establishes rates to split among the Counties based on caseload.  These rates are 

disclosed in the annual budget.  We found during our review the DMEO is not charging the 

rates presented to each county during the budget process.  

ESC/SR Employee Costs Salaries Expenses Per Budget 

FY 2017 86/14 86/14 76/24 76/24 

FY 2018 85/15 85/15 74/26 74/26 

     

OKA/SR/WAL     

FY 2017 19/65/16 23/53/24* N/A 31/55/13 

FY 2018 18/57/25 18/57/25 N/A 30/48/22 

     

OKA/WAL     

FY 2017 68/32 68/32 80/20 80/20 

FY 2018 69/31 69/31 69/31 69/31 

*The first pay period of each month the salary expenses were split at 23/53/24, all subsequent pay periods the 

split was 19/65/16. 

The DMEO is not billing employee and salary costs at the rates proposed in the budget.  No 

explanation has been provided as to why these costs are charged differently than what is 

outlined in the budget. 

The DMEO also assigns certain employees to certain splits.  We are not clear the purpose of 

this.  We found employees being charged to specific counties were working cases for the 

other counties as well.   It appears the DMEO may be shifting costs around to cover budget 

shortfalls in some counties. 



Audit of District One Medical Examiner   Date: July 03, 2018 

23 
 

Findings and Recommendations 

Finding 1: The Medical Examiner does not provide counties within the district a 

comprehensive budget of all revenues and expenditures. 
 

The DMEO currently provides an individual budget to each county in the district. These 

budgets fail to provide anticipated revenue being generated as part of the DME’s position as 

a public officer, to the exclusion of expert witness fees. 

Section 406.08 Fla. Stat. states that the District Medical Examiner (DME) shall submit an 

annual budget to the board of county commissioners. The budgets submitted to the counties 

in District One include only the professional fees and expense reimbursements that are 

expected to be charged to each individual county. As such, the counties have not been able 

to gain a full understanding of the actual cost of operating the DME’s office, or the extent of 

the revenue that the DME has received within the scope of official duties as District One 

Medical Examiner.   

Recommendation: All future contracts with the medical examiner should require the 

annual budget to be comprehensive, inclusive of all expected revenues and expenses 

related to the official duties of the office. Because the Medical Examiner is a district 

office, we recommend that the four counties in the district communicate and 

coordinate the budget process to ensure the DMEO proposed budget represents a 

complete picture of the medical examiner’s revenues and expenses.  

 

Finding 2: The Medical Examiner has been using county-funded resources without 

compensation to the counties. 
 

The DMEO operating expenses are fully reimbursed by the counties. All expenses related to 

the production of revenue are charged to the counties, including those related to non-county 

revenue (with the exception of travel expenses). The counties have never received a credit 

or a billing reduction related to the use of personnel or supplies for non-county functions.  

The DMEO charges the Florida Department of Corrections a flat rate for processing in-

custody deaths, as authorized by statute. The DMEO’s records indicate that this is inclusive 

of DME salary, morgue personnel, and body transport. The salaries of all non-physician 

DMEO personnel are fully reimbursed by the counties, as are all supplies used by the DMEO 

or other personnel to conduct autopsies and investigations. Because the amount billed to 

FDOC ostensibly includes coverage for expenses that have already been reimbursed by the 

counties, some of these expenses are being double-reimbursed. 



Audit of District One Medical Examiner   Date: July 03, 2018 

24 
 

The DMEO charges a $5 report reproduction fee along with a $10 service fee. Charges related 

to public records requests are intended exclusively to reimburse the cost of reproducing 

these records. Though the ME operates as a private, for-profit business, Florida Statutes and 

Attorney General opinions indicate that photos and recordings of autopsies are treated as 

public records when requested by authorized individuals. Any expenses the ME would incur 

in reproducing these records is already reimbursed by the counties. Thus, the ME is being 

double-reimbursed by charging these fees. 

Recommendation: Future contracts should include language related to the 

compensation of the counties for resources being used by the DMEO for other 

purposes.  Contracts should include an audit clause allowing for the examination of all 

revenues and expenses related to the District Medical Examiner’s official duties, not 

just county expenses.  This would allow the counties to ensure that expenses are not 

being double-reimbursed.  The importance of a firm audit clause cannot be over 

stated. Counties should consider drafting a uniform audit clause to be utilized in all 

contracts within districts.  

 

Finding 3: The District Medical Examiner’s Office collects and retains cremation 

authorization fees. The fees are not used exclusively to offset expenses of the DMEO, 

nor do they appear to be reducing the county’s annual budget allocation, as intended 

by the resolutions authorizing their collection.   
 

Our office verified the adoption of resolutions in all four counties in the district in 2012: 
Escambia County Resolution 2012-000422 (adopted May 03, 2012), Santa Rosa Resolution 
2012 -22 (adopted April 26, 2011), Okaloosa County Resolution 12-60 (adopted April 17, 
2012), Walton Resolution 2012-17 (adopted April 24, 2012).  

All the aforementioned resolutions state: “…WHEREAS, establishing a cremation 
authorization fee will serve to offset expenses of the Medical Examiner and reduce the County’s 
annual budget allocation necessary to maintain such services…”  

The DME, through resolutions in each of the four counties, charges a $40 fee for reviewing 

non-indigent cremation authorizations. During the examination period, the DME collected 

$197,840 for cremation authorizations. Despite language in the resolutions indicating that 

cremation authorization fee income will be used to offset expenses and reduce the counties’ 

annual budget allocation, the DMEO accounting entries suggest 50% of the fee is set aside to 

cover “budget shortfalls.” The other 50% of cremation authorization fees are used as 

personal income for the DME.  



Audit of District One Medical Examiner   Date: July 03, 2018 

25 
 

Recommendation: The counties should ensure that revenue from cremation 

authorization fees are included in the Medical Examiner’s annual budget and is 

applied to the operating expenses of the office, not personal income for the DME.  

 

Finding 4: The District Medical Examiner’s Office has been submitting invoices for 

expense reimbursements without proper documentation.   
 

The DMEO submits monthly requests for reimbursement of employee costs for DME and the 

AME, when the AME position is filled.   However, documentation from the third-party vendor 

is not provided so these costs cannot be verified.   

The DMEO also submits for reimbursement on toll charges.  The only documentation 

provided is a receipt indicating the replenishment was paid.  SunPass provides customers 

with detailed reports showing date, time, vehicle detail and toll point which can be pulled 

from their website.  We requested but did not receive these reports.  We are unable to 

determine if these charges served a legitimate public purpose or if the travel was personal 

in nature (i.e. traveling to and from the office). 

Recommendations: The Counties should require detailed documentation for all 

requested reimbursements to ensure they are fulfilling a public purpose. 

 

Finding 5: Fees paid to Medical Examiner are not being used exclusively for a Public 

purpose.    
 

The DME is using professional fees paid by the Counties to pay salaries of her daughters to 

perform seasonal work at the DMEO.  The DMEO is also paying employee bonuses, regular 

employee luncheons and employee birthday celebrations as well as her personal accounting 

expenses and her personal tax payments from professional fees.  These expenditures do not 

fulfill a public purpose. 

Section 112.3135(2)(a), Fla. Stat, states in part “A public official may not appoint, employ, 
promote, or advance, or advocate for appointment, employment, promotion, or advancement, 
in or to a position in the agency in which the official is serving or over which the official exercises 
jurisdiction or control any individual who is a relative of the public official.” 

Between 2010 and 2017 the DME made payments totaling approximately $77,000 to her 
daughters.  



Audit of District One Medical Examiner   Date: July 03, 2018 

26 
 

Recommendations: Counties should consider drafting a uniform audit clause to be 

utilized in all contracts within district.  The Counties should consider adding language 

to the contract to ensure the DME is spending public dollars in an appropriate manner 

and in accordance with Florida Statute. 

 

Finding 6: The DME’s compensation is not clearly defined and the DME’s workload, 

absent a full-time associate medical examiner, appears excessive.  
 

During the DME’s current tenure, we determined that an associate medical examiner was 
employed approximately only 36.7% of the time. In addition, we were unable to locate any 
supporting material, outside the DME’s assertion of “word of mouth” advertisement, which 
would suggest the DME was actively seeking recruitment of an associate medical examiner 
during times in which the position was vacant.   

In addition, the current financial arrangement between the DMEO and counties in the district 
provides no incentive for the DME hire and maintain employment of an associate medical 
examiner, despite the apparent need for one. Because “professional fees” paid by the 
counties include the salaries of both the medical examiner and associate medical examiner, 
the payment of such salary negatively impacts the DME’s personal compensation. The DME 
currently receives a flat rate amount in professional fees regardless of whether or not an 
associate medical examiner is employed. The current financial arrangement related to the 
payment of professional fees is detrimental to the district.  

The Practice Guidelines for Florida Medical Examiners states: 

 “The average yearly autopsy workload for each full-time associate medical examiner 
should fall in the range of 225 plus or minus 50. The lower limit of this range may be 
adjusted downward if the number of associate medical examiners is only one. The upper 
limit of the may be temporarily raised in the circumstance of a mass fatality incident or 
a vacant medical examiner position that is under active recruitment.” 

The DMEO’s total yearly autopsy average between 2012 and 2016 was 395 autopsies per 
year. The low end of the range was 336 autopsies in 2013 and the high end of the range was 
463 autopsies in 2016. It is counterintuitive for the DME to operate with a workload nearly 
twice the recommended amount for a full-time associate medical examiner.    

Recommendation: Counties should consider contractual language which would define 
the amount or range of annual compensation for the district medical examiner and 
any associate medical examiners. In addition, because the practice guidelines only 
refence workload requirements for full-time associate medical examiners, we 
recommend the BOCC seek guidance from the Florida Medical Examiner Commission 
for recommend workload for District Medical Examiners / Chief Medical Examiners.  

  



Audit of District One Medical Examiner   Date: July 03, 2018 

27 
 

 

Management Response 

Attached 

Inspector General Response 

Attached 

Exhibits 

Exhibit A: Medical Examiner Revenue Flow Chart (Attached) 

Exhibit B: Advisory Legal Opinion: AGO 2003 – 15 (Attached) 

Exhibit C: Practice Guidelines for Florida Medical Examiners (Attached) 

Exhibit D: Medical Examiner Contract with Escambia County (Attached) 

Exhibit E: Medical Examiner Contract with Okaloosa County (Attached)  



Management Response



Management Response



Management Response



Management Response



Management Response



Management Response



Management Response



Management Response



Management Response



GULF COAST AUTOPSY PHYSICIANS, PA
Re-Creation of Cremation Fee Activity from Inception

Calculation of Correct Ending Balances by County
July 1, 2012 - May 15, 2018

Escambia Santa Rosa Okaloosa Walton All Counties
2012/13

Cremation revenue collections deposited into bank 87,320.00    29,000.00            42,960.00      9,080.00     168,360.00   
Portion of cremation collections credited to Dr. Minyard (43,660.00)  (14,500.00)          (21,480.00)    (4,540.00)   (84,180.00)    
Cremation funds used to pay county expenses and shortfalls (13,849.51)  (15,916.90)          -                  (198.23)       (29,964.64)    
Correct Ending Balance 29,810.49    (1,416.90)            21,480.00      4,341.77     54,215.36      

2014
Beginning Balance 29,810.49    (1,416.90)            21,480.00      4,341.77     54,215.36      
Cremation revenue collections deposited into bank 59,480.00    18,200.00            30,360.00      6,920.00     114,960.00   
Portion of cremation deposits credited to Dr. Minyard (29,740.00)  (9,100.00)            (15,180.00)    (3,460.00)   (57,480.00)    
Amount used by counties to cover expenses and fee shortfalls (27,995.56)  -                        -                  -               (27,995.56)    
Correct Ending Balance 31,554.93    7,683.10              36,660.00      7,801.77     83,699.80      

2015
Beginning Balance 31,554.93    7,683.10              36,660.00      7,801.77     83,699.80      
Cremation revenue collections deposited into bank 62,510.00    19,040.00            32,880.00      7,400.00     121,830.00   
Portion of cremation deposits credited to Dr. Minyard (31,255.00)  (9,520.00)            (16,440.00)    (3,700.00)   (60,915.00)    
Amount used by counties to cover expenses and fee shortfalls (39,830.10)  -                        -                  (4,883.18)   (44,713.28)    
Correct Ending Balance 22,979.83    17,203.10            53,100.00      6,618.59     99,901.52      

2016
Beginning Balance 22,979.83    17,203.10            53,100.00      6,618.59     99,901.52      
Cremation revenue collections deposited into bank 63,480.00    18,080.00            29,240.00      8,320.00     119,120.00   
Portion of cremation deposits credited to Dr. Minyard (31,740.00)  (9,040.00)            (14,620.00)    (4,160.00)   (59,560.00)    
Amount used by counties to cover expenses and fee shortfalls (71,846.32)  -                        -                  (5,140.98)   (76,987.30)    
Correct Ending Balance (17,126.49)  26,243.10            67,720.00      5,637.61     82,474.22      

2017
Beginning Balance (17,126.49)  26,243.10            67,720.00      5,637.61     82,474.22      
Cremation revenue collections deposited into bank 76,000.00    21,680.00            32,960.00      9,400.00     140,040.00   
Portion of cremation deposits credited to Dr. Minyard (38,000.00)  (10,840.00)          (16,480.00)    (4,700.00)   (70,020.00)    
Amount used by counties to cover expenses and fee shortfalls (74,143.08)  (4,859.96)            -                  -               (79,003.04)    
Correct Ending Balance (53,269.57)  32,223.14            84,200.00      10,337.61  73,491.18      

2018
Beginning Balance (53,269.57)  32,223.14            84,200.00      10,337.61  73,491.18      
Cremation revenue collections deposited into bank 38,240.00    8,800.00              18,920.00      4,360.00     70,320.00      
Portion of cremation deposits credited to Dr. Minyard (19,120.00)  (4,400.00)            (9,460.00)       (2,180.00)   (35,160.00)    
Amount used by counties to cover expenses and fee shortfalls -                  

Correct Ending Balance at 5/15/18 (34,149.57)  36,623.14            93,660.00      12,517.61  108,651.18   

GCAP is the acronym for Dr. Minyard's business name Gulf Coast Autopsy Physicians, PA

The separate cremation bank account was established several months after the first cremation fees were collected. GCAP internally calculated what was due to/from 
the cremation bank account. The identity of all county paid expenses and shortfalls was done after a review of QuickBooks expenses. A shortfall in Santa Rosa County 
was discovered in 2018 during this process. This shortfall was previously undiscovered. 

Management Response



GULF COAST AUTOPSY PHYSICIANS, PA
Actual Cremation Bank Account Activity by County 

July 1, 2012 ‐ May 15,  2018

Escambia Santa Rosa Okaloosa Walton
Total Ending 
Bank Balance

2012/13 Bank Account Opening Deposit 11/4/13 0.25
Deposits ‐ The initial deposit was calculated internally* 38,778.14     12,856.95            19,017.88       4,051.72      74,704.69            

Dr. Minyard's portion of cremation collections withdrawn (2,071.19)      (697.08)                (1,036.09)       (215.64)        (4,020.00)             
Amount used by counties to cover expenses and fee shortfalls *  * ‐                   ‐               ‐                         

Ending Bank Balance Cremation Account Gulf Coast Community Bank 0001501469 36,706.95     12,159.87            17,981.79       3,836.08      70,684.94            

2014 Beginning Bank Balance 36,706.95     12,159.87            17,981.79       3,836.08      70,684.94            
Deposits of cremation revenues per bank activity 59,480.00     18,200.00            30,360.00       6,920.00      114,960.00          
Dr. Minyard's portion of cremation collections withdrawn (29,812.00)   (9,100.00)             (15,180.00)     (3,460.00)    (57,552.00)           
Amount used by counties to cover expenses and fee shortfalls (28,044.00)   ‐                         ‐                   ‐               (28,044.00)           

Ending Bank Balance Cremation Account Gulf Coast Community Bank 0001501469 38,330.95     21,259.87            33,161.79       7,296.08      100,048.94          

2015 Beginning Bank Balance 38,330.95     21,259.87            33,161.79       7,296.08      100,048.94          
Deposits of cremation revenues per bank activity 62,510.00     19,040.00            32,880.00       7,400.00      121,830.00          
Dr. Minyard's portion of cremation collections withdrawn (31,255.00)   (9,520.00)             (16,440.00)     (3,700.00)    (60,915.00)           
Amount used by counties to cover expenses and fee shortfalls (39,902.00)   ‐                         ‐                   (4,884.00)    (44,786.00)           

Ending Bank Balance Cremation Account Gulf Coast Community Bank 0001501469 29,683.95     30,779.87            49,601.79       6,112.08      116,177.94          

2016 Beginning Bank Balance 29,683.95     30,779.87            49,601.79       6,112.08      116,177.94          
Deposits of cremation revenues per bank activity 63,480.00     18,080.00            29,240.00       8,320.00      119,120.00          
Dr. Minyard's portion of cremation collections withdrawn (31,740.00)   (9,040.00)             (14,620.00)     (4,160.00)    (59,560.00)           
Amount used by counties to cover expenses and fee shortfalls (71,846.32)   ‐                         ‐                   (5,140.98)    (76,987.30)           

Ending Bank Balance Cremation Account Gulf Coast Community Bank 0001501469 (10,422.37)   39,819.87            64,221.79       5,131.10      98,750.64            

2017 Beginning Balance (10,422.37)   39,819.87            64,221.79       5,131.10      98,750.64            
Deposits of cremation revenues per bank activity 76,000.00     21,680.00            32,960.00       9,400.00      140,040.00          
Portion of collections credited to Andi (38,000.00)   (10,840.00)           (16,480.00)     (4,700.00)    (70,020.00)           
Amount used by counties to cover expenses and fee shortfalls (74,143.00)   (4,860.00)             ‐                   ‐               (79,003.00)           

Ending Bank Balance Cremation Account The First Bank 0001501469** (46,565.37)   45,799.87            80,701.79       9,831.10      89,767.64            

2018 Beginning Bank Balance (46,565.37)   45,799.87            80,701.79       9,831.10      89,767.64            
Deposits of cremation revenues per bank activity 38,240.00     9,720.00              18,920.00       4,360.00      71,240.00            
NSF Bank Fee reimbursed 7.00                       7.00                       
Less NSF check deposited twice/NSF Fee (927.00)                (927.00)                 
Dr. Minyard's portion of cremation collections withdrawn (19,120.00)   (4,863.50)             (9,460.00)       (2,180.00)    (35,623.50)           
Amount used by counties to cover expenses and fee shortfalls

Ending Bank Balance Cremation Account The First Bank 0001501469 (27,445.37)   49,736.37            90,161.79       12,011.10   124,464.14          

** In 2017 Gulf Coast Community Bank was bought out. The name changed, but the account remained the same.

* Because the cremation bank account was created several months after cremation collections began, 2013 adjustments for county shortfalls and expenses were netted in the 
internal calculations by GCAP when calculating the amount of the first deposit to the new account. These 2013 amounts did not directly reflect in the bank activity.

Management Response



GULF COAST AUTOPSY PHYSICIANS, PA
Reconciling the  Actual Cremation Bank Balance Annually to the Correct Ending Balance

70,684.94       Bank Bal at 12/31/13 (13,495.31)    overage from GACP  initial calculation
(16,469.33)     Amount owed to Dr. Minyard (291.34)          expense in QuickBooks not on picked up in GCAP Calculations spreadsheet

(0.25)               Opening deposit not credited to any county (2,682.68)      Santa Rosa County fees shortfall for 2013 not detected until 2018
54,215.36       Correct Balance at 12/31/13 (16,469.33)    Amount due to Dr. Minyard

100,048.94    Bank balance at 12/31/14
(16,469.33)      Prior Year Reconciling difference
83,579.61      

119.44            deducted twice ‐ Dr. Minyard owes back
0.75                 rounding 

83,699.80       Correct balance at 12/31/14 (16,349.14)    Amount owed to Dr. Minyard at 12/31/14

116,177.94    Bank balance at 12/31/15
(16,349.14)     Prior Year  Reconciling items
99,828.80      

71.90               Deducted twice‐ Dr. Minyard owes back
0.82                 rounding

99,901.52       Correct Balance at 12/31/15 (16,276.42)    Amount owed to Dr. Minyard at 12/31/15

98,750.64       Bank Balance at 12/31/16
(16,276.42)     Prior Year Reconciling items
82,474.22       Correct Balance at 12/31/16

89,767.64       Bank balance at 12/31/17
(16,276.42)     Prior Year  reconciling items
73,491.22      

(0.04)               rounding
73,491.18       Correct Balance at 12/31/17 (16,276.46)    Amount owed to Dr. Minyard at 12/31/17

124,464.14    Bank Balance at 5/15/18
(16,276.46)     Prior year reconciling items owed to Dr. Minyard

460.00            50% of Dr. Minyard's portion deducted twice ‐ Dr. Minyard owes to SR County
3.50                 50% of bank fee should not be included in Dr. Minyard's portion ‐ Dr. Minyard owes to SR County

108,651.18    Correct Balance at 5/15/18

124,464.14    Bank Balance @5/15/18 (16,276.46)   
(15,812.96)     Amount Owed to Dr. Minyard 460.00          
108,651.18    Correct Balance @ 5/15/18 3.50              

(15,812.96)    Amount owed to Dr. Minyard at 5/15/18

Net Reconciling Item

Net Reconciling Items

Net Reconciling Items

Reconciling items at 5/15/18

Management Response



GULF COAST AUTOPSY PHYSICIANS, PA
Reconciliation of Cremation Activity Deposits to Billings in the Cremation Bank Account

July 1, 2012 through May 15, 2018

Escambia Santa Rosa Okaloosa Walton
Total ‐ All 
Counties

2013 Cremation Account Bank Deposits  74,704.94     

Amount Billed for Cremation Revenues 2012‐13 88,880.00      29,680.00      43,680.00        9,240.00      171,480.00   
Current Year Accounts Receivable (1,360.00)      (560.00)          (680.00)            (160.00)        (2,760.00)      
Subsequent Year Adjustment (200.00)          (120.00)          (40.00)              (360.00)          
Total Cash Collected from Cremation Revenue 87,320.00      29,000.00      42,960.00        9,080.00      168,360.00   

(41,300.00)    (13,900.00)    (20,660.00)      (4,300.00)     (80,160.00)    

(7,241.86)      (2,243.05)      (3,282.12)        (728.28)        (13,495.31)    

Opening Deposit not credited to any county 0.25               
Total Cash Deposited into Cremation Account 38,778.14      12,856.95      19,017.88        4,051.72      74,704.94      

2014 Cremation Account Bank Deposits  114,966.70   

Amount Billed for Cremation Revenues 59,960.00      18,240.00      30,600.00        7,600.00      116,400.00   
Credit Memos (80.00)            (80.00)            
2013 Accounts Receivable 1,360.00        560.00           680.00             160.00         2,760.00        
2014 Accounts Receivable (1,640.00)      (360.00)          (880.00)            (680.00)        (3,560.00)      
Subsequent Year Adjustment (40.00)            (40.00)            
Undeposited funds (80.00)            (240.00)          (40.00)              (160.00)        (520.00)          
Add amount deposited into Cremation account in error 6.70               
Total Cash Deposited into Cremation Account 59,480.00      18,200.00      30,360.00        6,920.00      114,966.70   

2015 Cremation Account Bank Deposits  121,830.00   

Amount Billed for Cremation Revenues 65,320.00      19,720.00      32,760.00        7,160.00      124,960.00   
Less Credit memos (330.00)          (330.00)          
2014 Accounts Receivable 1,640.00        360.00           880.00             680.00         3,560.00        
2015 Accounts Receivable  (3,280.00)      (1,280.00)      (320.00)            (160.00)        (5,040.00)      
Prior year Undeposited Funds 80.00             240.00           40.00               160.00         520.00           
Current Year Undeposited Funds (920.00)          ‐                  (480.00)            (440.00)        (1,840.00)      
Total Cash Deposited into Cremation Account 62,510.00      19,040.00      32,880.00        7,400.00      121,830.00   

2016 Cremation Account Bank Deposits  119,120.00   

Amount Billed for Cremation Revenues 71,320.00      18,960.00      32,520.00        8,880.00      131,680.00   
2015 Accounts Receivable at  3,280.00        1,280.00        320.00             160.00         5,040.00        
2016 Accounts Receivable (9,080.00)      (1,920.00)      (2,080.00)        (920.00)        (14,000.00)    
Prior Year Undeposited Funds 920.00           ‐                  480.00             440.00         1,840.00        
Current Year Undeposited Funds (2,960.00)      (240.00)          (2,000.00)        (240.00)        (5,440.00)      
Total Cash Deposited into Cremation Account 63,480.00      18,080.00      29,240.00        8,320.00      119,120.00   

2017 Cremation Account Bank Deposits  140,043.00   

Amount Billed for Cremation Revenues 74,480.00      20,960.00      34,600.00        9,880.00      139,920.00   
Less Credit memos (40.00)              (40.00)            
Add bank adjustment 3.00               
Add 2016 Accounts Receivable 9,080.00        1,920.00        2,080.00          920.00         14,000.00      
Less 2017 Accounts Receivable (5,920.00)      (560.00)          40.00               (160.00)        (6,600.00)      
Prior year Undeposited Funds 2,960.00        240.00           2,000.00          240.00         5,440.00        
Current Year Undeposited Funds (4,600.00)      (880.00)          (5,720.00)        (1,480.00)     (12,680.00)    
Total Cash Deposited into Cremation Account 76,000.00      21,680.00      32,960.00        9,400.00      140,043.00   

2018 Cremation Account Bank Deposits  through 5/15/18 71,247.00     

Amount Billed for Cremation Revenues through 5/15/18 36,760.00      9,047.00        16,560.00        4,440.00      66,807.00      
2017 Accounts Receivable 5,920.00        560.00           (40.00)              160.00         6,600.00        
Less 2018 Accounts Receivable through 5/15/18 (6,040.00)      (1,680.00)      (1,040.00)        (1,120.00)     (9,880.00)      
Prior Year Undeposited Funds 4,600.00        880.00           5,720.00          1,480.00      12,680.00      
Undeposited Funds through 5/15/18 (3,000.00)      ‐                  (2,280.00)        (600.00)        (5,880.00)      
Redeposit of NSF check  920.00           920.00           
Total Cash Deposited into Cremation Account 38,240.00      9,727.00        18,920.00        4,360.00      71,247.00      

 Amount of collections that should have been credited to Dr. 
Minyard 
 Error in calculating Dr. Minyard's portion of cash collected 
through 11/30/13 

Management Response



GULF COAST AUTOPSY PHYSICIANS, PA
Detailed Reconciliation of the Initial Period July 1, 2012 to December 31, 2013

Escambia Santa Rosa Okaloosa Walton Total

Cremation fees through 11/30/13 according to internal GCAP calculations  82,600.00         51.52% 27,800.00             17.34% 41,320.00     25.77% 8,600.00           5.36% 160,320.00   100.00%

QuickBooks detail of sole December cremation fee deposit on 12/27/13 5,400.00           1,880.00                2,120.00       440.00               9,840.00      

$1,800 double counted in prior bookkeeper's calculations (680.00)             (680.00)                 (440.00)         (1,800.00)     

Total Corrected Cremation fee collections in initial period (2012‐2013) 87,320.00        29,000.00             43,000.00    9,040.00           168,360.00  

What should have been Dr. Minyard's portion of cremation fees collected 
through 11/30/13 41,300.00         13,900.00             20,660.00     4,300.00           80,160.00    
What should have been Dr. Minyard's  portion of the cremation fees collected 
from the 12/27/13 deposit 2,700.00           940.00                   1,060.00       220.00               4,920.00      
Less the amount double counted in GCAP internal calculations (340.00)             (340.00)                 (220.00)         (900.00)        
Total of cremation fees that should have been credited to Dr. Minyard 43,660.00        14,500.00             21,500.00    4,520.00           84,180.00    

GCAP preliminary calculation of Dr. Minyard's portion of the cremation fees 
collected*

66,664.69    

GCAP preliminary calculation of Dr. Minyard's portion of the cremation fees 
deposited on 12/27/13

4,020.00      

GCAP initial calculation of Dr. Minyard's portion for initial period (2012‐2013) ‐                     ‐                         ‐                ‐                     70,684.69    

County % of total collections used to allocate Dr. Minyard's portion of the 
cremation fees by county 51.52% 17.34% 25.77% 5.36%

GCAP preliminary calculation and allocation of Dr. Minyard's portion of the 
cremation fees collected by county 34,346.95         11,559.87             17,181.79     3,576.08           66,664.69    
GCAP preliminary calculation of Dr. Minyard's portion of the 12/27/13 cremation 
fees allocated by county 2,071.19           697.08                   1,036.09       215.64               4,020.00      
Preliminary calculated total of Dr. Minyard's portion of the cremation fees 
through 12/31/13 36,418.14         12,256.95             18,217.88     3,791.72           70,684.69    

Additional amount owed to Dr. Minyard 7,241.86           2,243.05               3,282.12      728.28               13,495.31    

The initial GCAP calculations did not separate activity by county and are previously unreviewed.

Santa Rosa County had an additional shortfall in 2013 not included in the initial calculations that was not discovered until 2018.

* The portion of the cremation fees used by the counties to cover expenses was factored into the initial calculations.

Management Response



�����������	
������������������������������������������������������� � ! ����������� � " �##�������� � $ %��������� � & ��%$'�(���� � ! ���$'�(���� � " �)%$'�(���� � $ �#$'�(���� � & ��*�(�� � ! #�*�(�� � " )�*�(�� � $ ��*�(�� � & ��+����,��� � ! ���+����,��� � " %�+����,��� � $ �#+����,��� � & �# Management Response



Management Response



Management Response



Management Response



Management Response



Resolution No. 12-60 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF OKALOOSA COUNTY, 
FLORIDA, AUTHORIZING AND ESTABLISHING A FEE FOR CREMATION AUTHORIZATION 
SERVICES RENDERED BY THE DISTRICT ONE MEDICAL EXAMINER; PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, pursuant to 406.11(1), Florida Statutes, the Medical Examiner is required to determine the 
cause of death and shall, for that purpose, make or have performed such examinations, investigations, and autopsies 
as he or she shall deem necessary or as shall be requested by the state attorney when a body is to be cremated, 
dissected or buried at sea; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Chapter 406.08 Florida Statutes, the Board of County Commissioners is required 
to compensate the Medical Examiner and staff such reasonable salary and fees as may be established by the Board; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners previously approved a contract with the District One 
Medical Examiner for medical examiner services for Okaloosa County which authorized an annual budget for such 
services; and 

WHEREAS, establishing a cremation authorization fee will serve to offset expenses of the Medical 
Examiner and reduce the County's annual budget allocation necessary to maintain such services; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners finds that it is in the best interest ofthe citizens of 
Okaloosa County to establish a fee for cremation authorization services rendered by the District One Medical 
Examiner's Office. 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of County Commissioners ofOkaloosa County 
as follows: 
Section 1. That the above recitals are true and correct and incorporated herein by reference. 
Section 2. That the Board of County Commissioners hereby establishes a cremation authorization fee in the amount 
of forty dollars ($40.00) for cremation authorization services rendered by the District One Medical Examiner's 
Office. 
Section 3. That a cremation authorization fee shall not be established, charged or collected for any human body or 
remains which are unclaimed and cremated a public expense pursuant to Chapter 406, Florida Statutes. 
Section 4. That this Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption by the Board of County 
Commissioners ofOkaloosa County, Florida. 

DULY PASSED AND ADOPTED this 17th day of April, 2012. 

ATTEST: 

~~.J;wff#< 
'V CLERK OF CIRCUIT COURT 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA 

Management Response



Management Response



Management Response



DEPARTMENT OF INSPECTOR GENERAL 
OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA 

JD PEACOCK II, CLERK OF CIRCUIT COURT AND COMPTROLLER 
 

1 
 

 
 
 

July 03, 2018 
 
T. A. Borowski, Jr. 
Borowski & Traylor, P.A. 
25 W. Cedar Street, Suite 525 
P. O. Box 12651 
Pensacola, Florida 32591 
 
We reviewed your response to the draft report which was forwarded to our office on June 
28, 2018. We made necessary corrections to the report as well as clarified some of the 
issues addressed in your response as outlined below. 
 

1.  The numbers in our report were derived from the Annual Workload Reports made 

to the Medical Examiner’s Commission by each of the Medical Examiner Districts. 

These reports include total district deaths, total district violent deaths, total cases 

accepted, and total cases declined.  

 
Our office conducted both an operational and financial audit which was clarified in 
the report. An examination of non-financial factors is both appropriate and expected 
in this type of engagement and is in compliance with the standards of the Institute of 
Internal Auditors. We updated this section to reflect the number of referred cases as 
well as how it compares to the rest of the state.  
 

2. Our office requested information regarding the employment of an Associate Medical 

Examiner in a public records request. In the District Medical Examiner’s response, a 

list was included of all associate medical examiners and locum tenens. The list 

indicated an associate medical examiner was last employed in November 2017. Our 

office found no public advertisement for an Associate Medical Examiner. The fact that 

an associate medical examiner was employed, outside the scope of our audit, has no 

bearing on our report or findings.  

 
3. This was an unintentional omission. It has been corrected in the final report.  

 
4. The four counties in the District have a September 30 fiscal year end. Gulf Coast 

Autopsy Physicians has a December 31 fiscal year end. The scope period chosen by 

our office was intended to capture a relevant period for both the counties and Gulf 

Coast Autopsy Physicians.  
 

I.G. Rebuttal 



Re. I.G. Rebuttal          July 03, 2018 
 

2 
 

While not all revenue is derived from her contracts with the counties, all of the 
revenue earned, excluding professional witness fees, by Gulf Coast Autopsy 
Physicians is a result of Dr. Minyard’s position as a public official. 
 

5. Our office acknowledges the error regarding the collection of cremation fees and the 

final report has been updated to reflect this.  Each of the resolutions states that 

income from the cremation authorization fee will be used to reduce the amount that 

the counties pay for the operation of the Medical Examiner’s office, your response 

states that only half of this income is set aside for the benefit of the counties, the other 

half appears to be direct compensation to Dr. Minyard, in addition to professional 

fees.   

 
6. The records availability remark related to billing for body removal and pathology 

services. We examined all 18 months of billings for Okaloosa County and selected four 

months of review for Escambia, Walton, and Santa Rosa counties as indicated in the 

Expenditures section of the report. We updated this section of the report to clarify 

any misconceptions.  

 
7. Corrected to reflect that Dr. Minyard was employing her “daughters.” 

 
8. Our audit was conducted at the request of the Okaloosa County Clerk and for the 

benefit of the Boards of County Commissioners in the four counties of Medical 

Examiner District One. Furthermore, the internal auditors for Walton and Santa Rosa 

Counties assisted in records research and data collection. Staff from Escambia County 

Clerk’s Office also assisted. The purpose of the audit was not to make accusations of 

wrongdoing, but to provide the counites with a full picture of the of the District 

Medical Examiner financial situation and make recommendations for future 

contracts.  

 
Our office’s purpose, in this and all audit engagements, is to help the county ensure 
efficiency and accountability in all of its functions. Our office is separate from the 
other Constitutional offices of the county, and we have no statutory, contractual, or 
professional relationship with the other constitutional offices of the county, to include 
the Sheriff.  

 
Performance Analysis 
This section has been updated. Title was changed to “Annual Workload Report Comparison.”  
Workload 
This section has been updated.  
Reimbursed Expenses 
The Medical Examiner told the Okaloosa County Board of Commissioners that they are 
unable to store bodies at the Fort Walton Beach office.  
 

I.G. Rebuttal 



Re. I.G. Rebuttal          July 03, 2018 
 

3 
 

Contract Services 
Our office disagrees and stands by the conclusions in our original report 
Professional Fees 
Currently, the official position of the counties is that professional fees are public funds and 
are subject to audit. Our office conducted our audit in accordance with the counties’ current 
official position.   
Findings  

1. We do not contend that the Medical Examiner was obligated to provide this 

information in the past. The purpose of the audit was to provide the tax payers and 

counties with a full picture of the operations of the District Medical Examiner and 

make recommendations for future contracts. 

 
2. The purpose of the audit was to provide the tax payers and counties with a full picture 

of the operations of the District Medical Examiner and make recommendations for 

future contracts. 

 
3. Our office corrected the error regarding the collection of cremation fees and the final 

report has been updated. In addition, your response and supporting documentation 

state that “half” of the cremation fees are set aside to offset the operation of the 

Medical Examiner’s Office. The other half appears to be personal compensation of the 

Medical Examiner.    

 
4. This finding, as all the findings, is specifically directed to the counties. The purpose of 

the audit was not to make accusations of wrongdoing, but to provide the counties 

with a full picture of the operations of the District Medical Examiner and make 

recommendations for future contracts. 

 
5. Our office disagrees and stands by the conclusions in our original report. 

 
6. Our office has corrected and updated this finding in the final report. 

 
 

I.G. Rebuttal 



 

DISTRICT ONE MEDICAL EXAMINER REVENUE OCTOBER 1, 2016 TO MARCH 31, 2018 

 

INCOME  

$2,478,347.29 

Cremation Fees 

$197,840.00 

Escambia   $114,000.00 

Santa Rosa  $31,040.00 

Okaloosa  $52,520.00 

Walton   $14,280.00 

Adjustment ($14,000) 

 

 

 

 

 

Escambia County 

$998,333.58  

Employee Salaries 
$326,922.75 

Employee Costs 
$116,927.66 

Professional Fees 
$554,483.17 

 

 

 

 

Santa Rosa County 

$315,075.61 

Employee Salaries 
$124,811.80 

Employee Costs 
$41,327.82 

Professional Fees 
$148,935.99 

 

Walton County 

$239,955.91 

Employee Salaries 
$81,440.25 

Employee Costs 
$23,707.69 

Professional Fees 
$134,807.97 

 

Okaloosa County 

$616,082.36 

Employee Salaries 
$236,169.67 

Employee Costs 
$74,897.79 

Professional Fees 
$305,014.90 

 

DOC Generated 

Revenue   

$89,277.37    

DOC Cases (39) 

$85,800.00 

Deposition, Mileage, 

Deposition Prep 

$3,317.37 

Removal Fee    

$160.00 

 

 

 

State Generated 

Revenue 

$114,127.17 

Other Revenue 

$24,849.80       

State Attorney’s 

Office        

$19,377.15 

Public Defender 

$2,385.60 

Attorney General 

$1,795.85 

Regional Conflict 

$1,291.20 

Accrual to Cash 

Adjustments (Non-

cash adjustment for 

tax reporting) 

Private Atty Invoices  

($9,393.94)  

County Reim. ($859.20) 

 Other Rev.  ($346.20) 

 

 

Report Fees 

$728.00 

Private 

Attorney 

Fees 

$6,804.00 

Exhibit A



5/2/2018 Advisory Legal Opinion - Medical Examiners, duties and responsibilities

http://www.myfloridalegal.com/ago.nsf/printview/289EB07BA2A1D6AD85256DFE00611E89 1/11

Florida Attorney General
Advisory Legal Opinion

Number: AGO 2003-57
 Date: December 15, 2003

 Subject:  Medical Examiners, duties and responsibilities

The Honorable Charlie Green
 Lee County Clerk of Circuit Court

Post Office Box 2469
 Fort Myers, Florida 33902-2469

RE: MEDICAL EXAMINERS–PUBLIC RECORDS–PUBLIC OFFICERS AND EMPLOYEES–
COUNTIES–MEDICAL EXAMINERS COMMISSION–AUTOPSIES– EXPERT WITNESSES–AUDITS–
duties and responsibilities of medical examiners; nature of income of
medical examiners office; autopsy records as public records. Part I, Ch.
406, Fla. Stat.

Dear Mr. Green:

As Clerk of the Circuit Court you are conducting an audit for the Board of
County Commissioners of Lee County of the funds paid to the District 21
Medical Examiner's Office. In this regard you have asked for my opinion on
substantially the following questions:

1. Is a district medical examiner a county or state officer for purposes
of Chapters 116, 219, and 145, Florida Statutes, and Part III, Chapter
218, Florida Statutes, concerning a state or county officer's duties and
obligations to account for income and revenues of that office?

2. Are the fees received by the Medical Examiner's Office for services
relating to that office personal income of the chief medical examiner?

3. Are the expert witness fees authorized by section 406.09, Florida
Statutes, which are received by the chief medical examiner or associate
medical examiners, personal income or public funds?

4. May the medical examiner's office charge a fee in excess of the costs
authorized by section 119.07(1), Florida Statutes, for autopsy
photographs?

5. Is a district medical examiner's office authorized to charge the public
a cremation authorization fee?

6. Is a county legally authorized to fund with county funds a privately-
held 401(k) pension plan for the chief medical examiner, associate medical
examiners, and employees; or should the chief medical examiner, associate
medical examiners, and employees be part of the Florida Retirement System
under Chapter 122, Florida Statutes, for such purposes?

EXHIBIT B



5/2/2018 Advisory Legal Opinion - Medical Examiners, duties and responsibilities

http://www.myfloridalegal.com/ago.nsf/printview/289EB07BA2A1D6AD85256DFE00611E89 2/11

 
7. Must all income and revenues received by the chief medical examiner
from the counties and other revenue sources be deposited in a public
depository under Chapter 136, Florida Statutes; or may such funds, in
whole or in part, be deposited in privately owned accounts, such as the
chief medical examiner's professional association accounts?

  
8. Must associate medical examiners file financial disclosure statements
pursuant to section 112.3145, Florida Statutes?

  
9. Is the medical examiner required to have an annual financial audit as
described in section 11.45, Florida Statutes?

  
According to information you have submitted to this office and information
provided by the District 21 Medical Examiner's Office, an audit of the
medical examiner's office is currently underway. A number of questions
have arisen concerning the nature of the medical examiner's office and the
methods of accounting for funds of the office.

  
The District 21 Medical Examiner's Office covers Lee, Hendry and Glades
counties. The physical facilities and the equipment for that office are
located in and owned by Lee County. The medical examiner's office submits
an annual budget to the county. The budget consists of anticipated
operational expenses and professional fees of the medical examiner's
office. The only fees specified in the budget are fees for autopsies,
narratives and declined jurisdiction. An interlocal agreement entered into
between the medical examiner's office and the counties in the district
specify percentages of payment for budgeted operational expenses of the
office. Each county directly compensates the medical examiner for the
professional fees, toxicology and transportation costs attributable to
that particular county. 
 
The current chief medical examiner for District 21 was appointed by the
Governor in 2001. No written contract was suggested or offered to her by
Lee County. She operates the medical examiner's office as a professional
association, as did her predecessors. The current chief medical examiner
does not engage in a separate private medical practice at the medical
examiner's office.

  
A number of the questions presented in your request require some
determination or characterization of the working arrangement between the
medical examiner and the county. It is clear from the information
submitted both by you and by the medical examiner that no written contract
or agreement exists defining the working roles and responsibilities of
each party, nor has that office ever operated under such an agreement.
This office has no ability to characterize the arrangement between these
parties in the absence of any written contract or other document providing
the terms under which the medical examiner's office operates. It is my
understanding that the county and the medical examiner are currently
negotiating a contract establishing the terms under which the District 21
Medical Examiner's Office and Lee County will operate in the future.

  
Question One

  

EXHIBIT B



5/2/2018 Advisory Legal Opinion - Medical Examiners, duties and responsibilities

http://www.myfloridalegal.com/ago.nsf/printview/289EB07BA2A1D6AD85256DFE00611E89 3/11

Chapter 406, Florida Statutes, is the "Medical Examiners Act."[1] The act
authorizes the creation of medical examiner districts throughout the state
based on enumerated factors:

  
"[P]opulation, judicial circuits of the state, geographical size of the
area of coverage, availability of trained personnel, death rate by both
natural and unnatural causes, and similar related factors. No county may
be divided in the creation of a district. However, this limitation shall
not prohibit cooperative arrangements among the several districts."[2]

  
District medical examiners are appointed by the Governor for a three-year
term of office.[3] The grounds for discipline for a medical examiner are
set forth in section 406.075, Florida Statutes, and the Medical Examiners
Commission is the entity responsible for reprimanding, placing on
probation, removing, or suspending any medical examiner.

  
Medical examiner districts are distinct and independent statutory entities
created for restricted purposes; they are not state agencies, as their
prescribed powers are definitely confined to a less than statewide area.
[4] Similarly, while there appear to be several medical examiner districts
that encompass only one county,[5] the districts' mandates may reach
across county lines.[6] Officers of a special district "are neither state
nor county officers."[7] Thus, it is my opinion that a district medical
examiner is a district officer rather than a state or county officer.

  
More particularly, Chapter 116, Florida Statutes, requires generally that
state and county officers who collect funds that are due to the state or
county must pay those moneys into the state or county treasury. This
chapter also makes provision for reports to be made to the Department of
Banking and Finance (now the Department of Financial Services) of fees and
commissions of county or state fee officers.[8] This chapter does not
apply to district medical examiners. Similarly, Chapter 145, Florida
Statutes, which sets the compensation of county officials such as the
clerk of circuit court,[9] the sheriff,[10] and the supervisor of
elections,[11] does not prescribe the compensation of a district medical
examiner. 

  
Chapter 219, Florida Statutes, relates to the handling of county public
money by state and county officers. The term "officer" for purposes of
Chapter 219 is defined to mean "a county officer, including an officer
whose authority is ordinarily confined to a district within a county,
whose duties require or authorize him or her to collect public money[.]"
As discussed above, a district medical examiner is not a county officer
nor is his or her authority confined to "a district within a county."
Thus, the provisions of this chapter do not apply.

  
Part III, Chapter 218, Florida Statutes, is the "Uniform Local Government
Financial Management and Reporting Act."[12] For purposes of the act, a
"local governmental entity" within the scope of these provisions includes
a county agency, a municipality, or a special district as defined in
section 189.403, Florida Statutes. Section 189.403(1), Florida Statutes,
defines "Special district" to mean

  
"a local unit of special purpose, as opposed to general-purpose,

EXHIBIT B



5/2/2018 Advisory Legal Opinion - Medical Examiners, duties and responsibilities

http://www.myfloridalegal.com/ago.nsf/printview/289EB07BA2A1D6AD85256DFE00611E89 4/11

government within a limited boundary, created by general law, special act,
local ordinance, or by rule of the Governor and Cabinet. The special
purpose or purposes of special districts are implemented by specialized
functions and related prescribed powers."

  
Among the legislative purposes for adoption of the act was to:

  
"(c) Improve communication and coordination between special districts and
other local entities with respect to ad valorem taxation, non-ad valorem
assessment collection, special district elections, and local government
comprehensive planning. 

  
(d) Move toward greater uniformity in special district elections and non-
ad valorem assessment collection procedures at the local level without
hampering the efficiency and effectiveness of the current procedures."[13]
 
While a medical examiner's district is in the nature of a special district
because of its specialized function and geographical limitations, it is
not a unit of government with the authority to impose taxes, nor is the
medical examiner subject to election. Thus, it does not appear that a
medical examiner district is subject to the management and reporting
requirements of Part III, Chapter 218, Florida Statutes. 

  
Question Two

  
I understand your second and third questions to be attempts to
characterize the nature of fees coming into the Office of the District
Medical Examiner.

  
Section 406.06(3), Florida Statutes, provides that:

  
"District medical examiners and associate medical examiners shall be
entitled to compensation and such reasonable salary and fees as are
established by the board of county commissioners in the respective
districts."

  
Section 406.08, Florida Statutes, more clearly delineates who pays the
medical examiner and what services are paid:

  
"(1) Fees, salaries, and expenses may be paid from the general funds or
any other funds under the control of the board of county commissioners.
The district medical examiner shall submit an annual budget to the board
of county commissioners.

 (2) In the event that an examination or autopsy is performed by the
district medical examiner or his or her associate upon a body when the
death occurred outside the district, the governmental body requesting the
examination or autopsy shall pay the fee for such services.

 (3) When a body is transported to the district medical examiner or his or
her associate, transportation costs, if any, shall be borne by the county
in which the death occurred. Nothing within this chapter shall preclude
payment for services to the district medical examiner by the state, either
in part or on a matching basis.

 (4) Notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary, if an
examination, investigation, or autopsy is performed by the district

EXHIBIT B



5/2/2018 Advisory Legal Opinion - Medical Examiners, duties and responsibilities

http://www.myfloridalegal.com/ago.nsf/printview/289EB07BA2A1D6AD85256DFE00611E89 5/11

medical examiner or his or her associate upon the body of a person who
died while in the custody of a facility or institution operated by a state
agency, that state agency shall pay for such services and for any costs of
transporting the body to the district medical examiner.

 (5) Autopsy and laboratory facilities utilized by the district medical
examiner or his or her associates may be provided on a permanent or
contractual basis by the counties within the district."

  
Clearly, the medical examiner may be receiving income from a number of
sources: the county, other counties in the medical examiner district, the
state, or another governmental body. These funds are public funds and the
governmental entities paying these funds are responsible for making sure
they are utilized for the purposes for which they were appropriated and
paid. 
 
In the case of the county, the medical examiner submits his or her annual
budget and the county appropriates and pays funds to meet the budget
requests of the medical examiner. It is the responsibility of the county
to ensure that county funds are used to meet county purposes. Thus, the
county must satisfy itself that the medical examiner is using those funds
paid by the county to do the county's business. Whether this
accountability takes the form of a private audit requirement in the
medical examiner's contract or some other means of accounting for these
expenditures of county funds is a determination that must be made by the
county commission.[14] 

  
Question Three

  
Section 406.09, Florida Statutes, provides that "[d]istrict medical
examiners or associate medical examiners shall be entitled to expert
witness fees as provided by law." Expert witness fees may be paid to the
medical examiner or his or her associates under a number of statutory
provisions. For example, section 905.185, Florida Statutes, provides that,
when requested by the grand jury, the state attorney shall issue process
to secure the attendance of witnesses.[15] 

  
Section 92.231, Florida Statutes, which provides generally for "expert
witness fees," states:

  
"(1) The term 'expert witness' as used herein shall apply to any witness
who offers himself or herself in the trial of any civil action as an
expert witness or who is subpoenaed to testify in such capacity before a
state attorney in the investigation of a criminal matter, or before a
grand jury, and who is permitted by the court to qualify and testify as
such, upon any matter pending before any court.

 (2) Any expert or skilled witness who shall have testified in any cause
shall be allowed a witness fee including the cost of any exhibits used by
such witness in the amount of $10 per hour or such amount as the trial
judge may deem reasonable, and the same shall be taxed as costs."

  
These fees are payable by the party to the civil action who calls the
expert witness and are ultimately taxed as costs by the court in favor of
the prevailing party and against the losing party. 
 

EXHIBIT B



5/2/2018 Advisory Legal Opinion - Medical Examiners, duties and responsibilities

http://www.myfloridalegal.com/ago.nsf/printview/289EB07BA2A1D6AD85256DFE00611E89 6/11

Section 90.702, Florida Statutes, provides:
  

"If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the
trier of fact in understanding the evidence or in determining a fact in
issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience,
training, or education may testify about it in the form of an opinion;
however, the opinion is admissible only if it can be applied to evidence
at trial."

  
Section 914.06, Florida Statutes, allows for the compensation of expert
witnesses in criminal cases:

  
"In a criminal case when the state or an indigent defendant requires the
services of an expert witness whose opinion is relevant to the issues of
the case, the court shall award reasonable compensation to the expert
witness that shall be taxed and paid by the county as costs in the same
manner as other costs."

  
Finally, section 936.003(2), Florida Statutes, provides for the calling
and examination of witnesses at an inquest.[16] The statute states:

  
"Upon receipt of the petition of the state attorney, the county court
judge shall schedule the time and place of the inquest. The county court
judge shall send her or his warrant for witnesses, to be served by a
sheriff, commanding the witnesses to come to the inquest to be examined
and to declare their knowledge concerning the death. Any witness appearing
at, or summoned to appear at, an inquest shall be entitled to the same
compensation as that provided by law for witnesses in any criminal
proceeding held in the county."

  
The statutes make provision for expert witness fees to be paid to the
district medical examiner in a number of situations involving civil and
criminal proceedings. These fees may be paid by the state, the county, or
a private party, but are all income to the Office of the District Medical
Examiner when the medical examiner is testifying in that capacity. In the
case of public moneys from the state attorney or county, the public agency
paying the fees must satisfy itself that the moneys are being paid for an
appropriate purpose. The medical examiner is charged with ensuring that
funds paid into the medical examiner's office are used for the purposes of
that office.

  
Question Four

  
You ask whether a fee may be charged by the medical examiner's office for
autopsy photographs in excess of the costs authorized by the Public
Records Law.

  
The Public Records Law requires that "[e]very person who has custody of a
public record shall permit the record to be inspected and examined by any
person desiring to do so, at any reasonable time, under reasonable
conditions, and under supervision by the custodian of the public record or
the custodian's designee."[17] Accompanying this right of inspection is
the right to copy public records: 

  

EXHIBIT B



5/2/2018 Advisory Legal Opinion - Medical Examiners, duties and responsibilities

http://www.myfloridalegal.com/ago.nsf/printview/289EB07BA2A1D6AD85256DFE00611E89 7/11

"The custodian shall furnish a copy or a certified copy of the record upon
payment of the fee prescribed by law or, if a fee is not prescribed by
law, for duplicated copies of not more than 14 inches by 8 ½ inches, upon
payment of not more than 15 cents per one-sided copy, and for all other
copies, upon payment of the actual cost of duplication of the record." 
 
A "public record," for purposes of the law, includes "photographs."[18] 

  
I would note that the Public Records Law recognizes that, under certain
circumstances, additional fees may be charged for the copying of public
records:

  
"If the nature or volume of public records requested to be inspected,
examined, or copied pursuant to this subsection is such as to require
extensive use of information technology resources or extensive clerical or
supervisory assistance by personnel of the agency involved, or both, the
agency may charge, in addition to the actual cost of duplication, a
special service charge, which shall be reasonable and shall be based on
the cost incurred for such extensive use of information technology
resources or the labor cost of the personnel providing the service that is
actually incurred by the agency or attributable to the agency for the
clerical and supervisory assistance required, or both. "Information
technology resources" means data processing hardware and software and
services, communications, supplies, personnel, facility resources,
maintenance, and training."[19] 

  
The inspection and copying of autopsy photographs or video or audio
recordings of autopsy proceedings are treated distinctly in section
406.135(1), Florida Statutes:

  
"A photograph or video or audio recording of an autopsy in the custody of
a medical examiner is confidential and exempt from the requirements of s.
119.07(1) and s. 24(a), Art. I of the State Constitution, except that a
surviving spouse may view and copy a photograph or video or listen to or
copy an audio recording of the deceased spouse's autopsy. If there is no
surviving spouse, then the surviving parents shall have access to such
records. If there is no surviving spouse or parent, then an adult child
shall have access to such records. However, the deceased’s surviving
relative, with whom authority rests to obtain such records, may designate
in writing an agent to obtain such records. A local governmental entity,
or a state or federal agency, in furtherance of its official duties,
pursuant to a written request, may view or copy a photograph or video or
may listen to or copy an audio recording of an autopsy, and unless
otherwise required in the performance of their duties, the identity of the
deceased shall remain confidential and exempt. The custodian of the
record, or his or her designee, may not permit any other person, except an
agent designated in writing by the deceased's surviving relative with whom
authority rests to obtain such records, to view or copy such photograph or
video recording or listen to or copy an audio recording without a court
order. For the purposes of this section, the term "medical examiner" means
any district medical examiner, associate medical examiner, or substitute
medical examiner acting pursuant to this chapter, as well as any employee,
deputy, or agent of a medical examiner or any other person who may obtain
possession of a photograph or audio or video recording of an autopsy in

EXHIBIT B



5/2/2018 Advisory Legal Opinion - Medical Examiners, duties and responsibilities

http://www.myfloridalegal.com/ago.nsf/printview/289EB07BA2A1D6AD85256DFE00611E89 8/11

the course of assisting a medical examiner in the performance of his or
her official duties." 

  
Thus, while autopsy reports and records are within the scope of public
records for purposes of Chapter 119, Florida Statutes,[20] photographs and
video and audio recordings of autopsy proceedings are specifically made
confidential and exempt from inspection and copying by the general public
by section 406.135, Florida Statutes.[21] 

  
However, to the extent that persons or agencies who are authorized by
section 406.135(1), Florida Statutes, to receive copies of these records
request a copy, the copies should be provided in conformance with the
provisions of the Public Records Law. That is, copies of autopsy
photographs should be provided at the cost authorized in section 119.07(1)
(a), Florida Statutes, whether that is the "actual cost of duplication"
or, under appropriate circumstances, the special service charge for the
use of information technology resources. 

  
Question Five

  
You ask whether the medical examiner's office is authorized to charge the
public a cremation authorization fee. 
 
Medical examiners, like other public officers, have no legal claim for
official services rendered, except when, and to the extent that,
compensation is provided by law, and when no compensation is so provided
rendition of such services is deemed to be gratuitous.[22] 

  
I am aware of no authority in Chapter 406, or elsewhere in the statutes,
for the medical examiner to charge a cremation authorization fee. In the
absence of any such statutory authorization, it is my opinion that this
service is to be provided without charge to the public as a service of the
office.

  
Question Six

  
Resolution of this question requires consideration of the employment
status of the medical examiner and his or her staff. In the absence of any
agreement establishing the employment arrangement between the medical
examiner and the county, this office has no basis for such a
determination. 
 
With regard to coverage of particular employees of the medical examiner's
office under the provisions of Chapter 122, Florida Statutes, the Florida
Retirement System, this question is most appropriately addressed to the
Division of Retirement, Florida Department of Management Services.

  
Question Seven

  
Section 136.01, Florida Statutes, provides:

  
"Each county depository shall be a qualified public depository as defined
in s. 280.02 for the following funds: county funds; funds of all county
officers, including constitutional officers; funds of the school board;

EXHIBIT B

bembry
Rectangle



5/2/2018 Advisory Legal Opinion - Medical Examiners, duties and responsibilities

http://www.myfloridalegal.com/ago.nsf/printview/289EB07BA2A1D6AD85256DFE00611E89 9/11

and funds of the community college district board of trustees. This
enumeration of funds is made not by way of limitation, but of
illustration; and it is the intent hereof that all funds of the county,
the board of county commissioners or the several county officers, the
school board, or the community college district board of trustees be
included."

  
Accounts in county depositories are subject at all times to the inspection
and examination by the county auditor and by the Auditor General.[23]

  
As discussed in Question One, the Office of Medical Examiner is in the
nature of a district office, not a county office. I am aware of no
provision of Chapter 136, Florida Statutes, that requires the medical
examiner to pay all funds received by him or her from a county into a
county depository. While the county may wish in future employment
contracts with the Office of Medical Examiner to make provision for
accountability for funds paid to that office, I cannot say that any
requirement exists that the medical examiner deposit funds paid to that
office into a county depository.[24] 

  
Question Eight

  
Any question of the applicability of the Code of Ethics for Public
Officers and Employees, Part III, Chapter 112, Florida Statutes, to the
employees of the Office of Medical Examiner is most appropriately
addressed to the Commission on Ethics, which interprets the code.[25] This
office has no authority to construe the provisions of the Code of Ethics
or their applicability to particular officers or employees.

  
Question Nine

  
Section 11.45, Florida Statutes, provides authority for the Auditor
General to perform certain audits. Questions of the scope of the Auditor
General's authority should be addressed to that office for resolution.

  
Sincerely,

  
Charlie Crist

 Attorney General
  

CC/tgh
  

--------------------------------------------------- 
  

[1] See s. 406.01, Fla. Stat., providing the title for the act.
  

[2] Section 406.05, Fla. Stat.
  

[3] Section 406.06(1)(a), Fla. Stat.
  

[4] See Op Att'y Gen. Fla 87-09 1987 (medical examiner not a "state
agency" for purposes of representation by Attorney General in civil action
arising from alleged acts or omissions within scope of district medical
examiner's official duties). Cf. Bair v. Central and Southern Florida

EXHIBIT B



5/2/2018 Advisory Legal Opinion - Medical Examiners, duties and responsibilities

http://www.myfloridalegal.com/ago.nsf/printview/289EB07BA2A1D6AD85256DFE00611E89 10/11

Flood Control District, 144 So. 2d 818, 820 (Fla. 1962).
  

[5] See Rule 11G-5.002, F.A.C.
  

[6] See s. 406.05, Fla. Stat., recognizing cooperative arrangements among
the several medical examiner districts.

  
[7] Town of Palm Beach v. City of West Palm Beach, 55 So.2d 566, 569 (Fla.
1951). For another example of district officers within the Florida
Statutes, see s. 373.073, Fla. Stat., et. seq., providing for the
governing board of water management districts and their powers and duties.

  
[8] Section 116.03, Fla. Stat.

  
[9] Section 145.051, Fla. Stat.

  
[10] Section 145.071, Fla. Stat.

  
[11] Section 145.09, Fla. Stat.

  
[12] Section 218.30, Fla. Stat.

  
[13] Section 189.402(2), Fla. Stat.

  
[14] Cf. s. 406.075(1)(b), Fla. Stat., making the medical examiner subject
to reprimand, probation or removal or suspension for "misuse or
misappropriation of public funds or property."

  
[15] See also State v. Mitchell, 188 So. 2d 684, 687-688 (Fla. 4th DCA
1966), cert. discharged, sub. nom., 192 So. 2d 281 (Fla. 1966), as to the
common law rule and the implied constitutional and statutory authority and
duty of the courts and the state attorney with respect to the issuance and
service of witness subpoenas to secure witnesses to testify before the
grand jury. The statutory scheme for obtaining state funds for paying
witnesses appearing before the grand jury and the manner of payment of
such witnesses is set forth in sections 40.29-40.35, Florida Statutes.

  
[16] For purposes of Chapter 936, Florida Statutes, an "inquest" is
defined to mean 

  
"a formal, nonadversary, nonjury presentation of evidence concerning a
death, discovered by the medical examiner, state attorney, and law
enforcement agency during their respective examinations and investigations
into the death."

  
[17] Section 119.07(1)(a), Fla. Stat.

  
[18] See s. 119.011(1), Fla. Stat.

  
[19] Section 119.07(1)(b), Fla. Stat.

  
[20] See Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 78-23 (1978) (autopsy reports made pursuant
to law are public records which must be made available for public
inspection and examination unless exempted by special act. If not exempted

EXHIBIT B



5/2/2018 Advisory Legal Opinion - Medical Examiners, duties and responsibilities

http://www.myfloridalegal.com/ago.nsf/printview/289EB07BA2A1D6AD85256DFE00611E89 11/11

from disclosure by special act, an autopsy report may be kept confidential
only to the extent necessary to ensure that a criminal investigation would
not be significantly impeded and enable violators of the criminal laws to
escape detection and apprehension. Documents or records made confidential
by statute do not lose such status upon receipt by the medical examiner.)

  
[21] See Ops. Att'y Gen. Fla. 03-25 (2003) and 01-47 (2001) discussing the
scope of this exemption to the Public Records Law for autopsy records. 

  
[22] See, e.g., Gavagan v. Marshall, 33 So. 2d 862 (Fla. 1948); Rawls v.
State, 122 So. 222 (Fla. 1929). 

  
[23] Section 136.08, Fla. Stat.

  
[24] Cf. Ops. Att'y Gen. Fla. 72-272 (1972) (funds of governmental
entities separate and apart from the county do not come within the purview
of Chapter 136, Florida Statutes.); 60-77 (1960).

  
[25] Section 112.322(3)(a), Fla. Stat.
 
 

EXHIBIT B



� � �

���������	
��������
����

�������������������������
�

�

�

�

�
����������������

��������������������� ��!�������"�#��!���
�

�

�

�

��������

$%�&�'()�'*+*�

�������)���������

�

�

�

��������	�

�����,�

����!�����&���)����-�.���#��/�)�0!���������# �)���)�����&��!���!)����.�!���!��)���)�

��!1.!������)���)���������2%��)���)���������3�����)�$�)���2!���4��%��)�$�)�$!  �!&�

������)��!��.��������!)���)���!1.!��!����)���)�����5����6!���!��)�$�)��7��%���

��.!%!�#��)���)�$����.�5#�����)���)��������2����8�� )����

�

���������,�

�����������5��)���)�����!����.%��9)���)��.������6���)������%��!���0!5�)����

EXHIBIT C



� � �

������%������

��������	
������
��	�
������
����������
������
	����������
������
�������
��
�����������
�

������
����������
�����
����������
����

�������������
��������������� �����
��������
�!
������"��	�
���#������������
��
��������
���
��
��

��
�	
������
��	�
������
	�������
����
�	
������
��	�
���$ ������
����������
�
�	�
���
�

����
�����
������
����
����
�������	����
���
	��$ 
�����
�	
������
��	�
���$ ������
�

��������������
����	��������
�������
����$ ������
��������%��������
��
���
�����������$ ����

��$ �
����
	
����
��
�������
�����
������
����

�����
��&&' ����������#�	���������
����
��������
��������
��$ ����
�%����
���������!
������

"��	�
�����		��������������
��%����
���������(
����	
�����)�$ �"����
	
�����
����%����

�
�������*�
����
�
����������
�������
���)�+
�������
�����
����$ ����
����%�����
��,���������

��������-���������
������	�������
��������������	��
���
��%�
��������
�������
�����
������
����

	
������
��	�
���������
��*�
����
������
����
�	����%
��
�������.������$ ������
��
����������

������� ��

*�
��������
�'���
��
�������
���������#�������������!
������"��	�
��������
����
���	�������
�

!
������"��	�
���#��������
���������#�	���������
����
����	���
�����������
�������
����
�

����
��
����
��������������
����������
���������	��
������
��������*�
�����
��
����
�$ ����
�

�����	��
	
��������
�������
�����	����%
��
�������.������$ ������
��
���������������� ���

���(����&&' ����#����

����
�'���
��
�����
�$ ����/�����0�������%
���+
����	
���������
�
�����������
��������
����
�

���	���
�����
��
���
�������������
��
��������������
��
��������
�����
��
��*�
�$ ����/������0�������

%
���+
����	
���������
�����
��
�������%
��%�
��
����
�����
�
��������	�
������
����������

�����������������
�����
��
��������%
��%�
��
������
�	�.��������������
�����

*�
�������'���
��
��$ 
�
������
��%���#!"���&111����
����
�����
��������
���
�
�����

�
����������
��	
��
�
�����*�
�2��3��
������
���%����
������
�����������
��
��������������
�

�����������������������������*�
�2�����
���������
��
�����
$ ���������
���
�����

��	���������
������
��%����
���		����������$ �������
�������
������
���������
��
��$ 
�
�

���
���������
����	
������
��
�
����$ ����
������������������������%��
�������4��������

	
������
��	�
����*�
�2��5��
������	��
���
�����
��
�������	��
�������	
������
��	�
��

�
������	��
��
��
����
�����������%�
��
���������
��%�����	
����
���������	�������
���
��
���

*�
�2��1��
���������
����������$ ��+����������������������
�
����
���#������
����
����

�
6���
���������
���*�
�2�&���
�������
����
�����	�����������
����%
��
���������
�������
���

������
������
����������
��
����*�
���		���

��
�����%�
�������
�2�&���
������������
�
���
��

���������
���������(����&&' ����#�������������
������%����
�!
������"��	�
�����		�������

*�
�!
������"��	�
�����		��������������
��
������
�������
����������
�'���
��
�����%
�

���������
��%���
�
�
�
�����
���������#�	���������
����
�������
�������
�����
�
�	����

����������������
��������������
�����
�������$ �������
�������
�������
���
����
���

EXHIBIT C



� � �

��2�!�� �����!����
����������� ��

7��������������#���	�����' ����� 2�
#�����
�&��7����������� 2�
#�����
�2��#���	�����' ����� 3�
#�����
�3��8��������9 ����(������ 3�
#�����
��������	���
	�*����
�(������ :�
#�����
�:��;
�����������<
�$ 

�!
������"��	�
�������9 ����������
	
��

9 ����4���������*����
�<�+�� ��

�6��������
�������������;
������ 5�
#�����
�����6����� 5�
#�����
�5����
���������� =�
#�����
�=��;
������ &��

 �

���
��������� &2�
#�����
�1��#�
���;
�����%�����
�� &2�
#�����
�&���!
������"��	�
�������
	
���� �

���
���������� &2�
#�����
�&&��'���
��
������(
���� �

���
���������� &3�

����
�������� �
��	
�����"���
�
��"��	��������������������������������� &:�
#�����
�&2������������� &:�
#�����
�&3������
�������� �
��	
�����"���
�
� &:�
#�����
�&����������� &5�
#�����
�&:�������������� &5�

;
�
�������#������� �
��	
�� &=�
#�����
�&���;������
�����;
�
����'���
��
�� &=�
#�����
�&5��;
�
����'���
��
�� &=�
#�����
�&=��;
�
������*
���������> ������������*
����� &1�

#������
�?��
����	��
����(���	
������ 2&�
#�����
�&1��(
�������� 2&�
#�����
�2��� �������
����#�������;
����� 2&�
#�����
�2&�� ��
���������"��	������� 2&�
#�����
�22��"��	���������(
��������������
�"��
���� �����
�������
�<���� 2&�
#�����
�23����
����"��	���������(
��������� 22�
#�����
�2���@ ����� 23�
#�����
�2:��*
����#�������������
�#������� 2:�

�����(
����� 2��
#�����
�2���;
6���
	
���������
��������� 2��

!���
	
�����9 �
������� 25�
#�����
�25���
���
�� 25�
#�����
�2=��!���
	
�� 25�
#�����
�21��������
���������
���
�� 25�

9 ��
�� �����������'���
��
�� 2=�
#�����
�3���> ���������%������ 2=�

��
�� 21�

EXHIBIT C 



� � '�

�

$%��������������������#�����	� ���

��������+7�$
���������7��
,&-������� ��	��
��
�����������
�������
�����
����������
��	
��%����
�	
������
��	�
�����

$ �
��
�����$ �
���
�	
������
��	�
������
6���
������
�
�	�
���
�����
�����
���������+
�

�����
�������
���%���������������A����&&���� �
�
��

,�-�@ �
���
��
����	

����
����	��
������
�����
������A����&&�,&-,�-����A����&&�,&-,%-��

��
�%����������
�%������������
�	
������
��	�
�����������
����������������������
�

	
������
��	�
������
�����
�����
��������
��*�
��������
�	��������������������
�����
�������

� ����	����	� ������	����

,%-������
��
������
���
��	

����������
�����
�������A����&&���
�	
������
��	�
����������

$ �������%������
�%���������
�	
������
��	�
���������������
��	���������$ �����������
���

�
�����
��������
��#����������
�	
������
��	�
����
�����������������
������	�������
����

�
����������������
�
��
�������
������
��
�
��������	���
�������������
�����
�����
����

����������
�����
�������6������������������
�����
������
�
�������
�	������������������
��

������
����%����������	
������
��	�
���� �	
������������������
	����������
�����������

���
���9 ��
����
�	���
	�����������
������
��	�����
�����������

,�-�@ �
����
��������
�
��
�������
�	
������
��	�
����
��A����&&�,&-,�-�����������%
����
�

��
�%������������
�����
��������
������������%����
	����������	���������
���������%������

����
�����
���
��������
�����
��������		����%��������
������
�	
������ 	��
��	���
�	���

*�
�	
������
��	�
����
�����������
�������������
�������	
������������������B�$ ����

��
�	
������
��	�
����
����������+
������
����������������������
��
���%����������
������
�

�����
�
�	�
����
�����
�����
����������
��
��6����
�������
������
�%�������������

���
���
������
����������9 ��
����
���
������������%���6�����$ �������
��	������

,��������%�����
����������
��
�����
��������
����
��%����
����
������������-������	
�

���
����������
��	��
��$ �
�����������.���������������������
������&&,&-,�-����
�	
������


��	�
��$ ������+
������
�	����������������
�%�������	���
�
����
���������
�������
�������

�
����	�������������

,�-����
��������
���$ �
����
����	

����
����	��
������
�����
������A����&&�,&-,�-����,%-�

����������%

��
�
��
����
��A����&&�,&-,�-����
�	
������
��	�
��	�������
�������
����

�
�����������%��
�����6�����$ ���������
$ �����
�%�����#	�����
��
�	����
��%��

������������������������������
����
�������
�����
����� ���
��
����������
��������� ��	�����

*�
�	
������
��	�
���������
���
���������������
��
�����
��������
����
�����$ ��$ ���?�

&������
���	
������
��	�
���
�����
��������
�%��
�����6������*��������������
�
��
��

%������
�	
������
��	�
���$ ����������������
������������������
�������������

�������
�
���
�����������������
�����

2��)
����
�����������
��������
������������
�
�����
���

,
-�*�
����������	
������
��	�
������������
��������
���������������
����
��$ ����������
�����

�
���
��������
�������
���
�.�����������,����������
	��������
�-�������
	����

�

���
��������������
��	
������
��	�
������
�	���
������
���
�.��������������	
������


��	�
����������
��
$ ���
��
������������	
���
�������������������
��
���������%
�

�
�
��
�������
�%����%�������������
��	�������

EXHIBIT C 



'*+*��������!�	%��!���!�� ������������!�������"�#��!��� �

$%��������������������#�����	� ���

::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::�

�

;�

,2-�� �����
�����������
����������
����������������
������
������	����
������
����A����&&��

	
������
��	�
��.�������������������
������
�%����%
���������
�	�	
��������
�������+�$ �

������
�������
����
�����
������$ �
��
����
��
����$ ����
�
�	�
��%���������
�������������
������

%���
����������%���������������
����
��������������A3=2���1�� ���

���������	���
�	���������������������

��������'7�����������	����7�
,&-�������
����	�
� ��	�� ������*�
�
���
��$ �����
���������	����������������$ �����
�������
��
��

��
��

���
���������������������������
�����	��
���%���
�?��

,�-�9 ����������
	
�������4��������
��

���
�
����������������������	�%�����
���

������$ ����%
������
������*�
���
�
�������
�
�����������������������������������

"��	��
��������������������
�����
�������
���
��
��������������
���+��
��������
�������

��������
�������������8����������������
�������	����
������������������
����
��������
�

�	����
��$ ��������������
�����������9 ��
����
��
����
������
�
�
�������������
�

���������������
������� �	
������������
	
�������4������������
���
�����������������

�������������$ ��������
$ �	���
��������������
�����*�
���
�	���
�
�������/���
����

%
�����������0�@ �����
��
������	
������
��	�
�������
	
�����
���������
�
�
�

%
�$ 

���%
������
�����������%
������
���������������������
�����
�����
���
�

	
������
��	�
����������
��%����
������������
	
�������4�����������	�
�����
����

����
������������
�������������������
���

,%-�*����
�%�+����
��

���
�
���������������������������
����	��
���%���
��$ ������

��������������%������*�
���
�
�������
�
���������������������������*������������%�
�$ ����

���
�����
��������
����+��������	��
��������������%�
���(���
�������
����
����������

	����
���������
���������������
������
����
����
�������
���
�����
����������
������
�

%�+����������
���
��

�������������

��������;7�0���
������	��������7�
,&-�@ �
���+
��%���������������
	
�������4����������
�	���������
����������������������

��
�	
������
��	�
��	����%����
���
���	�
������
�
������?���

,�-�*�
�����
���$ ���
����
����������
�%����
��

,%-�*�
������������������������������������������
��
������������������$ ��������������


��	��������������������

�����

,�-�*�
�

���������������
�����������	����
����������
�������
�����
�����������

,2-�*�
�	
������
��	�
���������������������������
6�
��
��
���$ ��
��������	����

����
�������������
��
����%
����%�
����%����
���
���	�
������
�
�������	
����
������$ ��

��������������
����
���
��
�����%�����������
������$ �
��
����%������
��	
������
��	�
��

.�����������	���%
�������������������
���������������������������
	
�������4���������$ �


����
	
����
��
����������
�����������
����

,3-�@ �
��
�	����������
6�
��
���������

��$ ������������������������������
�����	����

���
�������
�	
������
��	�
�����������
���
����
������
���
�
���
����
�,�-���

EXHIBIT C 



'*+*��������!�	%��!���!�� ������������!�������"�#��!��� �

$%��������������������#�����	� ���

::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::�

�

<�

,�-�@ �
�
����������������
	����
�����
������������
	
�������4��������������
�����


�������$ ���������������

+�����
�����������
�	
������
��	�
����������
�	�������
��

������������
��������������

,:-������
�����	

����
�

������%�����������������������������
�	
������
��	�
��	�����+�

��
������������
	
�������4���������������
������
����%
��������
���	��������
	����
��

������������

���������������
�
����������
����%������
��������
�����
�������$ ��������
�

�
�������
��������
��
�� �����
���������������
����������������	�����	���
����������	����	��

������%�����
�����������
�����������
����������������������	������������

,�-�������������������
��������������
�%������������
���
�
��������
���%��
�����

���������

	
��%���
�����
�	���������
�������C�$ 
�
�����
�	
������
��	�
�����	�+
���
��
�	������

���
�����������
�������������������
������$ ����
6���
	
��?�

,�-�*������
������������
	
�������4������
����	�
������
����%
��������
���	�����

���
	����
��������������

���������
����

,%-�*������
������������
	
�������4�����������
�����+�$ �����	��������
������
�

�����	����
�����	
�����������
������
��
�
�
�������
���������
�	
������
��	�
��	���

�
�
�	�
����.�����������
�������

,�-�*������
�	
������
��	�
�������
��
���

������
�	
������
��	�
���
����	���
��
����


��	�����������
�%�������������
�����������

,�-�*������
������������
	
�������4�������+
���
����������������������
�%�������	�

��
������������
��������
�������������
�����������

,
-�*������
�	
������
��	�
����
$ ���
�
��������������
���
��

,�-�*������
�
����������
����
���
����������
���$ ����
��
������������
��
�������

��
������������

,�-�*������
������������
	
�������4���������
�%�����������
��%�������������+
����	�

��
��
�
�
�������
���	
������	�����������
����������$ ������
�	
������
��	�
�������
��

��������
�����
����	���%
���	��
�
����

,�-�*������
������������
	
�������4�����	�+
��������������������%�
������
��
���

$ ��
��������
���������������������
��������������
��������������
���������
���������

,5-�*�
������$ ����
�������
��

����������
����
������������
������
���
�	�������������������

�����
���������?�

,�-�*�
��
��������������
������
������	����
������
��������&&���� ��

,%-�*�
��.���������
��
����$ ����$ ��
��
���

,�-�#����	��������
������������
	����
���

,�-�#��
��������
��������
��
�����
�������������4
���������	���
��
	������%.
������������

�
�	�������

,
-�#��
�����%.
���������	
�������������
�
������+����������
��
��������������
���

,�-�*�
��
�
�
��$ �����������

,�-�*�
��
�
�
��$ �������������������	�����
�����

,�-�*�
�
��������������
���
�	������
6���
���
�����
���������
������
���	���
�������

$ ��������
�$ ��
�%
�����
��
��%����
�	
������
��	�
��������������

EXHIBIT C 



'*+*��������!�	%��!���!�� ������������!�������"�#��!��� �

$%��������������������#�����	� ���

::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::�

�

=�

,=-�9 ����������
	
�������4�������������������������
���$ ���	��������������������������

����
�
�
���$ ����%
������
�������
����	������������
��������	
�����
���������������	�

��	
��	����������
���
�	
������
��	�
��$ ��������
����������
�������

���
�����	���������
��

������
�����������%����������������
��������������
�
��������������
���
�������
�����

�����
�������
�����
��������
��
����������
�������
����
�����
��	
����+
�%
���
���
�%����

����
��6����
�������
�	
������
��	�
���> ����������������������������
�����������
�	
������


��	�
���
6���
��%������&2���� �����
���������������
�
��
�������
���
����
���+
��������������
�

����
��$ ����%
�����
������
�������������	�����������

,1-�*���
����������	
������
��	�
���$ �����
�
���������
������������
	
�������4�����

�����������
�
������+�������
�	�������������
�%
���
��
�
�������
��
���������
�	
������


��	�
���������	�+
��������
�
�
�
�+�$ ������
������������
	
�������4��������

�
�
����������
��������
������������%������*���
����������	
������
��	�
���$ �����
�
���������
�

�����������
	
�������4��������������������������
������
�������
���
����������&&����

����&2���� �����������������%�
��������	�+
��������
�
�
�
�+�$ ������
������������
	
��

�����4���������
�
����������
��������
������������%������

�������������

��������<7����������������
��������7�
,&-�@ �
���+
��%���������
�%�+������
�	���������
������������	�������������
�	
������


��	�
��	����%����
���
���
�
������?�

,�-�*�
�

�����������
������������������������������
��
������������������$ ��������

������
��	��������������������

�����

,%-�*�
�

���������������
�����������	����
����������
�������
�����
�����������

,2-�*�
�	
������
��	�
���������������������������
6�
��
��
���$ ��
��������	����

����
�������������
��
����%
����%�
����%����
���
���	�
������
�
�������	
����
������$ ��

��������������
����
���
��
�����%�����������
������$ �
��
����%������
��	
������
��	�
��

.�����������	���%
��������
���������������
�%�+�����$ �
����
	
����
��
����������
������

�����
����

,3-�@ �
��
�	����������
6�
��
���������

��$ ����������	���
	������
�����������
�����	����

���
�������
�	
������
��	�
���������
�
�	�
���
�����
�����
������

,�-�@ �
����������������
	����
�����
������
�%�+����������
�����
�������$ ��������
����
�����

�����
����$ �������
������������
�	
������
��	�
����������
�	�������
���������������
������

�����
����

,:-�*�
�	
������
��	�
��	���
�
�������
�	������
����������$ ����������������
�������
�%����

,�-�*�
�	
������
��	�
������
���

�����������
�����
�%����%
���
�
�������������

����	���
	������
����������+���%�
�������������
��������
����������
����������������%
���+
�

%����
������
�%�+������
����
��%����
�	
������
��	�
���

,5-�#������������������
������	
������
��	�
��%���
�����
�	
������
��	�
������
6���
���

�����
����
�
�%�+����������
����������������
������$ ��?�

,�-�#�$ ����
��
��������������
�
��
���������
������������

,%-�"��
���������
���������������������
�%��������������

,�-�8��
���
�������������
�%�����������������
�����
���
��

EXHIBIT C 



'*+*��������!�	%��!���!�� ������������!�������"�#��!��� �

$%��������������������#�����	� ���

::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::�

�

>�

,=-�#������������������
������	
������
��	�
��%���
�����
�	
������
��	�
������
6���
���

�����
�%�+��������
�$ ������
�	
������
��	�
����	��
��������%�������������
���+
�%����
�

�����
�%�+������
�����������6���
�����	������������$ �
�
���
��
�
�
��$ �����
��
���

���������	���
�	�������������

��������=7�����������������8�������������������)�

�����	������
��������	��?�������������
��

��4�7�
,&-�#�	
������
��	�
�������������
���
�$ ��������
�����
������
�%�+��%����������%�����
�����

$ ��+�$ ����	��
������
������
�%�+��*�
��
������%����
�	
������
��	�
��������$ ����������$ �

	��������
�%�+�����$ ��+�$ ����$ �����
�
������
�������������
�����
�������
�	
������


��	�
���*�
�	
������
��	�
���������%�����
�����
��
�������
����������+

���
���
����

��
���	
����	

���
6�
�������������
���������

,2-!
������
��	�
�������
��
��������������������
	
�������4��������������
�%�+��

����
����
�������������
����

����+�$ �
��
������
�$ ����
�������
���������
���
�������
�

���
��������������������
�������
��$ �
��
�
��������
�����
����������
���������
���
���

*�
��	�������������
������	���$ ����
����

	
��%��������������
�
�������������
�����

����
���
���������%
��
��
$ 
���
������������

,3-�*�
�	
������
��	�
��	����
6���
��������
�%�+����%
���������������	
	%
���������

������������
�#	
�����#�������������*����
�<�+�������
�"�
�<�+�#�������������#	
�������

,�-�)����������������
	
�������4��������
��
�
�������
�����
�����	����
�����%
�

����
���
��%����
��
�
�������
�	
���

,:-�����
6�
��
��%���������������
	
�������4�������������
�%�+����
�	
������
��	�
��

�������������
���
��
����������������
���
����������
�	���
����������������������������
��

,�-������	
������
��	�
�����������������������
�	
������
��	�
������������������
���������

�
������������������������������
���
6�
��
��%����
������������
	
�������4�������������
�

%�+�$ �
��������
����%�
���������������������	�+
�������%�
������
������
��
6�
�������
���

��	��
������������������
����%����������������
�����%����
���
����

�������������

EXHIBIT C 



� � � @�

��A%��&)���!��� ������������

�!������

��������>7��B
���7�
,&-�*�����
��������
���
�
	
������	
������
��	�
����
�����������������
�������
��%��

��!�������������
��������� ���6����
�����%
�������
�������
���

���������
������
B����
����%��

��
���
$ ���$ ��
��
�������
�������������	����
����
��
�B�%��
�
�������	
��B����%��

�
�
���
���
�
��������
�

��������
���
��������������
��
�����
�������
�	
������


��	�
�������
�� �	
������
������$ �����������
�
����������
�
�����
���������������	
����


�
����������������	
���
������������

,2-���
��������������������6����
�������
�����$ �
�
���	
������
��	�
��.��������������

����	��
����������������%
������
����?�

,�-��
�
�	�
���
���
����������
�����
���������
���������������
���������
��
�����.�����

���

,%-���$ 
����
���������
��6�
�������

,3-���
����������������������
��6�����������
��
�	���������	����
�����
�	
�����������������

��
��
�
�
��������
���������������������
��
�
�
���$ �������������
����������������
���
	��

%
��$ ?�

,�-����� ��	������� ��	�����,@ ����$ �����
��
�
�
�������.����%
���
��
���D-��

&��*��������	�����	���%
�+�$ �%��$ ��
��
��������
��%�
����	�
�
	
��������
�

��

���
�����������

2��E�$ �
��
������
��
�	���������	����
���
���������	���	
�����	�����
����

�������,���������������
�����������$ ��
����%���
�����������
��
����-������
��	��
��

�
�	���������	����
����
�$ 
�������	
�
�������
������������������

����������

��
���
����
��������������������%���	����%
���
��
�������
����������	
�����
�����

���������
��

3������	�����
�������������
��������
�
�	�
����������%�
��

���(
�
�
����������
������������
����

%�� �	���	����������������
��
�����������
����

��������
��������	%����
������������������
������	����
�����%
��
��
��%�?�

�����
���
$ �����
���������	
������������������9 ;�

%��9 %����������
�������
���
��	
���
������

,%-�!
������C �������

&��*�
������$ ����������%
�������?�

���#�����������
��
�
�
�F�����
��
�������
�������

%��#���������	
����	
�����
����%
������
�
�
��

�����	����	
���������������
������
	����
��
����%���
�������
��
�

�����������������������	�����������
�������
�
�������	��
�	����
�
��

2�� ����
�����	
�����������������%
��
����	��
������
������$ �����
�
��������
�



��������
���
��������?�

EXHIBIT C 



'*+*��������!�	%��!���!�� ������������!�������"�#��!��� �

��A%��&)���!��� �������)������!������

::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::�

�

(�

�����
�
�
����	���������	
����	
�������������	������������

%����
���
$ ������	����	
	%
�������
������
���%����

���*
�
��������
���
$ ������������������
���������	
�����

���;
�������������������������������������������������	
��

3��!
�������
������������������%
��������������
���������
�������
�����������	����

���%��������%�
�������
���"�
	
��������
?�

���(������������
��
�����

%�� ����������
�������
����
��������
	����

�������������

���;
�����������
��	
�������
���
$ ��$ ��������
�����

,�-� ������C �������

&��*�
������$ ���
�
	
����������%
�����������������
�?�

���(��
����%���������
�
�
��

%���������������,
�
��	����
���	����
���$ ���$ 
���������
�-�

���������������
�������
�
�
��

����
�	�
������
�������
�
�
��


��> 
������+���	
������
�������
�
���
��	%
��

�����
������	
������
�
�
��

2��*�
������$ ���
�
	
����������������������������%
���������
�
����
���������
������

���
�������
���������?�

���#���������
�����%��
�

%��(�����%��
�

���9 ������������
	����	
����������

���(����������
�


�����	������������

��� $ �		����%����������%���
���������$ ��
��

���*������������
����������
��������
6���	
��

�����	���������$ �������
��	��

���;
�����������$ �������
���

.��;
�����������
����������������

+��"��������

�������������������

	�� 
�������������

,�-�> ��������
����
�������������	
������
��	�
�����	��
�
����������
�����
��
�����������$ ����

�
����������
��
��$ ������������
�����������
����������	�
�����
���������
������
�

��
��	
�����������
��
�����%����
�	
������
��	�
����

���������	���
�	�������������������

��������@7��������������
,&-�"
������!
������
��	�
����������
���%��������������������
��������$ ����������
����
������
�����

����
��%
��$ ��
6���
��
������
���
�������������$ ��������
���
6���
������������
������

�
������
���
�����������

,�-�<���
��$ ��������	�������
�������������������

,%-�<���
���
�
�
�����
$ �%�
�%������
����������$ �����

EXHIBIT C 



'*+*��������!�	%��!���!�� ������������!�������"�#��!��� �

��A%��&)���!��� �������)������!������

::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::�

�

C�

,�-�<���
����
$ 
�����
����
���������
��%��%���
�
���������������%
���
���
���
�����

������������������
�
	��

,�-�C�	����
��

,
-�#������
��%���
��

,2-��#�����$ 	%��#�&��������	��
���!
������
��	�
��������������
�
����
��	��?�

,�-�(
�
�
����
����������	��
�������������
	����

��

,%-�(
�
�
����
����������	��
���������
������
���

,�-�(
�
�
����
����������	��
������
��������
�	
������
��	�
���

,�-�,> ��
?�*�
�%������
����
�������
���������������
���

�	������%
���
�%������������
���

���������	�������
����%�����
�
�
�����
$ �%�
�%��
�
	���$ ������
�
���
��

��%�
6�
�������	�������	�����%
��
����%�����
����
�����������
������
�������
��%����
�

�����������
����������%���
�
������
�������
���	
������	������������
�����$ ����
����%���

���
����
�������
���	
������	������-�

,3-�"��	��
�������	�����
���
����������������������	��
��	
�����������
?�

,�-���	����	
	%
����
����
���
�
�
�������

������$ �
����
	
���%���������������
���

���	
������
��	�
�����
������
�����������
��

,%-�)�$ �
����
	
�������������������������
�����	���
������
�F�����
�
�����
�
�
�F��

%����������
�������

�����	
������
��	�
�����
������
�����������
��

,�-�C����������
�������������������������	
����������
��	
�����%
�����
����

,�-�(
��	���
��%������������������
����	�������
�
�
���$ 
������
�
�
�F�������
��

���.
$ 
�����

,
-���	������������������

,�-�"��	��
�������������������������	��
�������
?�

,�-���	����	
	%
����
����
����
$ �%�
�%�������	
������
��	�
���
��
�
�����
��%����
$ ����

�
	������������������������
�

,%-���	������������
	���
	��������	���
	���	�����������������

,�-���	������������
	���
	��������	���
	��
�����
���������������������

,�-����
�������

,
-�(>#��
����

,:-�"������������'������������(
������@ �
�

�
�����
��
�����
�������������
�	
������
��	�
��

����������������
������
����$ �
����
	
����
�����
	���������
������$ ������������������?�

,�-��)��� 	�����*�������%
���
�%�������������(>#���
��	
����������
���
��(>#�

��%��������$ �������
����$ �������
�(>#�������
������
��<�F����	%�
��(>#���
�� ���
	�

,�9(� -���������������%��
����(>#�������
����

,%-�����	���	����
�
�
#��	��	�����
����#�� 	�����������*(&��*���������
�%����������������

��������$ �
����
	
�������	��
�
��> �������	������
��<�F��> ����������	
�����	�����

�
�
���*�
�> ����	������������
����
���
��������
������	�������
��������
��*�
����
��

EXHIBIT C 



'*+*��������!�	%��!���!�� ������������!�������"�#��!��� �

��A%��&)���!��� �������)������!������

::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::�

�

+*�

��
��
����
���������
�������
��
������������������%�
�	����
������	���%
�
�
���������

�
������������������$ �
����
	
��������	��
�
������
������
����	��

,�-�*��#��������� 	�����������*(&��*���������
�$ �
���	��������%
�	��
�%����������$ �


����
	
�������
��()"������������	�����
��%��������������
������������
��������

����	��
�����
����������	���������
	���#�� �,��
����
��#���	��
�����
������

��
���������� ���
	-��<
����
���
��<����������
��
�
���������
����
�����
�����������

$ ������()"�$ �����%�
����	�+
����	��������
�	
������
��	�
��������������
���
����

���
����������
����������
��<�������	��������	��
������
�����
$ ��
��
�
���

,�-�*	��	�����
�������
���*���������
�%��
	���������������������%����������
��+����$ ���������

���������
���������F���+
���������
��
��������
�����
�������
����������
��+
��������

�����������
$ ��
���������$ ��
���
�
������%��
�������
����
���
	�����

���������	���
�	�������������������

��������(7���������
,&-�#���6�
�����
����
���
�����	����%
�	�����
������
�����
������
�������������������
�

$ �����
���������&3���������� �����
��

,2-�"�����
����������������������	��	�	?�

,�-���
�����������	�����

,%-��������������������������?�

&������
�����
������	
��������.��������������%��
������
����

2������
������
����������������������������4������
���
������
�
�	�������������
�

����
����

3������
�$ �
�
��
����������
��9 ;�����
�$ �
�
�%����$ ��������

���(��
������	
�������
���9 ;�(��
������	
�$ ��
��
�������
�9 ;�(��
������	
�

������
��,����������
��������-�

:������
�����
������	
������

���
����������
����
�

�������
�����
����	
�������
����
��	���������%����

5��(��
�����������
����
�����
��������
�

=��(��
�����������
����
������%��	
������
��	�
��

,�-���������������������	
����

,�-�#��
��������������
�	
����������
�����������

,
-�> �������
���
��������
�����	������

,�-�;
�������������	���
	�
��	�����������
�����

,�-�����������
��
������

,�-� �		���
������
����������
���������	����
����
��
�������4
�����
�
�	������
�����
�

���	�
������
����

EXHIBIT C 



'*+*��������!�	%��!���!�� ������������!�������"�#��!��� �

��A%��&)���!��� �������)������!������

::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::�

�

++�

,�-�����������
��
�����
��������
������	��
�
��%����
�	
������
��	�
���#�����������8�����

 ����������������
�����
�����
�����
����������������
��
�����
��������
���������%�����
������

*�
�	
������
��	�
���������%
��$ ��
�����������	�����
�$ ���������������
��

,.-�> ��
�������
����
����	�����������������������$ ������
���	�����	
�������
���
�����$ �


����
	
�������
���������
����������
�������
��$ �
��������%�
��

,3-�#�
	���
	�	
�������
�������%���
������
����
��������
��
������
����������
������
���

�����
������������	���%
��
���������	������������
�����������
�����
����
�����������������
	�

���������������
�
�������
���
�

,�-�(
����
#���*�
������$ ���������������%
�	�����
����	
������
��	�
���
������9 ;������
�

�����������
������������	
������
��	�
���������
�?�

,�-�(��
������	
�%��������
�����������������������

,%-�(��
������	
�%��������
��������������������������

,:-�+
� �����
��
��	�
�������
������

,�-� ���������
��	�� ����	����	� ��������������	��	�� �
�������������������
��������
��$ �����

�����
����
���
��
����
������1�G �������������
�������������%
���	��
�
��������
��

$ �����1�����
��������������
�����
���������&��G �������������
�������������%
�

��	��
�
��������
��$ �����&=������������
�����
�������

,%-� ����������
���������	�����
�����#����������
������������%
���	��
�
��������
��

$ �����1�����
�����������
����
���
��%�����
��������	���������
���
����#���������

�
�����������
��$ �����1��������������%
���	��
�
��������
��$ �����3�����������
�
����

�������������
���������	�������
���
��
���

���������	���
�	�����������������������

EXHIBIT C 



� � � +'�

��!�!���3!���5������

��������C7��	�������������������,�
,&-�*�
����������������
��%
�$ 

���$ �
����
	
�����	
������
��	�
������������
������

��

����
���	���	
������
��	�
�����������������������

,2-�)�$ �
����
	
��������
���
����������������
�����%������������
���

�$ ���
���
�	
������


��	�
������.����������������
��
���%���������
���

��

,3-�������

����������
����	
������4��������
����
��
����	
������������
��������
���4����

����%

�%���������
����������

,�-� ��
��������������������������
�	
������
��	�
������
���
���
�����
�
����
������

����
�

	
������
��	�
��	��������
������
�
���
���	
��������������������
��������
��
���%���������$ �


����
	
�������
��������
���

��

���������������

��������+*7������������������0��0������������

�0����	�����,�
�,-.����������"
������"�������������	
������
��	�
������������
�������������������
��$ �����

���
����
������
������

��$ �������������%���
���
�����	���
�	
������
��	�
�������
�� ������

����������������+
����������
��������
������$ ��?�

,�-�*�
�

���������	���
��
�������������������
�������$ �
����
	
������
������������

���������������
��
�����
�������
�	
������
��	�
�������
��

,%-�*�
���	�
��������
�����
��
����

������
�����
��?��*�
���
��������������������������

	
������
��	�
�����
�
����
������

�$ �����
�
������
����
�����
�����������������%����

�
�����
���

,�-�#��
�������
����
�����
������

������$ ����
�������������������
�����������

����	��������
������
������	����
�������
��
������������$ ����������������

����
������%
�$ 

���
���������������������
��
�����������
���%�
6�
����
��������
�

��������

,�-�*�
������������������
��
������

�������
����$ �
����
	
��$ ������
��	�����

����	����������	�������$ ���
����	������
������������%
������
�������
���������
�����

$ ��������
�$ ��
�%
���
����
��

,
-�#�����
������������������
���������������
������

��������%
��%�
������
6���
���

��		�����
�����	����������
������������������������
��������������
������
������$ ����

��
���%�
6�
������������������

,�-�#�������
���������
	����
��%����	
������
��	�
�������
������
�����

�����
�����������

�
�����
�	
�����������������������
�������
��
�
�
��������
������	����
������
�����*����

	���%
�����	�����
������
���������������$ �
����
	
����
�����������������
�����%��

��
���
$ ���$ ��
��
��������
�������
���

���
�
��������
�������������
����������

	
������
��	�
���

EXHIBIT C 



'*+*��������!�	%��!���!�� ������������!�������"�#��!��� �

��!�!���3!���5������

::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::�

�

+;�

,�-�<���������������������
�����������������
�������������	�+
��
���%�
��%�
�����������

����������������������	�������

,2-�/������
�����
���� ���������
��
������

�%����
�	
������
��	�
�������
?�

,�-��
�������
����
�%�����������������#���

�������%��������������������

������������
��

$ �
���
�
��������	����
���
���������������������	����
��������
���������������
��

������������	����
���#���������������������
����������
���

�$ �

�
����
����������

�
6�
��
��%����$ �
����
	
���

,%-��
�������
����
�%��������
������������������
����������#���������������

��
���������	���%
��
��������
������

�$ �

�
������������������������������������������

��������
���

��

,�-�*
�
��������		����������$ �������
�	
������
��	�
��	����
�
���
�������

�

��
�������������
�������$ �
����
	
���

���������	���
�	���������������

��������++7�	
������������������������0����	�����7�
,&-�!
������
��	�
���
���
���
��������������

�������?�

,�-�(���	
��%�����������������$ �����?�

&��*�
��������������
�%����,����
�����
�����
�����
��	%
���
���-�������������	�������


��%���%.
�����*�
�
���%����	
�����������������
��������
���+���������

	
����
	
��������
��
�����%�����������$ �
����
	
�B�

2��#���
���
�?�

�������
������������������
���������
�B�

%������
�
���
�
B�

���$ 
������������B�

����
���
	
������������B�

3����
	���
���
�
��%��	
������
��	�
���
���
���������
���������
��������B�

���"���
�
������	��������
�����
������

:��"���
�
������
�����������������
���
�
�
������	����$ �����	������
��������
������

��
�%����

�������
��������	�		�����������+
�
���4������������
���
���
������	���
	�

����
��

,%-� 
�������������
	��
�����
�
���
�
�����������%
�������������
���%
���
��
	�����

�����������.
$ 
�����

,�-������
��$ �
�
�����
�
���
�
�������������������
�?�

&��;��������
�%����������
$ ���

��������
��	�����������
�%����

2��)
�������
������������������
��
��	�����������
������������������

3������������
��%��������
����������

���

,�-�*����
������
��
��
���
�
������$ �
����
	
���#����
���

����
���$ �
����
	
��

��
��������
��	���������
�������������
����
�����
�����
�
�����

EXHIBIT C 



'*+*��������!�	%��!���!�� ������������!�������"�#��!��� �

��!�!���3!���5������

::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::�

�

+<�

,
-�#��������$ �
����
	
�����$ �%%�����
�����������
�
��������
�
���������	
����

��������
����
�����
�������

,�-�;
	��
�.
$ 
����������+
�����
���������

�%�
������$ �
����
	
���

,�-�(
���
�����
	��
��������
	��
���������%��
������
�

��������
���
������������

$ �
��
����
�%�����������%������
$ �����

��������������������%
��
	��
�������
���

�����

$ �
���
���������������������
���

B�

,�-�(
�
�	�
?�

&��*�
���
�
�
�����%�
�
�������������������
�
���$ �
��
��������������
��$ ������
�

�������������
�%�����

2��*�
���
�
�
�����%�
�
�����������$ �
��
������������
��������
������$ �
��
��������

������
��$ �����������B�

3��*�
���
�
�
�����
��	��������������
�B�

���*�
���
�
�
�����%�
�
�����������%�����������,	�������
���������������������������

�����
����
��	
������	
����
	
�����%�����
	�
�����
����%
�$ �����
�������

�
�
�	��������	���
	���
�����%�����	
��	
���
���������
�
�	����

���
���
�	��-B�

:��*�
���
�
�
����$ ��������������%�
��$ ������
��	������%�
���������(
����
��

�
������������$ ����������
���

�������
�
�������

���������	���
�	���������������

EXHIBIT C 



� � � +=�

����!������� ��1!��#!�������

�3��!��!)��"�#��������� �

����.��5)������.���5��1.&�

��������+'7������
���������������������0�����7�
,&-������%��������������
������%
�$ 

���
�	
������
��	�
�������$ �
����
	
��

��
����������������	
���

��
��������������
��
����%�
����	��������%

��������

,2-�#����	
�������
���������+�����
���
�
�����
����������	
������������
��
����	��
����

��
���������
���
��������	���	
������
��	�
�������������

���������������

��������+;7���������������������������0�����7�
,&-�*���
�
���
�
����	���
������������%�����������%
?�

,�-�����
��
������%
�
�������
����

,%-� ���
�������
���
���
���������		
����
����
�
��
�������$ �
����
	
�������
����	
�

��%���������

,�-�(���	
�
��%�����������������$ ����
���
���

,�-�*���+
��$ ��������������������������	
���

,2-�0����	��"�
��������*�
�	
������
��	�
��	����$ �
�������
��������
���������4
���
��������


����������������
���
���
���
�������
�����������	����
�������
����������� ��������
���
��

�����
��%�����
������	��
����?�

,�-�����
����������������
����
��

,%-�����
����������%�������
����������	%�������
�
	��������$ �%����������������������

�
�����������
������
�������������H����������������
�����%
�������������������	�����

����
��
���
��������������

,�-� $ �%����������
����
���%��
�	��+����

,�-�I ��������
�����
��������
���
������������
�
��	����������
�
�����%
�������	
������

�
	�������������H������
���	��
�������

,
-�����
����������
�����
��	
��������������
��	���
��%���
���

,�-����	�����������������

,�-�(>#�����������

,�-�C ������������%���+����$ ���
���������������������
���.���
�������	���
�����
��
��

�	��
�
���
	
���

,�-������
��������������
�������������������
�%����������
�����������������	
���������

�.���
����������������������������
���.���
���

EXHIBIT C 



'*+*��������!�	%��!���!�� ������������!�������"�#��!��� �

����!������� ��1!��#!��������3��!��!)��"�#��������� �����.��5)������.���5��1.&�

::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::�

�

+>�

,3-������
���

,�-���
�������
����������%
�������%�
�������������������6�����������
���%���
���

,%-� �
��	
������
����������%
���%
�
��$ ������
������$ ���	��	�	�����	����?�

&��> �	
�������
���
����
��������
��
�
�
��

2��*��
������	��
�����
��
���

,�-������
���������
��	
���������
��
���������%������
�����
����	
������������������%��

��
����������������������������%
���������������%
�
��$ ���?�

&��(��
�����
��
��

2����������������
����
����
������
��������
�������
��	
�

,�-�0����� �����
���
���
�
#��������#�

,�-�"�������������	
������
��	�
������������
���$ ����
��������������
��
����������
����

��6��������
��	
������������
���
�
��
�������
���	��������	�
�������6���������

,%-�#�
6���
���	��
����������
�������������������%
�����
��
���������
�����
��������

�������%
���+
������
�
��	����%
�������	����
�����������

,�-����������������������	��
���������%
��%���
��%�������������

,�-�*�
����������%�������
��	
�����	��
���������
����
�����
��
������������������������%
�

����	
�
���

,
-�#��6��������%���������
���������
�����������
������������
����������������
���������%
�

����
��
�������
�
��
�����	�
������������$ �
�
�������%�
�
�
�������		
����
��
��������

���
	����
���*�
����������
��	
������
��
���������%
��
�
�	�
���������
�%�����
�

%����������
������
���������
�	
������
��	�
���

,�-�#�����������%�������	��
������
��
���������������������
������������%
���
�
��
��$ ����

��
6���
��	����������
�
������
������
�
���
��������������
���	��
��

,�-�> ����
�
������
��������%
����
�����������
�����
������	��
���
����
6���
��%����
�

�
���������
���
���

,�-�@ �
����	�������
�����
��
���
�������������������������������
�����������	
��������

%
�	
����
������
����
���

,�-�����	�����������	��
���������%
������
����

,.-�#�����
��	
���������%
�����
��%
��$ ����
��

���
������
����
����	��
���������
�

���������������
��������
�	����
6���
���

4��������
���	��
���

,:-�1���
�
#��	���
�����

,�-�*����
���	��
�����	�	�.����������������%
���
�
��
�������	�����

,�-�(>#�*
�����

,�-�@ �
�������
���%�������	��
�������
�����������(>#��
������������%
�����
��
�����

�����������
����
��	
���������������
����	��
�������
��	����������������
���%�
�

	����$ ���

������������	���%
���
�%
���������%�
���	��
���

,%-����
�	����%
���+
��������������	���������	����
�������
�����(>#���������
�

����
��������������������
���	��
���

EXHIBIT C 



'*+*��������!�	%��!���!�� ������������!�������"�#��!��� �

����!������� ��1!��#!��������3��!��!)��"�#��������� �����.��5)������.���5��1.&�

::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::�

�

+@�

,�-�����
��������(>#�
�
	����������

�������
6���
���������
����
��%���
�������������
�

�����������
�	
������
��	�
��������
����
��%���
����

,5-�!����%����������*
�����

,�-�*�
�	
������
��	�
������������
����
��������	����%���������%���������

,%-� �
���
������
���������������	
�����������%
�������%�
������
��%������
��%����

	���%���
���������������
���������
6���
���

,�-�<���
��������������������
��������
�����
�����	����%��������
������������%
��
����	
��

�����
������
���������
�	
������
��	�
��$ �
�
�
��������������	����
�����
�����
���

��
���������
����

���������	���
�	���������������

��������+<7�������	7��
,&-����������������%
?�

,�-�;
	��
�����
������$ ��������
�
�������
����������������

,%-���
����
�������$ �����
������
��
�����

,�-�(
����%
�����
������������
���������
���
�$ ����$ ��������������
�
���
�
�����

��
����������$ �
�
�
�������

���������������

��������+=7������	�����7��
,&-��������������������%
������
	
�
��$ ������
������������������
?�

,�-�*�
�%��������
�
��
���

,%-�*�
�%���������$ ����
	�����������������

,�-�*�
����
�����
����
�����������
�����������

,�-�@ ��������%������
��%��%���������
���	���
����������������

,
-������
�����%�����	������
�������
�����
���������������	�.���$ �����������������
�

����
��������
����
��������
����
����
�$ ��
����������

,�-� ������	��+�������������
���	���
���������
����6�
��
����
��$ �
�

�
������

��
�����������

,�-�(�	��
����������������
���
�
���
�
������
���������$ �
��
���
�������
�

��
�������������������
������$ �����.���
������
�%�����

���������	���
�	���������������

�

EXHIBIT C 



� � +(�

�!�!������� ��%��1�&��1!��#!���

��������+>7����������������������	
�������7�
,&-�*�
�
������+�����
�����		����$ ��������������	���%����������
�������
����%�������

,2-�*�
�	
������
��	�
����������������������������
����	��������
������
�������������

�����
��������
�������
������
�
�	�������������
�����
�����	�
������
�������
�������������

��
��
�
��
�����
�
�
�������
��
�������
�
����������
���
�
��

,3-�*�
����
���� 
�����&&' �2��������#�����
��
����	��	�4
����
��������������%
�$ 

���
�
�

��������&&' �2�����������
���
�������������
����	����
�#	��������������
�
�������
���
�	���

,�-�*�
�	��
���������
������$ �������������������
	
�����
����
������
���������#�	���������
�

���
��

���������������

��������+@7���������	
��������
,&-�(
���"	������<
����
������
������	�������
$ ����$ �+
�������
�������
���	����
������+����

@ 
��
��������
�����
������
��
	��������%.
�������������	���
	�����
����������������
�


��
����������%�
������������
�%�������������
�����
������������
����*�
�
���
�������
��	
�����
�

�
������
���
	���
���������%
���
��
������
�
�������	�����
����;
�
�������
���
����
�����
�

�#���

,2-�9 �����

,�-�9 �������
��
���
�����
�
��
���
������
�����������������	
������
�����
�������

��
�
�
�������
��
��!�����
���
����������
����
�������	����������%�
6�
����
�����


��	�������9 �������		�����
���
�������������������
�������������
���
��
�����%�����


�
������������������9 ��
����������
��
���
���
�����
6�
�����

,%-�;
���
����������
���������	�������
���
�������
�%��������%�������

,�-�;
���
����������
�%��	
������$ ���
�����
��
��%�� 3=&���11�,2-�,�-���� �������������

%
��
�����
��%����
�	
������
��	�
��%������
����	
���$ �
���
�
��	�����������
�

����������%

���	��
�
����H���$ �
��������
���
�����������
	����
��� �	��
�����

�����
���
������	�������
���
�����	����������%
��
�����
���

,3-�*����
������������

,�-�;
��
�
�����
������
���	��
�����	�	�.�����������
������	�������
���
�������	������

�����������
�����	�$ ���������
�����
�������%�
�
�
������	���������������
����
���
���
���

���	����4
�������
�����
���
�������������
���
�������%
��
����	
���������������

	���������������
�����%
���
���
�������������
��%
��	
��
�
�������������������������
��
��

�����
�
�	�����������
�����
���H���	�
������
�����������6�������������������
�

������������%���������

,%-����������������
���	��
�����	���	
���������
����
��
���
������
��
����
���
�����

���4
�����
�������
������������
�	
������
��	�
���
�
��������������������������
���
�����

����		
����
������
	����
���

EXHIBIT C 



'*+*��������!�	%��!���!�� ������������!�������"�#��!��� �

�!�!������� ��%��1�&��1!��#!���

::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::�

�

+C�

,�-�!
������
��	�
���$ �����������
���������
������������
��	
���������
���
����������

����
���
����
�����#����������
�
���������������
�������
�
�������
���
��������
�
�

��
��	
����

,�-�������
����$ �����
�����������,
������+����������
����������������	������$ ����-�

�
6�
�����������
�	
������
��	�
���
��������
��	
�%
������
���	
���
����
��%����
�

�����
��
�
�������
���
����������
����
�	
������
��	�
���������
���
���
������
�

��
��	
�����
6�
��
���������������
��
���������+
��������������
���
��	
����
�
��%���

%���
������
���
��	
����
������������%������������

,
-�*����
��������������
���������	�������
���
�������
�%��������%�������

,�-�*����
����
�%��	
������$ ���
�����
��
��%�� 3=&���11�,2-�,�-���� �������������%
�

�
�����
��%����
�	
������
��	�
��%������
����	
����$ �
���
��
�
�������
���
�����

%

�	
������������
���
�����������
	����
���

,�-����������
��������
��%����
�	
������
��	�
��%������
����	
����$ �
���
��
�
����

���
���
�����%

�	
������������
���
�����������
	����
���

���������	���
�	���������������

��������+(7���������)�������	�����D����
�����

�����	�
,&-�"��� ����
�������
�
������+������
6���
������������%
�����	
�
����������?�

,�-���	�����������
��%�
�
���������������
���$ �����
6�
��������
�
��
��
���
�������
�����

�������������
�
�
��
��	���������������������������
����
���
�������
��
�
�	������

�������
�����
�����	�
������
�������
�
�
�������
��
�������
���������������
��
�
��
���

�����������
������
����������������������
�
������������������
���������

	
��
�
������

��������������������
��%����
�	
������
��	�
��

,%-�(��������
��	
�����	
��������������������
��
�������������������������
����������

������
���

,2-�<��	���������

	
�����
������������������
	
�������4�����	���������%
����������
�

	
������
��	�
������%�����
�	����������
�����������
���
��	
��

,3-��
�	�����������
�
������+���������
6���
�����?�

,�-�*�
���
�������
����������������
������
	������
���	�����������������������	������

��
�
�����������	
����������
���������
���
��������
�����
���������

,%-��������������%����
�	
������
��	�
�F�������
����
������������������$ ��������
�
�����

	
����
�������
���
��������
�����
������������������������������������
��%������������

�
���
������	
����������
����

,�-�#��������
����&&' �2�����,�-����#��������
����
�%�
�����������%�
�������������%�
����������


���
�
����������%
��
�
��
��������
�
�
�������������
��	��������
�����	�
�����

�
�����������
��;
�
�����������
��	
��������
����������	
���
��
����������	����
���
�
����

���
���
�$ �������������
�����	�
������
�����

,:-�+
��������	��2��
�����*�
�	
������
��	�
���������%
���	������$ ��������
�����%�
�����

��	�����
�$ ����������
�����
���������
�������������
���������
��������
���
����	
������

EXHIBIT C 



'*+*��������!�	%��!���!�� ������������!�������"�#��!��� �

�!�!������� ��%��1�&��1!��#!���

::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::�

�

'*�


��	�
���
�����������
����������
�
�������
�������	���	��
������
����	������
�������������

�
�
�����
���
����
����������	������
�����%���
�������������%��
�����
����%
����&&1��5��� ��

���������	���
�	���������������

EXHIBIT C 



� � '+�

�%��1��!�,��!� ��#���!�����

���%#!��������

��������+C7������������
,&-�+	���
����	��?�*�
���
���������
��
�����.�����
�����%�
������
�������	��������
��
�����

������������
�
������	���������
�����������
�������
�������
�'���
��
������
	��������
����

�
��������
�
������������/�
���������
�������
�0����/�
���������
���
��������0�������%
�

������
�����������
�����
�����������������������
������

,2-�$ 	�����
����	��?�#���	��
�����
	�����������������
�����%��
��������
����������
���
�
�
�

����%�
�
������
��������	�������
���
�
�
�����%�
�
��������
�
����
�������
����$ �����������

����
����������������������������������
�����
���
��
����������������
�����
���
��������

�����������������(��
��
��*�
������
����
��������������
�����	����
��������
�������
�
�	�
����

,3-���
���?� �	
�������
�����=52���,&-��� ���

,�-��������	#������#���%������������������������
��������������
����
����
����������

������������
�	
������
��	�
���

���������	���
�	�����������������

��������'*7����
��
�������
��������������
,&-�*�
���������������������%
��
����%
�����������
���
������������������
�������
�����������

��������������

,2-��������������
�	�
������
�����������%�������������������
������������������������

,3-�9 %.
����
��%�
��������	���%
�����������
�����	���������������������
�����%����
���

����
	
�����
�����
����
���%����
��
������������	�����������$ �������
��%.
����
��
���%��

���
��
�
������%�����
��
����������
���
�������
�	
������
��	�
�F�����������

���������	���
�	�������������

��������'+7������
��	����������������
,&-�#������
���������%
����
���
��������������
����
���
�%����
�
��
����$ �
����
	
��

��
����������������	
���

��
���������

���������������

��������''7��������������������������������

���������
�������������������
,&-�*�
�
��
����
��	������	����%
�������
��%����
�������������%
���
���
���
����


��	�������

,2-� ����	�����������
���#��

�����
��������������
��
����
�+���������
��
�����
��������


���
	���
������������
�������$ �������
��������
���
�
���
	�������������������
���������

�����������������	
�������������%
����
����������
���
��������	

����
���������
�

�
6���
	
����*�
��

�����
������������������������
�?�

EXHIBIT C 



'*+*��������!�	%��!���!�� ������������!�������"�#��!��� �

�%��1��!�,��!� ��#���!��������%#!��������

::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::�

�

''�

,�-�#�
�,�����
���
�����
�������
-��	
����
���
�������$ 
�������
������
���H����+��

�������

,%-�C����,�������������
����������%����-��

,�-�"�
��,���������
�
�
���%�
�
����������%���������
�
����
����.���������
	������
��

����������������������-�

,�-� ���
���������������	���������
�
���	
���

,
-���
�
�
����������������

�������
�����������
��,�����
	
�
��$ �
�
�
������

������
����������%����������������	
�������������������������������������������

�
����������-�

,�-�"��
�����������	������,%�������������
�-����������	������,���	�����������
�
���
������

������-�$ �
���
�%�������
��	�
������������
����
������������
�$ ��
������
������
�������

��
�	
������
��	�
���

,�-�*�
�����
������
�
�����������
��	�������������
�%�����������������
�����


	%��	����

,�-�(�����%��������
��
������
��	���
	H����	���
	��.���
������
��%����
��������	���

����������

,�-����
�������	���
�������6���
���
���	���
�������������������������	�
���������

,.-���
�
�
�����%�
�
��������
��������	���

,+-�#�����������������
�����
��������
���������
�%����$ 
�
����
��
���

,�-�#���
��������%���������������
�%����������	
	%
�
����+
�
���4
�������������

�+
�
���4
���#��
�������������+
�
�����
	����������������
���������
���
�������
�


���	����������
���
������
�����
��
���������	���

,3-�$ ����	��������������	��
#������������?�

,�-�*�
��������������
��
�
��
������������%
����
�
���
�
�����������	���
������������

��
���	
�����
����%����
�����������
	
��
����
����
��������$ �
����
	
���
���
���

,%-�!
�������
���
����
�
�������
���	
�����
��������������%
��
	��
��������������
�����

�����
�%����%����
�	
������
��	�
���

,�-��������
�	����%�
�%�����
�����������
���
�������
�	�����������
�	
������
��	�
��������	�

���������������%
��������
�$ ��
����
����
���
��������������
���
$ ���%����
���	���������
�

����������

,�-�����	������%�����
����������
�
����������	
��������
��������	�����	
��������


	
��
������	��
���
���������%
��������$ �
�6�
������
��������
������
�

����
�
�������%
�$ 

��.���������
������

,
-�*�
���
������
���
�����������
����.���
���������%
�����	
�
����������������������

%��������	����$ ����
���
��$ �����������
���������
�
����
���
	����	�������
��$ ������

���������	���
�	�������������������

��������';7��������������������������������
,&-�*�
���
����
��	�����?�

EXHIBIT C 



'*+*��������!�	%��!���!�� ������������!�������"�#��!��� �

�%��1��!�,��!� ��#���!��������%#!��������

::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::�

�

';�

,�-�9 ��������������
����
����
������������
����������
�����
��������
��
������
�����


�+���	����	
������������%��	
�����
������

,%-�9 ��������������
�����
������������
����������
�����
�����
�+���	����	
���

�������
�����������������������
����
�+���	����	
�������������	���������������
�


���
	���
���

,2-�<
���
���
��
	����������
�����
������
��������%
���������������%��	����������
���������%
�


��	�
������%�����������
����������

,3-�!�.����������������%
�$ 
���
�������
��
�������
����%
���*�
��%�
�
�����.����������
��
�

�������%
�����	
�
��$ �
��
���
���*�
������������������������
�����
��������
���
�����

��
�����
�����
�����

,�-�<�
������%�
����
���
	����������
�����
���,�+������
��
%����%���
����������
�����
��	����%������

�
����-��������%
����
��
����������	������
���	�����

,:-�*�
������	��
���������%
�������
�����	���
���������	����%��
������
��+����������������
�


��	�����������������
��������
���
������

,�-�*�
�%����	���%
�����
��
����
���������
���������������
������
���������
�	
������
��	�
���

���������	���
�	���������������

��������'<7�8�
���
,&-�#���������
�������
�%��������������
����
�������
��

����
�������
���������
�������
�
��
����

������
���������%
�
��	�
�������.���
���%������������
���	��
�������*�
��+�������
�
���
	���
��

�������%
�
��	�
������

��
�������
�����������
��

,2-�*�
��%�
�
�����.����������
��	���������������������
�����
���������������%
�

����	
�
���

,3-�;������������
��	��������$ �������
��
������������	
�����
��������
	%����	������

��
�������������
�
����
����%.
������������$ 
���������	
���������.
����
����������%
�

�����4
������������������������
��������

�
���

,�-�@ �������������
�
���
����������
��$ �
��
���
�
������
	��
���������%
�����	
�
��%��

$ ����
�����������������	�������������������������������������%
���	���
�����������

����	
����
���������������
���������$ ������������
	������
��
������

,:-�@ ������������������
������
���
��	
����+
�
�����������
�����������%
��
����%
��$ ����

�������
������������������4�������������������%
�$ 

�%�����	�������������������.
����
�����

���������$ ������

,�-�����������������
����%
�
����$ �����
�����
����%���������������
���.���
�������+
�+���	���%
�

�����
����������
�
������������
������
��������������	����
�����
��
����������������������������

�����
��������������
�������������
�$ �������	���������
��������

,5-�����
�������%
�$ 

�
��
���������
����$ ������������%
�
���
�����	���
��
�����������

����
���������%
�����	�����
��%����
���������������
�����
��
���������$ ���������%�����

���
�������������
���
������
������������F�����������

,=-�"��	�������������	
�����������
������$ �������
��

,�-�<�����	�����$ �����

EXHIBIT C 



'*+*��������!�	%��!���!�� ������������!�������"�#��!��� �

�%��1��!�,��!� ��#���!��������%#!��������

::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::�

�

'<�

&�����������
����	����
���$ ����	
����
	
�����
��
����%�
������$ ������������

�
�����
�����
����4
������	������	��+�������%�����������������������
��������

���������
�������	�������
������
��������������%
�	
����
�����������
�
��

�%����������������������%
��
����%
������	�����	
���	��������
��
�����
������
�

%������
����$ �������
�$ ������������
���

2������
�
��$ �������������
�
���
����������
��������%
��
����%
����	��
��
�����

����������
�
��$ ���������	��
��
����
��	
����
	
��������
�����

�����������������
���
���������%
������
�
��������
	��

,%-����.
����
�������
���

�������$ �����

&��*�
������������
����
����
����$ ������������%
�����	
�
��%���	
����%����

�
���B����%��	
����
	
������	����
������	���������	��+������������
����������
�

�
������������
�����
�%����	������
��

��������
����������	����
��

2��@ ������������%
�����	
�
��%��	
����
����4
��������
�����������������

3��*�
���
�
�
�����%�
�
������������������%
��
����%
���������	
�
���

���#%���������������������%
��
����%
�����
�	����������������
�������		
�����

:��*�
�$ ����������������%
��
����%
������������
��	
�����	�.������������

�����
���

����
������
������
�����
����
��������$ ����������$ �����
��
������

������������	�������������������������
�����������������%������
���������

�
	���	�����������
	%�����

,�-��

���������	�����
�$ �����

&��*�
��������������
�����
����$ �����������%
��
����%
�����
�	���������������
�

���	�������������	��������	��+���

2��*�
��
���������������������
�	
����
����4
������
����������������������
�
�
�

����%�
�
�����%��������

3��*�
����
���������
�������
�����

�������$ �����������%
�����	
�
�����

�
����%
�����$ 
��������
���
������������
���

����
������
������
�������������
��

��������

,�-�����
������%���������$ �����

&��*�
����������������
����$ ������������%
�����	
�
���
�����
�����
����4
��

����	��������	��+���

2��*�
��
���������������������
�	
����
��������
���	
���������
�������

������������,���������������������
����
���
���-������
�
�
�����%�
�
����	�������

�%��������

3��*�
�
���	��
���
����������
����������
�$ ��������+��������%
��
����%
�������

$ ������
������������
���

����
������
������
�������������
�����������������

%������
������������
	���	����

���#�����
���	��
�����$ �������
�$ ��������+��������%
��
����%
����������������


���
����������
�����+��
�������
�
��
���

:����������������������������
�����

����
������
������
��������
�������������%
�

���
������
�
�������
��.�������������	��+����������

EXHIBIT C 



'*+*��������!�	%��!���!�� ������������!�������"�#��!��� �

�%��1��!�,��!� ��#���!��������%#!��������

::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::�

�

'=�

,
-�<����

&��<�����������%
��
����%
������������
����
��

�����
��
���
�����
����������%����

������
���
���

2��;
���
�������������������
�����
��������������
�������������
���������������

�������
������
��������%���������	���������������%
��
����%
�����������$ ���������

	�+
���
�����
������$ ������
�	����.�����%�������

,1-�2��
�����
������������
���	���� �	�
����	#� ������

,�-�;
���
������%���
������%��+������������%
�����	�����
��$ ������	
������������	
���

�����������	��
��

,%-�*�
��
���
���������
��
�
�����
���	��
����%������������������
���

,�-�;
���
�
��	�����
���������%
���
����
�������$ �������
��������������
�������������	�

$ �������
��$ 
�
��
���
�
�����������������%����
����%���
����	
����
	
����
�����
����

����	��������	��+���

,�-�;
���
�
��
���
�
��������%
����+��
�����%
�
����������	
�
��$ ��������������

�����������	�����������
�
��
������$ �
����
	
��������	
���%���������
���
�����
������

�
���
�
�����������
���
�
��������%
���
�
��������������+�������
�����
���
����$ �����

�
	��
�	��
��������
���
����������
��

���������	���
�	���������������

��������'=7������������������������
������
,&-�*����������

,�-�@ �
���
������	����
�������������������
����
����%�
����%�%��������������
����	���

���
���
�����	��������������������������
���
��	
�����������
��6������
����
�

������%�
����
�	
������
��	�
���������
����	��
������������
��
�������������

,%-������
��$ �
�
���
��
�
�
������%

���
��
�����������������������
���
�����%
�$ 

�

������	��
����
������.��������
�������
�	
������
��	�
����������	�����������
�������

��
������
��	
�����	���
����������������������	��
���
����
�����.�����

,�-�@ �
���
���
������
��
������������������������
�����������
�������������%
����
����

��
����
������
��	
��
��
�����
�����
��������
����
��������������
�%����������
�

��
�
������������
���	��
��

,2-�C ���������

,�-�*�
�
��
������������������
��	����������
��������
������
���������
�	
������
��	�
���

���������	���
�	�������������

EXHIBIT C 



� � � '>�

�� �����!��.���

��������'>7���B
�������������0����	�����

,&-�*����������
���������������������������
����������
����
���
�����
��
���$ ���
��
�������
�

�����
����������
��������������������
�������
��
��
����$ ���
���
���������
��������
��

������
������*����������
��������
��
������
�����������
6���
��%���
�����3=3�33�2,�-,%-��� ��

,2-�0������*�
�	
������
��	�
��	����%
���	������$ ������
������	����
���������
����������
������

���
���%���������������

�����
��%
�������
����������������	
����������
�������������������
�%
��

$ �������
������������
�	������
	��������������������4��������	���������$ ������
���

�	���%
�

�
�
�	�
��%���
���������
���������
�����������
�	
������
��	�
�����%������
����������

��	���������$ ������
���

�����
�	���%
����
��%����������
�
���	
�������
������	����
��������
��

$ ������
��������$ ��
��
����

,3-&�!�����*�
������������������
��
$ ����������
	�����������
��
�
�	�����������
�������
���
���

������������	
����������	��������������������
���������������	���������
��
��	
�������
���

�����������
������
���
�����
��������������
��
������������%��
��(�������
���
����������

�������������%
�	��
�$ ������
�(
����	
�����������
������	���� 
����
����������	�����������

�
����������%��
����
��
������������
�$ �������
���	���������	�����
�������

,�-���
������*�
��������������
��
�������������
����������
����������������
��
��
�����
����
��

����������
�������������������
���������������
������������������
���%����������
��������
�

���
�����������$ �����
����#��+
�
��������������
���������%
��
��
$ 
���������������
�

��������������+
��C ����������������
��������������
�	�.�������
����������
�����
�����
��
������

�������%�
����
��
�����
��
���<���
�����������
�����������������
���������%
��
����	
��$ �
�



�
���������	
�����
�����
�����
�����
���������
����#���������
������
�������������������%
�

��
�
��
���������������������������������4
��$ ����6������������$ �
�������
����

���������	���
�	�������������

EXHIBIT C 



� � '@�

����5!#!���� ��1!��������

��������'@7���������
,&-��
���
�������������
����
�������������
�	
������
��	�
������������
���������

�
�����������
�������������
��+������+�$ �
��
��
�������������������
6���
�������
����
�����

���
�� +������+�$ �
��
��
�������������������������%
��
����
����

,2-�*�
���
���
��
�������������$ ��+���������
�����������	
���������
�	
������
��	�
��������������

����
����
����22:���������	����:���*�
���$ 
����	��������������
�	���%
���.���
����$ $ �������

��
��	%
�������������
�	
������
��	�
�����������
��*�
����
����	��������
����
�	���%
�

�
	�������������
������
������	����
������	�����������������
�������������	
������
��	�
��

������������������
�������
��
�����	
���

,3-�����
�����������������������
���
�������������������������
�����������
���������

���������	���
�	���������������

��������'(7����	����,�
,&-���������
���
6���	
�����������
���������%
��������
��������
�$ ��+������

,2-�@ �
��
����
��
����
���
�������
����
���������������%
���+
��������	
�
���

����������������

��������'C7�������������������
����
,&-�����
��$ ����
�����
���
�������������
���
��������
�����������%
����
���%�
������
��������

,2-�8���������������������
������������	��������$ 
�������
����
����%���������$ ����
���

����
���
������������
�$ ���������
���������9 ����
���������������%
���	������$ �����
���������

������
���������(
����	
�����)�%���,	
������
��	�
���$ ���
���
���������
���
���
��%��

���������
�	
�-������
��
�
����9 �������������� ��
���#�	����������,	
������
��	�
���

��
��������
����������������������
�	
��-��

,3-�*�
�	
������
��	�
����������
�
����.�������������
����������
��
���
�����$ ���	������

	������%
���
�
����������������

���������������

EXHIBIT C 



� � � '(�

��.!����������������	%��!���!��

��������;*7��D��������������
,&-�@ �
�
���
���$ �������	���������
����
������������������
�
�'���
��
����
����
�����
�

	
������
��	�
��������	��
�
�����
������������
�������$ �������������������������

����
��
�����	�����
��%�����
�����
�	
����%�����
���������������%������
�����������
��
���
�������������

�

�

EXHIBIT C 



� � � � 'C�

 

���!"�
 

#���� ������������������������������������������������������������������������&��

#���	���������������
� ����������������������������������������������3�

#������
��

"��	������ �������������������������������������������������2&��22�

> �	%
���
��	
������
��	�
�����������������������������25�

 ��
����� �����������������������������������������������������������2&�

 �������
�����
����� ���������������������������������������������2&�

 ���
�������
���������	
 ���������������������������2��

@ ����
��	����������
�������� ������������������23�

<���
��������������������������������������������������������������������&5�

<��
�	��+�����������������������������������������������������������������&:�

<������������
�
��������������������������������������������������&=�

<���
�� ����������������������������������������������������������������������2:�

���������������������������������������������������������������������������&5�

�����
������
����� ������������������������������������������������&1�

�����
������������������������������������������������������������������&��

���
��������� �������������������������������������������������������:�

��
	������������� ���������������������������������������������������2�

(
�����
��������
 ��������������������������������������������������2��&&�

(
��	��������������
 �����������������������������������������&��

(
������� �������������������������������������������������������2��3��2&�

(>#���
��	
���������������������������������������������������������&��

"�����������
�������� ����������������������������������������������������5�

"���
�
�����
���� ��������������������������������������������������&:�

"��	���������%���������

 ���������������������������������&��

��������#�������������!
������"��	�
�� ��������������������

C �������� ������������������������������������������������������������&���2:�

C ������������
�'���
��
� ����������������������������������������������

��
��������� �������������������������������������������������������������1�

�	�
�����
����������������������������������������������������������=�

�6����������������������������������������������������������������������5��2��

7�%��
��������� �������������������������������������������������������25�

7�����������������������������������������������������������������������2��5�

)�%���(
����	
���������� ��������������������������������������25�

)���� �������������������������������������������������������������������������&��

!
�������
���
� �������������������������������������������������������22�

!����%������������������������������������������������������������������&5�

9 �������������� ��
���#�	����������,9  C#- ����25�

9 ����������
	
�������4��������������������������3�����:�

9 �����
�
��� �������������������������������������������������������&=�

�
�	��������������	������������������������������������3�����:�

�
���
� �����������������������������������������������������������������25�

����������� ������������������������������������������������������������&5�

������
��������������	
������
��	�
� �����������������������&2�

��
��������� ���������������������������������������������������������=�

9 ����������
	
��������������
�%�+�����������:����

;
���������������
�����
��������
��
� ������������������

 ��
�� �������������������������������������������������������������������25�

 �
��	
�����������������������������������������������������&��

*
�
���
����
� ����������������������������������������������������2�

8����������������������	 �������������������������������������25�

@ �������
���
�.���������� ���������������������������������2�

���.
����
� ����������������������������������������������������������������2:�

����
����
����% ��������������������������������������������������������25�

;��
�+�� ��������������������������������������������������������������������&:�

;
�����+

�����������������������������������������������������������&��

;
����� ��������������������������������������������������������&���&&��2&�

;
�
���� ������������������������������������������������������������������&1�

;
�
������������
������������
��	
�������������������&1�

;�����������������������������������������������������������������������������&��

 �

���
����������������������������������������������������&2��2��

 ���������������������������������������������������������������������������=�

 �
��	
���������������������������������������������������������&��

 ���������������
��
������
�������������������������������2=�

*
��������
��	
��������������������������������������������������&1�

*
�
���
����
� ��������������������������������������������������������2�

*�
���
������
���
��������������������������������������������������22�

*����
�����������
�
�������������������������������������������&=�

*����
�%�+������������������������������������������������������������3��:�

*�������������������������������������������������������������������&���2:�

*���
�
���
�
���������������������������������������������������������&:�

I��
����
��%���
� ���������������������������������������������1��&5�

8����������������� ����������������������������������������������������25�

@ ��+���� �����������������������������������������������������������������25�

@ ����
��	����������
�������� ����������������23��2��

 

EXHIBIT C 



EXHIBIT D 



EXHIBIT D 



EXHIBIT D 



EXHIBIT D 



EXHIBIT D 



EXHIBIT D 

bembry
Rectangle



EXHIBIT D 



EXHIBIT D 



EXHIBIT D 



EXHIBIT D 

bembry
Rectangle



EXHIBIT D 



EXHIBIT D 



EXHIBIT D 



EXHIBIT D 



EXHIBIT D 



EXHIBIT D 



EXHIBIT D 



EXHIBIT D 



EXHIBIT D 



EXHIBIT D 



EXHIBIT D 



EXHIBIT D 



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



EXHIBIT E



From: Nelson, Stephen
To: Koenig, Vickie
Subject: RE: District 1
Date: Wednesday, September 26, 2018 11:55:44 AM

Mr. Eddins,
 
 
I am writing on behalf of Dr. Andrea Minyard, District One Medical Examiner.  As you are aware, the
Medical Examiner’s contracts with the four counties of District One terminate by their own terms at
midnight on September 30, 2018.  Although Dr. Minyard’s appointment by the Governor actually
expired on June 30, 2018, she has continued to serve pending a new appointment (of her or
someone else) in order to fulfill her contracts with the counties. 
 
 
Although I have been told on multiple occasions that a multi-county contract had been circulated
among counsel for the four counties, no contract has been presented to the Medical Examiner.  Last
week, a letter proposing to pay $400,000 for a minimum of two medical examiners was received by
my office.  The letter suggests that this is a reasonable number given information that the counties
have collected; however, that information was not provided, and we are quite skeptical that any
credible information would indicate that this is a reasonable amount for a Board Certified Forensic
Pathologist serving as Chief Medical Examiner and one associate medical examiner, much less the
two needed in District One.  In fact, Dr. Minyard’s current associate is paid $200,000, and he is not
Board Certified.  Thus, it appears that Dr. Minyard will be closing the office of the Medical Examiner
at the end of her current contracts.  She will be notifying the law enforcement agencies that the
office will be closed on Monday,  and on Monday, we anticipate that she will notify them of her
resignation, which she expects to tender to you effective at midnight on Sunday in the event an
agreement is not reached on an extension of the current contract.
 
 
Our understanding is that you will be appointing an interim medical examiner.  There are a number
of issues that I don’t believe the counties yet understand about the medical examiner’s office which
any interim needs to know.  First, this is not a government office in which the interim will step in
with an office and employees.  As Dr. Minyard did when she was first appointed, the interim will
need to be prepared to front the expenses of the office pending collecting from the counties after
the end of the month.  Those expenses are predictable, and the budgets for operating expenses
have been submitted from which that information can be obtained.  The counties should provide
some assistance, but I find that unlikely given the positions taken to date.  Given the operating
budgets totaling in excess of $1.3 million, the interim needs to be prepared to front approximately
$200,000 in the first month and a half.  That assumes, of course, that the interim has similar staffing
and similar lease of office space, etc, as Dr. Minyard.  That also does not include any compensation
for the medical examiner or an associate.  Of course, much of Dr. Minyard’s staff will be looking for
employment soon.  She will keep some administrative staff for getting final bills out and the like, and
she will be negotiating with Sacred Heart concerning her current lease of space, which may then be
available.
 

mailto:VickieKoenig@fdle.state.fl.us


 
One of the first issues that will need to be determined is whether Sacred Heart will receive and hold
bodies in the interim, as well as how those bodies will be retrieved from crime scenes.  We regret
that this may likely fall to your office to deal with. 
 
 
You previously asked about the 50 or so murder cases in which Dr. Minyard performed the
autopsies.  Please be assured that Dr. Minyard will provide the necessary expert witness services to
your office without regard to whether she is the District One Medical Examiner. 
 
 
We deeply regret that we are at this juncture.  Dr. Minyard has enjoyed serving District One for the
past 14 years and, in particular, has enjoyed her relationship with your office during her tenure.  One
account that I have read indicates that there are 500 physicians with her qualifications in a country
that needs 1200, and that one of the primary reasons for the shortage is the politics that have to be
dealt with.  The timing of the political issues, while not coincidental, was such that they could not be
resolved by September 30.
 
 
I will be traveling the next couple of days, but my office can reach me if you need to speak about this
or any other topic.
 
 
Ted Borowski
 
 
 
T. A. Borowski, Jr.
 
Borowski & Traylor, P.A.
 
25 W. Cedar Street, Suite 525
 
P. O. Box 12651
 
Pensacola, Florida 32591-2651
 
(850) 429-2027
 
Fax (850) 429-7465
 
ted@borowski-traylor.com
 
www.borowski-traylor.com
 



-----
Stephen J. Nelson, M.A., M.D., F.C.A.P.
District Medical Examiner
10th Judicial Circuit of Florida
In & For Polk, Hardee and Highlands Counties
1021 Jim Keene Boulevard
Winter Haven, FL 33880-8010
863-298-4600  OFFICE
863-298-5264   FAX
863-687-1344   ANSWERING SERVICE (24/7/365)
 

From: Nelson, Stephen 
Sent: Wednesday, September 26, 2018 11:55 AM
To: 'Koenig, Vickie'
Subject: RE: District 1
 
 
Let me forward you a letter and then call me after you’ve read and digested it.
-----
Stephen J. Nelson, M.A., M.D., F.C.A.P.
District Medical Examiner
10th Judicial Circuit of Florida
In & For Polk, Hardee and Highlands Counties
1021 Jim Keene Boulevard
Winter Haven, FL 33880-8010
863-298-4600  OFFICE
863-298-5264   FAX
863-687-1344   ANSWERING SERVICE (24/7/365)
 

From: Koenig, Vickie [mailto:VickieKoenig@fdle.state.fl.us] 
Sent: Wednesday, September 26, 2018 11:54 AM
To: Nelson, Stephen
Subject: [EXTERNAL]: RE: District 1
 
I can … Jim is out of the country.  When would you like me to call you
 

From: Nelson, Stephen [mailto:StephenNelson@polk-county.net] 
Sent: Wednesday, September 26, 2018 11:51 AM
To: Koenig, Vickie; Martin, James
Subject: District 1
 
 
If you have time today can you and Jim give me a call?
-----
Stephen J. Nelson, M.A., M.D., F.C.A.P.
District Medical Examiner
10th Judicial Circuit of Florida
In & For Polk, Hardee and Highlands Counties



1021 Jim Keene Boulevard
Winter Haven, FL 33880-8010
863-298-4600  OFFICE
863-298-5264   FAX
863-687-1344   ANSWERING SERVICE (24/7/365)
 



From: Nelson, Stephen
To: Koenig, Vickie; Martin, James
Subject: Fwd: [EXTERNAL]: RE: District One Medical Examiner
Date: Wednesday, September 26, 2018 6:03:49 PM
Attachments: image004.png

image005.png
image006.png
image006.png
image006.png
image006.png
image006.png
image006.png

---
Stephen J. Nelson, MA, MD, FCAP
District Medical Examiner
< sent from my iPad >

Begin forwarded message:

From: Larry Ashley <lrashley@sheriff-okaloosa.org>
Date: September 26, 2018 at 5:55:14 PM EDT
To: "Bill E. Eddins" <beddins@osa1.org>, District1
<District1@co.escambia.fl.us>, "district2@santarosa.fl.gov"
<district2@santarosa.fl.gov>, "gfountain@myokaloosa.com"
<gfountain@myokaloosa.com>, "'chabill@co.walton.fl.us'"
<chabill@co.walton.fl.us>
Cc: "gstewart@myokaloosa.com" <gstewart@myokaloosa.com>,
"noysidney@co.walton.fl.us" <noysidney@co.walton.fl.us>, Roy Andrews
<RoyA@santarosa.fl.gov>, "Alison A. Rogers" <aarogers@co.escambia.fl.us>,
sheriff <sheriff@escambiaso.com>, "'madkinson@waltonso.org'"
<madkinson@waltonso.org>, "rjohnson@srso.net" <rjohnson@srso.net>,
"stephennelson@polk-county.net" <stephennelson@polk-county.net>, "'J.B.
Martin - Director' (jmartin@fldme.com)" <jmartin@fldme.com>
Subject: [EXTERNAL]: RE: District One Medical Examiner

Dear Mr. Eddins,
 
Thank you for this recent update. I certainly understand the logistical issues
presented in an abrupt departure of the district 1 Medical  Examiner. The
continued, yet temporary utilization of Dr. Minyard’s services at her current
contract price may be the solution, however, that is a question County
Commissioners will ultimately have to determine . I did however want to forward
 the correspondence, highlighted below, as a possible alternative in this
transition.  I’m not certain if your office or the Medical Examiners Commission

mailto:VickieKoenig@fdle.state.fl.us
mailto:JamesMartin@fdle.state.fl.us
mailto:lrashley@sheriff-okaloosa.org
mailto:beddins@osa1.org
mailto:District1@co.escambia.fl.us
mailto:district2@santarosa.fl.gov
mailto:district2@santarosa.fl.gov
mailto:gfountain@myokaloosa.com
mailto:gfountain@myokaloosa.com
mailto:chabill@co.walton.fl.us
mailto:chabill@co.walton.fl.us
mailto:gstewart@myokaloosa.com
mailto:gstewart@myokaloosa.com
mailto:noysidney@co.walton.fl.us
mailto:noysidney@co.walton.fl.us
mailto:RoyA@santarosa.fl.gov
mailto:aarogers@co.escambia.fl.us
mailto:sheriff@escambiaso.com
mailto:madkinson@waltonso.org
mailto:madkinson@waltonso.org
mailto:rjohnson@srso.net
mailto:rjohnson@srso.net
mailto:stephennelson@polk-county.net
mailto:stephennelson@polk-county.net
mailto:jmartin@fldme.com
mailto:jmartin@fldme.com










have already received this correspondence however it may be helpful if someone
from the Commission could reach out to this group and identify their capabilities
and willingness to serve in our area.   
 
Please know that our office stands ready to assist as needed during this transition.
 
 
 
Larry R. Ashley, Sheriff
Okaloosa County Sheriff's Office, HQ
50 Second Street
Shalimar, FL 32579
 
Office:      850-651-7410
Fax:          850-609-3048
E-mail:    sheriff@sheriff-okaloosa.org
 

    
 

<!--[if !vml]--> <!--[endif]--> <!--[if !vml]--> <!--[endif]--> <!--[if !vml]-->

<!--[endif]--> <!--[if !vml]--> <!--[endif]--> <!--[if !vml]--> <!--[endif]-->   <!--[if

!vml]--> <!--[endif]-->  
From: Craig and Sue Mallak [mailto:outlook_B6FA2B4EBE0B7549@outlook.com] 
Sent: Saturday, July 07, 2018 8:27 PM
To: sheriff <sheriff@sheriff-okaloosa.org>
Subject: Medical Examiner District 1
 
Sheriff Ashley: I was present at the last MEC meeting.  I currently serve as the Chief
Medical Examiner for Broward County.  I am also a retired Navy Captain who was in
charge  of the Armed Forces Medical Examiner System and by default the Medical
Examiner for the entire Federal Government.
 
My greatest accomplishment is that the team accounted for every fallen service
member in Iraq and Afghanistan.  That has never been done before in a major conflict.
 Not a single family has to wonder about what happened to their loved one. I have
found that they want answers, even if the answer is that their loved one is deceased.
 We also provided feedback to the field to healthcare providers. That has continued in
Broward.  The military Institute of Surgical Research credited us with saving over 2000
lives.      
 
I read with interest the death of one of your persons of service.  We have developed a
way to honor them, and of course take the case given the implications of PSOB and
State programs. We designed transfer cases to bring them to the office with a flag on

mailto:%20sheriff@sheriff-okaloosa.org
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=http-3A__www.sheriff-2Dokaloosa.org_&d=DwMFAg&c=j9YNQVTYIohH8cYE_3mLmw&r=SHT3Dkl04uGNXLhXtmVmTB68cDyXdA-RK1Adbl5MlcE&m=wyn0__ZLwVXvx8iQGEfgDy0_e5UvpZP5MtiyZutyxRY&s=4A7gsk_QLIsydmXKkuqwvoiLKTVh1imLM3pBv0wLWsU&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=http-3A__www.facebook.com_pages_Okaloosa-2DCounty-2DSheriffs-2DOffice_281642818653&d=DwMFAg&c=j9YNQVTYIohH8cYE_3mLmw&r=SHT3Dkl04uGNXLhXtmVmTB68cDyXdA-RK1Adbl5MlcE&m=wyn0__ZLwVXvx8iQGEfgDy0_e5UvpZP5MtiyZutyxRY&s=723_oI-bH0jVWJMUWtkJ7eg6OB3N22IDHhRXChKHCMw&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=http-3A__twitter.com_-23-21_OCSOALERTS&d=DwMFAg&c=j9YNQVTYIohH8cYE_3mLmw&r=SHT3Dkl04uGNXLhXtmVmTB68cDyXdA-RK1Adbl5MlcE&m=wyn0__ZLwVXvx8iQGEfgDy0_e5UvpZP5MtiyZutyxRY&s=56mnu_dLy8YwCQ6mqDRzSYpLEDaRxVhGPf0kKRDmzx4&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=http-3A__www.youtube.com_user_OkaloosaSheriff&d=DwMFAg&c=j9YNQVTYIohH8cYE_3mLmw&r=SHT3Dkl04uGNXLhXtmVmTB68cDyXdA-RK1Adbl5MlcE&m=wyn0__ZLwVXvx8iQGEfgDy0_e5UvpZP5MtiyZutyxRY&s=1eH9TleL8gaoICfWHrKjZbU257_9FKJDhN4nUzNjuqk&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=http-3A__local.nixle.com_okaloosa-2Dcounty-2Dsheriffs-2Doffice_&d=DwMFAg&c=j9YNQVTYIohH8cYE_3mLmw&r=SHT3Dkl04uGNXLhXtmVmTB68cDyXdA-RK1Adbl5MlcE&m=wyn0__ZLwVXvx8iQGEfgDy0_e5UvpZP5MtiyZutyxRY&s=tAV4Unk1uL24XCjVukCePwiK7LaqEJlc-3dZ0fvS1-Q&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=http-3A__www.sheriff-2Dokaloosa.org_&d=DwMFAg&c=j9YNQVTYIohH8cYE_3mLmw&r=SHT3Dkl04uGNXLhXtmVmTB68cDyXdA-RK1Adbl5MlcE&m=wyn0__ZLwVXvx8iQGEfgDy0_e5UvpZP5MtiyZutyxRY&s=4A7gsk_QLIsydmXKkuqwvoiLKTVh1imLM3pBv0wLWsU&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__www.facebook.com_OkaloosaSheriff&d=DwMFAg&c=j9YNQVTYIohH8cYE_3mLmw&r=SHT3Dkl04uGNXLhXtmVmTB68cDyXdA-RK1Adbl5MlcE&m=wyn0__ZLwVXvx8iQGEfgDy0_e5UvpZP5MtiyZutyxRY&s=o4XZZ3lRz_6IAxnXY4fFbH4siAOP-q7pJwqVaEw3yY0&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=http-3A__twitter.com_OCSOALERTS&d=DwMFAg&c=j9YNQVTYIohH8cYE_3mLmw&r=SHT3Dkl04uGNXLhXtmVmTB68cDyXdA-RK1Adbl5MlcE&m=wyn0__ZLwVXvx8iQGEfgDy0_e5UvpZP5MtiyZutyxRY&s=bb1wqAkiIjXgH4zGKXJO52HjFH64bcX9r3dZfkJPDDY&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__www.youtube.com_user_OkaloosaSheriff&d=DwMFAg&c=j9YNQVTYIohH8cYE_3mLmw&r=SHT3Dkl04uGNXLhXtmVmTB68cDyXdA-RK1Adbl5MlcE&m=wyn0__ZLwVXvx8iQGEfgDy0_e5UvpZP5MtiyZutyxRY&s=Amo37HJrbiBDFZK6MxjBGV6VccPYN3BCY3E242jDrug&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=http-3A__local.nixle.com_okaloosa-2Dcounty-2Dsheriffs-2Doffice_&d=DwMFAg&c=j9YNQVTYIohH8cYE_3mLmw&r=SHT3Dkl04uGNXLhXtmVmTB68cDyXdA-RK1Adbl5MlcE&m=wyn0__ZLwVXvx8iQGEfgDy0_e5UvpZP5MtiyZutyxRY&s=tAV4Unk1uL24XCjVukCePwiK7LaqEJlc-3dZ0fvS1-Q&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=http-3A__local.nixle.com_okaloosa-2Dcounty-2Dsheriffs-2Doffice_&d=DwMFAg&c=j9YNQVTYIohH8cYE_3mLmw&r=SHT3Dkl04uGNXLhXtmVmTB68cDyXdA-RK1Adbl5MlcE&m=wyn0__ZLwVXvx8iQGEfgDy0_e5UvpZP5MtiyZutyxRY&s=tAV4Unk1uL24XCjVukCePwiK7LaqEJlc-3dZ0fvS1-Q&e=
mailto:outlook_B6FA2B4EBE0B7549@outlook.com
mailto:sheriff@sheriff-okaloosa.org


the case.  The individual office decides the level of honor guard and escort. Both in and
out of the office. We call it a dignified transfer.  Families have even come  to the office
and it is the right thing to do.  The staff line up to pay proper respects as the fallen
depart the office  whether they be military or civilian.
 
In Broward I thought I had left the mass fatalities behind when I left the military.  But, I
was wrong.  In the last 18 months we have had a school shooting, a hurricane, a
nursing home disaster, and the largest, albeit only 5 deaths but for the families the
worst day of their lives, the deadliest airport shooting in US history.
 
As the two Navy Captains in in your district, we were taught how to run such
organizations, be transparent, and provide service the community and especially the
families of the fallen.   We are ready to serve your community, be part of the
community, educate, bring a level of service and dedication that only military officers
are trained and have the ability to do.
 
If I may, I would like to meet with you in the next couple of weeks about the future of
this district.  There are two retired Navy 0-6 Forensic Pathologists in District 1. That
incudes me as I am building a house in the area.  I have a cadre of other military
personnel who  are either retired or former US military who I am assembling to as
possible alternative to Dr. Minyard. I do not know what will happen with her future.
  Do not  get me wrong.  She is brilliant forensic pathologist.  But, our civilian
counterparts are not taught the finer points of politics, running organizations to
prevent even the perception of impropriety,  and meeting the needs of organizations
such as yours. On multiple occasions I have rolled into the office at midnight to do a
case at the request of a Sheriff or Chief of Police.
 
Thank you for your consideration in this matter.
 
 
Very Respectfully,
 
Craig Mallak, JD, MD
CAPT, MC, USN (ret)
 
Jerry Hodge, DO
CAPT, MC, FS (Flight surgeon), USN (ret)
 
 

From: Bill E. Eddins [mailto:beddins@osa1.org] 
Sent: Wednesday, September 26, 2018 3:45 PM
To: District1 <District1@co.escambia.fl.us>; district2@santarosa.fl.gov;
gfountain@myokaloosa.com; 'chabill@co.walton.fl.us' <chabill@co.walton.fl.us>
Cc: gstewart@myokaloosa.com; noysidney@co.walton.fl.us; Roy Andrews
<RoyA@santarosa.fl.gov>; Alison A. Rogers <aarogers@co.escambia.fl.us>; sheriff

mailto:beddins@osa1.org
mailto:District1@co.escambia.fl.us
mailto:district2@santarosa.fl.gov
mailto:gfountain@myokaloosa.com
mailto:chabill@co.walton.fl.us
mailto:chabill@co.walton.fl.us
mailto:gstewart@myokaloosa.com
mailto:noysidney@co.walton.fl.us
mailto:RoyA@santarosa.fl.gov
mailto:aarogers@co.escambia.fl.us


<sheriff@escambiaso.com>; Larry Ashley <lrashley@sheriff-okaloosa.org>;
'madkinson@waltonso.org' <madkinson@waltonso.org>; rjohnson@srso.net;
stephennelson@polk-county.net
Subject: District One Medical Examiner
 
Attached is an email from Ted Borowski, attorney for Dr. Andrea Minyard.  As
you can see from the email, Dr. Minyard plans to resign at midnight on Sunday,
September 30, 2018.
 
This will create turmoil for the criminal justice system.  In addition, there are
many other duties of the Medical Examiner’s Office that will not be provided to
the general public effective Monday, October 1, 2018.
 
You have the responsibility and authority to provide a Medical Examiner for the
First Circuit.  Please make immediate arrangements to do so.  Some of the
immediate needs for my office is to have a Medical Examiner available to
conduct autopsies where homicide is suspected.  In addition, arrangements
need to be made for body removal and body storage awaiting autopsy.  In
addition, in my opinion, it is necessary for a Medical Examiner or their staff to
be immediately available to respond to homicide scenes.  If no arrangements
are made, this service will end on September 30, 2018 at midnight.  Please
make immediate arrangements for these duties. 
 
Additionally, as a result of Dr. Minyard’s resignation, there will be no staff or
facilities available to provide any of the other services customarily provided by
the Medical Examiner’s Office.
 
The dispute between the counties and the Medical Examiner’s Office has been
ongoing for several months and needs to be resolved.  However, in view of the
turmoil, disruption and lack of services that will occur on October 1st, I request
that the counties immediately offer to continue payment of the Medical
Examiner under the terms and conditions that have been ongoing for many
years.  This is the only solution to this problem that I am aware of.  I make this
request for the time necessary to resolve the dispute or have an orderly
transition to another Medical Examiner.  
 
William Eddins
State Attorney
First Judicial Circuit
 
 
 

The Mission of the Okaloosa County Sheriff’s Office: “Ensuring fair and
equal administration of the law, safeguarding civil liberties and preserving
public safety; Doing so with professionalism and unity of purpose, while
being good stewards of the public’s trust."

mailto:sheriff@escambiaso.com
mailto:lrashley@sheriff-okaloosa.org
mailto:madkinson@waltonso.org
mailto:madkinson@waltonso.org
mailto:rjohnson@srso.net
mailto:stephennelson@polk-county.net


PLEASE NOTE:

This email may contain Law Enforcement Sensitive or Privileged Information, which is intended only for use by the
individual or entity to which the email is addressed. If you have received this email in error, please delete it
immediately. E-mail communications to or from Okaloosa County Sheriff’s Office employees are considered public
records and are available to the public and media upon request. Your e-mail communications with attachments,
including your email address, are subject to public disclosure.


















	Agenda
	August 2018 Meeting Minutes
	District 1 Probable Cause
	District 4 Probable Cause
	MEC Appointments
	DME Appointments and Reappointments
	District 24 Status
	District 7 Status
	Pregnancy Associated Mortality Review Follow Up
	District 1 Reappointment
	Surveys
	Excerpt from May 2018 Meeting Minutes
	District 1 Interim ME - SA Eddins Letter
	Audit of District 1 MEO
	Audit Cover Letter
	Title Page
	Table of Contents
	Management Response
	2018.6.28 TAB Letter to Embry
	Cremation Account Analysis
	Professional Services by County
	SR Resolution
	ESC Resolution
	OKA Resolution
	WAL Resolution

	IG Rebuttal 
	EXHIBIT A -Revenue flow chart 
	EXHIBIT B -  Advisory Legal Opinion - Medical Examiners, duties and responsibilities
	EXHIBIT C -  Florida Medical Examiner Practice Guidelines
	EXHIBIT D - Escambia County ME Contract FY 2018
	EXHIBIT E - ME Contract Okaloosa County

	Borowski Email to SA Eddins
	Sheriff Ashley Email Response to SA Eddins 09.26.2018
	SA Eddins Letter 10.23.2018
	SA Eddins Email to BOCC 09.26.2018




